
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Cabinet Advisory 
Panel A

A meeting of the above Panel will be held on 

Monday 23 January 2017

Councillor D E Hunnisett (Chairman) Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor S H Brown (Vice-Chairman) Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor L A Canham Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor P Cutler Councillor M I Peters
Councillor B Garden Councillor B E Read
Councillor J S Hawkes Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor B K Kaini Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor M B Kelly Councillor Mrs R L Shanks
Councillor R Lees Councillor D Swinerd

Cabinet
A meeting of the above will be held on 

Thursday 26 January 2017

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
(Chairman)

Councillor C J Shippam 
(Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE

Councillor P F Coleman Councillor K M Kelly Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

Both meetings will be held at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET ADVISORY PANEL A 
Monday 23 January 2017

CABINET
Thursday 26 January 2017

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director. 

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 8 December 
2016 (Pages 1 - 14)

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

5. To receive the Minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 23 
January 2017 
To follow 

6. References from Committees 
None at this stage. 

A - Strategies, Policies, Key Decisions, Consultations

7. Dartford Town Centre Transport and Public Realm 
Improvements (Pages 15 - 28)

SD (ES)

Summary:

1. This is a Key Decision as the Council will incur expenditure or 
savings beyond the threshold agreed by the Council.

2. This report sets out initial steps for carrying out physical 
improvements to the transport network and public realm in 
Dartford Town Centre.  Further reports will be brought to 
Cabinet in due course regarding design of the scheme, public 
consultation arrangements and a programme of works.



3. The background strategy, funding and policy framework to 
carry out the improvements around the town, initially focussing 
on the Market Street area are set out in this report.  It also sets 
out the proposed procurement route for the required 
consultancy and principles of agreements to work with Kent 
County Council to deliver the project.

Recommendations:

1. That the Managing Director in consultation with the Leader of 
the Council be granted delegated authority to agree the final 
brief for the design commission, in line with the general 
principles of the Draft Brief, at Appendix A to the report.  

2. That the Managing Director in consultation with the Leader of 
the Council be granted delegated authority to enter into 
funding agreements with Kent County Council and the Homes 
and Communities Agency, on terms to be agreed with the 
Head of Legal Services.

3. That the Managing Director in consultation with the Leader of 
the Council be granted delegated authority to enter into a 
Partnership Agreement with Kent County Council to undertake 
the project management, financial and technical aspects of the 
scheme, on terms to be agreed with the Head of Legal 
Services.

4. That an Officer Project Board be established between Kent 
County Council and Dartford Borough Council to manage and 
monitor the design consultancy and agree the financial, project 
management and technical aspects of the scheme. 

8. Consultation on Ebbsfleet Implementation Framework (Pages 29 
- 42)

SD (ES)

Summary:

1. This is a Key Decision as it is significant in terms of its effects 
on communities living or working in an area of the Borough 
comprising two or more wards.

2. This report is responding to the request by the Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation (EDC) to endorse the Ebbsfleet 
Implementation Framework as compliant with the Council’s 
policy framework (Local Plan) so that it can be used as a 
material consideration in EDC planning decisions. The report 
addresses the key issues that the Council previously raised on 
the draft Ebbsfleet Implementation Framework and the 
response from the EDC.



Recommendation:

That the EDC be advised:

1. That Dartford Council gives its support to the Ebbsfleet 
Implementation Framework dated November 2016 for 
providing clarity with regard to the integrated master 
planning of the whole of the EDC area.

2. That the Council endorses the Ebbsfleet Implementation 
Framework as guidance for pre-application discussions 
with developers and a material consideration in 
determining planning applications but with primacy given 
to Dartford’s Local Plan and Supplementary Planning 
Documents where there is a conflict between the 
documents and as a basis for the comprehensive 
identification of policy requirements.

3. That the Council considers there are some specific areas 
of non-compliance between the Ebbsfleet Implementation 
Framework and the Council’s planning policy framework, 
as set out in Table 1 and paragraph 3.16 of this report but 
will seek to assist the EDC in resolving these issues 
when proposals come forward.

4. That endorsement of the Ebbsfleet Implementation 
Framework does not imply acceptability of some of the 
proposals or information shown outside of the EDC area. 

9. Consultation on the Government's Proposal to Create a Social 
Housing Regulator as an Independent Body (Pages 43 - 46)

SD (ES)

Summary:

1. This report brings to Members’ attention the Government’s 
consultation paper on using a legislative reform order to 
establish the social housing regulator as an independent body.

2. This report summarises the proposals in the consultation 
paper and sets out the Council’s suggested response to the 
consultation.  

Recommendation:

That Cabinet approves the proposed response to the 
consultation, as set out in Appendix A to the report. 



10. Funding for Supported Housing - Consultation (Pages 47 - 52) SD (ES)
Summary:

This report draws to Members’ attention the Government’s 
consultation paper on the funding of supported housing and 
summarises the proposals in the consultation paper and sets 
out the Council’s suggested response to the consultation.  

Recommendations:

1. That Cabinet approves the proposed response to the 
consultation, as set out in Appendix A to the report.

2. That Cabinet agree to the sharing of the approved response 
with other Kent Authorities to provide a joint response to 
Government.   

B - Non-Key Decisions, Monitoring Reports

11. Proposal for Public Spaces Protection Order (Pages 53 - 86) SD (ES)
Summary:

1. This report sets out a proposal to implement Part 4, Section 59 
of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 to 
make a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO), to supress 
the growing incidents of crime and anti-social behaviour 
occurring principally during the night – time economy hours in 
Dartford Town Centre. 

2. This report also proposes that the existing Town Centre 
Designated Public Place Order is replaced by the PSPO. 
There no other relevant orders within the proposed area.

Recommendations:

1. That on being satisfied that the anti-social behaviour activities 
detailed in paras.3.15 and 3.16 of the report are having, or be 
likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those 
in the locality, are persistent or continuing nature and 
unreasonable, the Strategic Director (External Services) be 
authorised to commence the statutory consultation to enable 
the Council to make a Public Spaces Protection Order 
prohibiting anti-social behaviour associated with the 
consumption of alcohol, misuse of substances and associated 
vehicle nuisance on terms set out in Appendix A to the report 
to apply to specific areas of Dartford Town Centre as shown 
on the Map at Appendix B.



2. That, should recommendation 2.1 be approved, a second 
report be presented to Cabinet which takes into account the 
outcome of the consultation process with a view to seeking 
authority for the Head of Legal Services to make the Public 
Spaces Protection Order for a period of three years.

3. That it be noted that the extant Designated Public Place 
Protection Order will expire on the making of the Public 
Spaces Protection Order. 

12. Dartford Borough Council Code of Corporate Governance 2017 
(Pages 87 - 102)

SD (IS)

Summary:

To agree an updated Code of Corporate Governance and the 
arrangements for the preparation and approval of the Annual 
Governance Statement.

Recommendation:

That the Code of Corporate Governance 2017, attached as 
Appendix A to the report, be approved. 

13. Draft Local Lettings Plan for Hill View (Pages 103 - 108) SD (ES)
Summary:

This report seeks approval for a local lettings plan to be 
implemented for the Council’s new build housing  development 
at Hill View, Temple Hill.

Recommendation:

That the draft Local Lettings Plan attached at Appendix A to 
the report be approved. 

14. Calendar of Meetings of the General Assembly of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Boards (Pages 109 - 128)

SD (IS)

Summary

To seek Members’ views on the proposed calendar of 
meetings for 2017/18 and the provisional calendar for 2018/19.

Recommendation:

That the proposed calendar of meetings for 2017/18 and the 
provisional calendar of meetings for 2018/19 be submitted to 
the Annual Meeting of the Council. 



15. National Non-Domestic Discretionary Rate Relief 2017/18 (Pages 
129 - 146)

SD (IS)

Summary:

To consider granting discretionary rate relief to ratepayers who 
have made applications in respect of 2017/18.

Recommendations:

1. That the level of discretionary rate relief for 2017/18 for the 
organisations listed in Appendix A to the report be determined 
in accordance with the detailed recommendations set out in 
that Appendix.

2. That the amendments (as prescribed by legislation) to the 
Small Business Rate Relief scheme at Appendix B to the 
report, be effective from 1 April 2017.

3. That the changes to the criteria for granting discretionary rural 
rate relief as outlined in paragraphs 3.7 to 3.9 of this report 
and as detailed in Appendix C to the report, be approved. 

16. Write-off of National Non-Domestic Rates (Pages 147 - 152) SD (IS)
Summary:

To consider writing-off Non Domestic Rate debts where it has 
not been possible to obtain payment because of insolvency, 
because the ratepayer cannot be traced or where the debt is 
otherwise irrecoverable.

Recommendation:

That the sums shown on Appendix A in the confidential part of 
the report, amounting to £123,044.38, be written off as 
uncollectible. 

17. Housing Benefit Overpayment Write-off (Pages 153 - 156) SD (IS)
Summary:

To consider the write-off of a Housing Benefit overpayment 
where recovery is prohibited, is not considered appropriate or 
where the customer has absconded.

Recommendation:

That the sum of £17,864.60, shown in Appendix A to the report 



on the closed part of the agenda, be written off as 
irrecoverable. 

18. Appointment of 4th Independent Member to the Deed, Trust and 
Obligations Committee (Pages 157 - 158)

SD (IS)

Summary:

To inform the Cabinet of the outcome of the interviews for the 
appointment of a 4th Independent Member to the Deed, Trust 
and Obligations Committee to replace Mrs Elissia Evans, and 
to seek approval to the appointment of Mr A. R. Martin as 
detailed in the report.

Recommendation:

That the appointment of a 4th Independent Member (voting co-
optee) to the Deed, Trust and Obligations Committee 
recommended by the interview panel held on 4 January 2017, 
be approved, for an initial period of one year and subsequently 
confirmed annually at the Annual Meeting. 

19. Street Naming and Numbering - Northfleet West Sub Station - 
Phase 1C (Pages 159 - 162)

SD (IS)

Summary:

To approve two new road names for Phase 1C of the 
development at the former Northfleet West Sub Station site.

Recommendation:

That the two new road names of Mortimer and Talbot be 
approved for Phase 1C of the Northfleet West Sub Station site. 

C - Items for Information, noting, endorsing

No items for consideration.

Exclusion of the Press and Public

TO RESOLVE: That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended), the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information.



D - Items for Consideration in Private

Confidential Appendices

A. Write-off of National Non-Domestic Rates - Exempt Appendix A
(Exempt Category SO 46 (1) (b) Annex 1 Paragraph 3) (Pages 163 
- 164)

SD (IS)

B. Housing Benefit Overpayment Write-off - Exempt Appendix A
(Exempt Category SO 46 (1) (b) Annex 1 Paragraphs 1 & 3) 
(Pages 165 - 166)

SD (IS)



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 8 December 2016 at 7.00 
pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

70. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence.

71. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

72. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 27 
OCTOBER 2016 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 27 October 2016 be 
confirmed.

73. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

74. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 5 DECEMBER 2016 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 5 
December 2016 and took note of the Panel’s views throughout the meeting.

75. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES 

There were no references from other committees.

76. CHANGE IN ORDER OF AGENDA 

The Chairman proposed that the item relating to the Community Infrastructure 
Levy Annual Report be taken next on the agenda.



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 DECEMBER 2016

2

RESOLVED:

That the item relating to the Community Infrastructure Levy Annual Report be 
taken as the next item.

77. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 
- 1ST APRIL 2015 TO 31ST MARCH 2016 

As a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging authority the Council is 
required to publish an annual monitoring report for the preceding financial 
year. CIL Regulations require a variety of information to be published. As the 
Dartford CIL had been operating for a relatively short period, a limited amount 
of information had been provided in the report for the period April 2015 to 
March 2016.  Members were asked to endorse the CIL monitoring report prior 
to publication.

The Head of Regeneration described how developers were required to pay a 
levy at the commencement of a new development as a contribution towards 
infrastructure to support new development in the Borough. She noted that 
over £600k had been received in the financial year 2015/16 and anticipated 
that the amounts being received would continue to increase. She said that the 
funds received to date had yet to be allocated to a particular project but noted 
how a proportion had been distributed to local Parish and Town Councils as 
required by the scheme. She advised that a mechanism for agreeing 
infrastructure priorities was being developed, and that this would involve 
Members as proposed uses for the funding are considered and Cabinet’s 
approval would also be sought.

Members referred to the proportion that is passed to local Parish/Town 
Councils and asked for reassurance that they were aware that they may be 
required to contribute some of their share towards larger infrastructure 
improvement projects that are proposed for their area in order that they may 
be delivered. The Head of Regeneration replied that there were no formal 
mechanisms in place to do this as yet but said that potential requirements for 
contributions were being discussed with the Parish/Town Councils concerned 
and these discussions would be continued. During further discussion she also 
advised that a number of major infrastructure improvements had been 
identified but noted that CIL would not be able to fund them all.

In response to a question the Head of Regeneration confirmed that future 
reports could include a breakdown of the amounts that were being made 
available to each Parish/Town Council.

With respect to the payments that are made to Parish/Town Councils 
Members felt that the public would be interested in the way that this funding is 
being made available for local use and suggested that the amounts being 
provided should be publicised

Members referred to the provision of additional GP and health facilities to 
support future population growth and asked whether it was anticipated that 



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 DECEMBER 2016

3

the (Clinical Commissioning Group) CCG would be contributing towards the 
costs involved. The Head of Regeneration replied that the CCG had applied 
for Central Government funding and it was hoped that they would be 
contributing toward the provision of a new hub. She also noted that the 
Eastern Quarry development S106 agreement would provide a new surgery 
on a rental basis, but noted the potential difficulties that could arise because 
GPs surgeries were run as private businesses and they often prefer freehold 
premises. She also noted however, that discussions were taking place with 
the CCG to determine the most appropriate way to support GP provision 
through developer contributions.

RESOLVED:

That the Council’s CIL Monitoring Report April 1st 2015 to 31st March 2016, 
attached at Appendix A to the report, be endorsed for publication.

78. EXCEPTIONAL HARDSHIP SCHEME FOR COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION 

This report presented the Exceptional Hardship Policy for Member approval, 
to be introduced alongside the changes proposed to the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) explained how this Policy had been 
developed following a review of the new ‘Local Scheme of Support for Council 
Tax’ and said that it would be presented to the General Assembly of the 
Council for adoption on the 12 December 2016. She then noted how it would 
only apply to those experiencing exceptional hardship and said that the HERO 
(Housing, Energy and Retraining Options) team would also be available to 
provide advice to those experiencing financial problems.

Members referred to the discussion that had taken place at the Cabinet 
Advisory Panel and the reference that had been made to the use of the term 
‘lifestyle’ in the Policy. They noted how the Policy would only apply to extreme 
cases and felt that it would therefore be necessary to assess a family’s 
spending habits in some detail in order that an accurate assessment may be 
made. They therefore agreed that ‘lifestyle’ was the correct description to use 
under these circumstances.

The Managing Director described how it was important to have a defined 
process in order that challenges to any decisions that are made may be 
defended.

Members discussed how areas of spending which are considered essential 
may differ between families and noted how each application, and the 
particular requirements of the associated family, would be assessed on a 
case by case basis. They also noted how funds would only be made available 
to those whose hardship is considered to be exceptional and confirmed their 
support for the introduction of this Policy.



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 DECEMBER 2016

4

RESOLVED:

That the following recommendation to the General Assembly of the Council be 
approved:

That the Exceptional Hardship Policy shown at Appendix A to the 
report be approved and adopted alongside the changes proposed to 
the Council Tax Reduction Scheme.

79. RISK BASED VERIFICATION FOR THE ADMINISTRATION OF HOUSING 
BENEFIT AND COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION 

This report advised Cabinet of the new approach to be taken in respect of 
verifying new claims and changes in circumstances for Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax Reduction.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) advised that the same verification 
procedure is currently used for all new claims and changes in circumstances 
and said that this new technology driven risk based verification procedure 
would result in improved efficiency when making assessments. She explained 
how claims would be classified as low, medium or high risk, with low risk 
cases only requiring essential checks to be made, medium risk cases 
requiring the same level of checks as are currently in place, and high risk 
cases, where fraud is more likely, requiring enhanced verification.

In response to a question the Strategic Director (Internal Services) confirmed 
that the value of a claim was one of a range of factors that would be taken into 
account by the software when assessing risk.

RESOLVED:

That the Risk Based Verification Policy, attached as Exempt Appendix A to 
the report, be approved.

80. CIVIL PENALTIES FOR COUNCIL TAX, COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION AND 
HOUSING BENEFIT 

This report advised Cabinet of the recommended approach to be taken where 
a customer who, without reasonable excuse, supplies incorrect information or 
fails to notify the Council of a change in their circumstances relating to Council 
Tax liability, Council Tax discounts and exemptions, Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax Reduction. It also proposed a revised Sanctions and Prosecution 
Policy for proven cases of Council Tax fraud and Council Tax Reduction 
fraud.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) explained how the statutory powers 
to impose these penalties already existed and said that Members were being 
asked to approve their introduction and use. She said that these measures, 
together with the revised Sanctions and Prosecution Policy, would help to 



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 DECEMBER 2016

5

protect the public purse and continue the Council’s zero tolerance approach 
towards those who refuse to abide by the rules.

In response to a question the Strategic Director (Internal Services) advised 
that the penalties would be applied to those cases where someone has 
wilfully failed to advise the Council of changes to their circumstances, or has 
supplied false information.

RESOLVED:

That the civil penalties and the associated guidelines, detailed at Appendix A 
to the report, be introduced, and the proposed revised Sanctions and 
Prosecution Policy, detailed at Appendix B to the report, be approved.

81. LAND AT STONE LODGE 

This report advised that the Secretary of State for the Department of 
Communities and Local Government was keen to purchase no less than 15 
acres of land at Stone Lodge for a new 8 form entry secondary school and 
sought authority inter alia, to dispose of the land at less than best 
consideration.

The Chairman noted how the area of land at Stone Lodge had a number of 
planning possibilities and that, as part of their pledge to residents, the Council 
was considering an offer from the Education Funding Agency (EfA), which 
would enable part of the site to be used for a new secondary school. He noted 
how land valuations can vary depending on the proposed use and the valuer 
concerned, but said that he felt that acceptance of this offer would be right for 
the area and deliver the much needed secondary education facilities that were 
required. 

In response to a question the Managing Director said that he was unable to 
confirm whether the new school would be single sex or not as an associated 
Trust had yet to be appointed and it would be for the Trust, as the client, to 
decide how the school would be designed and run. Having noted that a Trust 
was to be appointed the Chairman advised that those Members who had 
involvement with school Trusts would not be required to declare a prejudicial 
interest as this report only focused on the decisions that were required to 
deliver a building that would house a school.

The Managing Director talked Members through the plan that had been 
attached at Appendix B to the report and said that the area indicated, and 
valued, for the school site consisted of 16.8 acres. He then noted how the 
boundaries might be subject to change as design work progresses but 
confirmed that the area that would be allocated for the school would not be 
less than 15 acres. He also advised that a shared entrance to both the school 
and housing development sites may be created to help with the management 
of traffic flow. It was also noted that the area specified for housing included 
sloped areas which, together with other constraints on the site, might mean 



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 DECEMBER 2016

6

that the boundaries for the other areas identified on the map may be subject 
to change.

Members noted the discussion that had taken place at the Advisory Panel 
relating to the leverage that the Council may have had due to the urgent need 
for additional educational facilities in the area and were advised that this had 
been raised during negotiations. However, it was also understood that the EfA 
could cease negotiations and use other strategies to meet the local 
educational need if the Council continued to strive for more income from the 
site. They felt that it was morally and socially right for the Council to continue 
with the supply of the land to the EfA under the terms that were being 
proposed as this was an ideal purpose for the land, and was the best location 
for a school when compared with the locations of other schools in the area.

Members also noted the intention for the associated payment to the Council to 
be made at the outline planning permission rather than the detailed planning 
permission stage and welcomed the advantages that this would offer.

In response to a question the Managing Director replied that comments had 
been returned on the draft Heads of Terms that had been provided by the 
EfA. He also advised that the payment of funds at outline permission stage 
still required agreement from two other parties.

Members discussed the EfA’s appropriation of the land and asked that, if 
possible, measures be put in place to ensure that it is used to provide a new 
school and not be sold on for profit at a later date. Members also referred to 
the power lines and pipelines that crossed the site and noted how expensive it 
can be to relocate such features.

Members also referred to the development of housing on part of the overall 
site and suggested that the provision of more social housing could be 
considered.

Members concluded by again expressing their support for the delivery of a 
new school on the site and endorsed the report’s recommendations.

RESOLVED:

1. That, having considered the Council’s Consultant Valuer’s report in 
confidential Appendix A to the report, no less than 15 acres of land at 
Stone Lodge (as shown on the plan at Appendix B to the report) be 
disposed of to the Secretary of State for the Department of 
Communities and Local Government for a new 8 form entry secondary 
school, at potentially less than best consideration, on the terms set out 
in confidential Appendix A to the report.

2. That the Managing Director be granted delegated authority to agree the 
exact size of the land take for the new 8 form entry secondary school.



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 DECEMBER 2016

7

3. That a report on the appropriation of the land at Stone Lodge for 
planning purposes be presented to a future Cabinet meeting.

4. That the Managing Director, in consultation with the Head of Legal 
Services, be authorised to finalise the Heads of Terms and complete 
the transaction.

82. ACACIA - HERITAGE AND REGENERATION 

This report set out the background to the Acacia Hall site and the need to 
redevelop it. It also requested an increase to the capital budget to meet the 
estimated costs, and subject to budgetary approval, authority to apply for the 
relevant consents. Public consultation on the redevelopment proposals was 
also proposed.

The Chairman welcomed proposals outlined in the report and noted how they 
would result in the removal of a number of ugly buildings on the site and open 
up the area around the iconic Grade II listed Mansion House building allowing 
it to be incorporated into Central Park. He also referred to the work that was 
planned for other areas of the site and the fact that more recreational and car 
parking space would be provided and that other historic buildings on the site 
would also be refurbished.

The Chairman also expressed his support for the proposed new entrance in 
Market Street and noted that the Cabinet Advisory Panel had been advised 
that, although the public conveniences adjacent to the Dartford Museum 
would be closed, new facilities were available in the nearby newly refurbished 
library. He then added that the spending that had been estimated would 
deliver improvements to the whole site and that the work to be carried out on 
this heritage area would be of high quality and deliver value for money. He 
expressed pride in the way that this development would provide facilities for 
the future and noted how this continued the Council’s approach of delivering 
improvements to facilities on areas of Council owned land.

The Managing Director then noted how the sports changing rooms currently 
sited in the Coach House would be modernised and relocated so that they 
were nearer to the sports pitches. He also advised that the Environment 
Agency and its partners were looking to soften the banks of the river and carry 
out dredging work which, together with the removal of a weir, would improve 
its flow. He then highlighted the traffic flow improvements that would be 
delivered by the design changes to the car park.

Members then referred to the building that had previously been used as a 
sports hall and hoped that the hospitality bids that would be received for its 
use would enable it to be refurbished and, together with the surrounding 
green space, be used to host events for large numbers of people.

Members voiced their full support for the proposed works and, having noted 
the concept images contained in the report, the enhanced views of the 
previously hidden Mansion House building that would be delivered. They also 



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 DECEMBER 2016

8

welcomed the intention to provide another access to the car parking facilities 
and hoped that the project would be as successful as those that had been 
completed at other Council owned locations.

RESOLVED:

1. That the proposals for the redevelopment of the Acacia site be subject 
to public consultation and any representations received be reported 
back to the Council’s Cabinet for consideration.

2. That authority be granted to the Strategic Director (Internal Services) to 
apply for planning and any other statutory consents, for the proposed 
redevelopment works. 

3. That the Strategic Director (Internal Services) be delegated to tender 
the Acacia Hall leisure venue contract on terms agreed with the 
Managing Director in consultation with the chairman of Cabinet and the 
results of the process be reported back to Cabinet.

83. NEW COUNCIL HOUSE BUILDING PROJECT UPDATE 

This report provided an update on progress made towards construction of the 
second phase of the Council’s new build HRA housing project.

The Chairman referred to a visit that he had made to the new houses that had 
been built at Hill View and praised their design and the quality of the build.

Members then discussed the further projects that are planned for the area and 
expressed sadness at the controversy that had been caused by the Council’s 
decision to build on a ‘green area’ in Temple Hill but noted that other ‘green 
areas’ such as Central Park were only a short walk away. They also noted 
how housing for social tenants was desperately needed and emphasised their 
commitment to the continued delivery of further Council housing. They also 
highlighted the improvements that would be made to the lives of those who 
are allocated one of the new homes being built and said that care would be 
taken when assessing a tenant’s suitability for the new housing.

RESOLVED:

1. That the contents of the report be noted.

2. That delegated authority be given to the Managing Director, in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Frontline Services, Customer 
Champion and Housing, to award contracts to the successful 
tenderer(s) for the construction phase of the projects detailed in the 
report.



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 DECEMBER 2016

9

84. FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS TO PARISH AND TOWN COUNCILS 

This report asked Members to agree the level of financial contributions to be 
paid to parish and town councils in 2017/18.

RESOLVED:

1. That, subject to resolution 2 below, the Council, under the provisions of 
Section 136 of the Local Government Act 1972, make the following 
contributions towards the expenses of parish and town councils’ 
concurrent functions in 2017/18:

£
Bean 1,555
Darenth 3,416
Longfield 2,859
Stone 9,688
Sutton at Hone and Hawley 4,090
Swanscombe and Greenhithe 12,695
Wilmington 6,197

2. That the contributions be made subject to the parish and town councils 
submitting suitably analysed details of estimated net expenditure for 
the ensuing year by 31 January each year, and actual net expenditure 
for the preceding year no later than six months after the end of each 
financial year, in a format prescribed by the Council.

3. That the payments be made in two equal instalments; the first on 30 
April (or next working day) and the second, the latter of 30 September 
(or next working day) or seven days following receipt of the parish or 
town councils’ 2016/17 accounts, certified as correct by the clerk.

4. That the Council continue to operate the Capacity Building Fund and 
make a contribution of £45,000 into the fund in 2017/18.

5. That the Managing Director, in consultation with the Leader and Deputy 
Leader of the Council, be granted delegated authority to agree the 
Capacity Building Fund bidding criteria and approval of the funds 
through a grants panel process.

6. That the Council make the following contributions to parish and town 
councils to compensate for lost council tax income in local areas for the 
introduction of the council tax support scheme:

£
Bean 779



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 DECEMBER 2016

10

Darenth 4,487
Longfield 1,473
Southfleet 463
Stone 16,385
Sutton at Hone and Hawley 4,055
Swanscombe and Greenhithe 33,688
Wilmington 3,074

85. COLLECTIVE SWITCHING SCHEME - ENERGY DEAL 

This report provided information relating to Energy Deal, the Collective 
Switching Scheme developed in Kent, and requested Cabinet’s approval to 
continue involvement in the project

Members referred to the positive comments that had been received from 
those residents who had made significant savings by taking part in the 
scheme.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the report be noted and the proposal to continue to 
participate in the Collective Switching Campaign in Dartford in partnership 
with other Kent Local Authorities be agreed.

86. STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING - EMPIRE PAPER MILLS SPORTS 
GROUND 

This report asked Members to approve three new road names for the 
development at the Empire Paper Mills Sports Ground.

Members endorsed the road names that had been proposed in the report.

RESOLVED:

That Norton, Parkwood and Peacock be approved as the new road names 
for the development at the Empire Paper Mills Sports Ground.

87. MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 
20 SEPTEMBER 2016 

This report presented to Cabinet the minutes of the meeting of the Policy 
Overview Committee held on 20 September 2016.



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 DECEMBER 2016

11

RESOLVED:

1. That the minutes of the Policy Overview Committee meeting held on 20 
September 2016 be noted.

2. That an additional ‘Environment and Sustainability’ performance 
indicator be added to those already being used to track the Council’s 
performance, in order that the percentage of Dartford’s waste being 
sent to landfill may be monitored.

88. REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2016/17 - PROJECTED OUTTURN AND 
2017/18 BUDGET PROCESS 

This report notified Members of the Projected Outturn on the General Fund 
and the Housing Revenue Account, with the reasons for significant variances. 
It also informed Members of, and sought approval for, the budget setting 
process for 2017/18.

Members noted the additional detail that had been requested at the Cabinet 
Advisory Panel together with the suggested ways of discouraging fly tipping in 
the Borough.

RESOLVED:

1. That the projected outturn position for the General Fund and the 
Housing Revenue Account be noted.

2. That delegated authority be granted to the Managing Director to 
determine and publish the 2017/18 draft budget, in consultation with 
the Leader and the Finance Portfolio Holder, prior to the budget being 
presented to the General Assembly of the Council for approval in 
February 2017.

89. CAPITAL PROGRAMME BUDGET MONITORING 2016/17 - PROGRESS 
AND PROJECTED OUTTURN 

This report informed Cabinet of the progress to date on the projects which 
make up the approved Capital Budget and reported the latest position on 
capital resources.

Members welcomed the effective use that was being made of the funds 
contained within both the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account 
budgets.

RESOLVED:

That the progress made to date on the 2016/17 Capital Programme be noted.



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 DECEMBER 2016

12

90. CORPORATE PLAN - PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

This report provided the latest set of Corporate Plan performance indicators 
for quarter 2 of 2016-17.

The Chairman questioned the effectiveness of the report and associated 
monitoring process and felt that the Council’s performance record could be 
better tracked and displayed on a dashboard.

The Managing Director advised that the format of the Corporate Plan was 
being changed and said that this would also involve a review of the 
associated targets. He said that all Members would be invited to contribute to 
the process of identifying the targets which would be of most use to Members.

RESOLVED:

That the progress made to date on the 2016/17 Capital Programme be noted.

91. DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS 
REPORT 2015 - 2016 

This report set out the Council’s Greenhouse Gas Emissions Report for 2015 
– 2016 and the progress made by the Council in reducing Greenhouse Gas 
emissions

RESOLVED:

That the content of the Greenhouse Gas emissions Report 2015 – 2016 be 
noted.

92. RISK BASED VERIFICATION FOR THE ADMINISTRATION OF HOUSING 
BENEFIT AND COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION - EXEMPT APPENDIX A
(EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46 (1) (B) ANNEX 1 PARAGRAPH 7) 

RESOLVED:

That, following discussion of the main report (minute 79), the appendix be 
noted.

93. LAND AT STONE LODGE - EXEMPT APPENDIX A
(EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46 (1) (B) ANNEX 1 PARAGRAPH 3) 

RESOLVED:

That, following discussion of the main report (minute 81), the appendix be 
noted.



CABINET
THURSDAY 8 DECEMBER 2016

13

94. NEW COUNCIL HOUSE BUILDING PROJECT UPDATE - EXEMPT 
APPENDIX A
(EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46 (1) (B) ANNEX 1 PARAGRAPH 3) 

RESOLVED:

That, following discussion of the main report (minute 83), the appendix be 
noted.

The meeting closed at 8.25 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN





                           
CABINET

26 JANUARY 2017

DARTFORD TOWN CENTRE TRANSPORT AND PUBLIC REALM 
IMPROVEMENTS

Town, Princes and Brent Wards

1. Summary

1.1 This is a Key Decision as the Council will incur expenditure or savings beyond 
the threshold agreed by the Council.

1.2 This report sets out initial steps for carrying out physical improvements to the 
transport network and public realm in Dartford Town Centre.  Further reports 
will be brought to Cabinet in due course regarding design of the scheme, public 
consultation arrangements and a programme of works.

1.3 The background strategy, funding and policy framework to carry out the 
improvements around the town, initially focussing on the Market Street area 
are set out in this report.  It also sets out the proposed procurement route for 
the required consultancy and principles of agreements to work with Kent 
County Council to deliver the project.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS:

2.1 That the Managing Director in consultation with the Leader of the Council be 
granted delegated authority to agree the final brief for the design commission, 
in line with the general principles of the Draft Brief, at Appendix A to the report.  

2.2 That the Managing Director in consultation with the Leader of the Council be 
granted delegated authority to enter into funding agreements with Kent County 
Council and the Homes and Communities Agency, on terms to be agreed with 
the Head of Legal Services.

2.3    That the Managing Director in consultation with the Leader of the Council be 
granted delegated authority to enter into a Partnership Agreement with Kent 
County Council to undertake the project management, financial and technical 
aspects of the scheme, on terms to be agreed with the Head of Legal 
Services.

2.4 That an Officer Project Board be established between Kent County Council 
and Dartford Borough Council to manage and monitor the design consultancy 
and agree the financial, project management and technical aspects of the 
scheme.

3. Background and Discussion

Funding

3.1. Funding for transport improvements in Dartford Town Centre to 
support the increased level of development have been identified 



                           
CABINET

26 JANUARY 2017

through the Kent Thameside Strategic Transport Programme (STP). 
The funding and programme timetable was approved by Cabinet 
(5 March 2015 Min. No. 117). Since then, an increased level of 
funding to the sum of £7.7M has been agreed through the STP 
Steering Group. This will be reported to Cabinet for formal approval 
at the 9 March 2017 meeting.  Funding for the STP is through a 
combination of public sector grant and private sector developer 
contributions.

3.2. A bid for additional funding of £4.3M through the Local Growth Fund 
(LGF) is currently awaiting confirmation from government.  The bid 
was selected as the top priority on the list of South East Local 
Enterprise Partnership submissions to government.  An overall sum 
of money has been agreed in principle and confirmation is awaited 
that this scheme is specifically agreed for funding. If approved, this 
will result in a total of £12M funding for the project over several years.  
The initial project can go forward irrespective of whether the LGF 
funding is achieved.  

3.3. Commissioning of the scheme design is programmed to commence 
in April 2017.  Procurement of the design consultancy is subject to 
GAC agreeing the budget (27 February 2017) and funding being 
provided by KCC through the STP programme.

Scheme Design

3.4. A draft Brief has been prepared (Appendix A) setting out the 
requirements for development of the proposals.  The transport 
improvement scheme is to be designed as a comprehensive and 
integrated network, covering movement of cars, buses, pedestrians 
and cyclists.  This is to be integrated with a new streetscape to 
support the revitalisation of Dartford Town Centre.  

3.5. With significant new residential development coming forward in and 
around the town centre, emphasis is to be placed on provision of safe 
and attractive walking and cycling routes, so as to encourage new 
and existing residents living close by to walk or cycle into the town.

3.6. The project is proposed to deliver varying levels of output. These are:

 Design of an overall movement network and new streetscape, 
including recommendations for road layout; identifying key 
pedestrian and cycle routes through the town with measures for 
traffic calming/pedestrian priority where appropriate.

 Agreed (phased) outline designs for key junctions ready for 
detailed design as funds get released/become available.

 Detailed design of Market Street highway and public realm, 
leading to full approval and followed by construction

 Public consultation on the proposals in due course



                           
CABINET

26 JANUARY 2017

3.7. The design of an overall movement framework for the town centre will 
enable individual projects to be brought forward in accordance with 
the overall objectives and design criteria of the scheme.  It is 
envisaged that the overall framework will consider the key entry 
points into the town centre and how these can be improved, as well 
as the movement routes within the ring road, which forms the heart of 
the shopping area.  

3.8. At this stage, the capital costs of individual projects within the overall 
scheme are unknown but will be defined through the consultancy 
work. Projects will be progressed as funding becomes available.  As 
well as the currently identified funding, it is envisaged that some 
improvements can be progressed through developer-funded works in 
conjunction with delivery of their development schemes, e.g. Lowfield 
Street and former Co-op site, Hythe Street.  An overall concept plan 
will enable such works to be negotiated as part of planning 
application discussions.  

3.9. Market Street has been identified as an early priority due to the 
opportunities to:

 Create synergies with the forthcoming Acacia scheme, 
whereby the Acacia Mansion House will be opened up directly 
onto Market Street

 Create synergies with the forthcoming Lowfield Street 
development with the northern end opening out onto Market 
Street 

 Improve the walking link between Central Park and the High 
Street

 Create space through the removal of unnecessary bus stands, 
with most bus services now having been re-routed off Market 
Street

3.10. It is expected that the current ring road traffic system will remain 
largely unchanged in terms of direction of movement, although 
appropriate changes to road and junction layout, signalling and 
crossing points will be explored.  

Management Arrangements

3.11. It is proposed that the Council leads on the procurement and 
commissioning of the scheme design.  Since KCC is the highways 
authority, close collaboration with Kent Highways will be required to 
ensure that the scheme meets its standards. A Partnership 
Agreement is proposed for management of the project. It is proposed 
that the Agreement includes the establishment of a Joint Project 
Board to undertake the selection process and monitor the design 
consultancy and agree the financial, project management and 
technical aspects of the scheme.



                           
CABINET

26 JANUARY 2017

3.12. Following design of the scheme and public consultation, construction 
works on Market Street are anticipated to commence in April 2018.  
Agreement on implementation and delivery timetable of the works will 
follow at a later stage.   

Transfer of risks and responsibilities

3.13. Part of the STP monies comprise of HCA grant funding, with KCC 
being the recipient authority.  Due to the HCA funding arrangements, 
risk is transferred between the funder and the recipient organisation 
i.e. Kent County Council. It is proposed that this risk will be further 
transferred to the Council through the funding agreement or a back-
to-back contract. These risks will be minimised by:

 Complying with the core funding requirements
 Agreement on payment terms (both in and out)
 Limiting exposure to unfunded costs by including suitable contract 

termination terms with consultants and contractors

3.14. As far as officers are aware, there are no specific issues with these 
arrangements and they form a standard package of requirements that 
have been met with previous funding agreements.

Procurement

3.15. To enable a swift commencement of the scheme, it is proposed to 
utilise the Homes and Communities Agency Multidisciplinary 
Framework to appoint consultants. This framework is fully OJEU 
compliant and meets the Council’s Standing Orders and Financial 
Regulations. However, discussions with KCC are still ongoing on 
procurement and in the event that it is agreed that KCC rather than 
Dartford Council, an alternative procurement route will have to be 
jointly agreed.

3.16. Further consultancies may be let through the Framework or 
alternative procurement routes dependent on the outcomes of the 
initial designs and the anticipated level of costs to give more diversity 
or ensure value for money. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

ED 3. Improve the economic performance of the Town Centre
ED 4.  Ensure the delivery of timely transport infrastructure
ET 4. Ensure a high quality street scene

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications As the works are to be fully funded from external 
sources there is no financial impact to the 
council, apart from short term funding between 
payments and receipt of grants. Final payment 
terms will be set as part of the funding 



                           
CABINET

26 JANUARY 2017

agreement.
It is proposed in this report that Dartford Council 
procure the design consultancy and surveys etc. 
which are (very early) estimated to cost in the 
order of £100,000. Whilst the funding for this will 
be external, to be agreed through a funding 
arrangement, the Budget envelope for this will 
need to be established by the General Assembly 
of the Council at the annual budget meeting on 
the 27th February 2017

Legal Implications

Public Sector Equality 
Duty 

Crime and Disorder Duty 

A back to back agreement with Kent County 
Council is proposed to deal with some of the 
funding for the scheme, to which the Homes and 
Communities Agency may also need to be a 
party. An Agreement with Kent Council is also 
proposed which will  set out the arrangement for 
the management and monitoring of the design 
consultancy and to agree the financial, project 
management and technical aspects of the 
scheme.

N/A

The consultancy will be developed to meet this 
duty, to comply with the DoT ‘Manual for Streets’ 
and other relevant guidance.

Staffing Implications Staff from the Policy and Corporate Support team 
will be involved through the whole of the project. 
The creation of a part-time Project Manager post 
to take forward this complex project is being 
considered. This would be achieved through 
internal restructuring.

Administrative Implications None specifically

Risk Assessment Some minor risks to ensure funding criteria are 
met; these can be mitigated by the consultancy 
brief and agreement with KCC.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A - Draft Dartford Town Centre Brief
Appendix B – General Exception Form



                           
CABINET

26 JANUARY 2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Tony Phillips
(01322) 343269/
Teresa Ryszkowska 
01322 343631

Policy and 
Corporate 
Support/
Regeneration

N/A



                           
CABINET

26 JANUARY 2017

APPENDIX A: DRAFT DARTFORD TOWN CENTRE BRIEF

Background

The Council is working with its partners on a holistic approach to transforming 
Dartford town centre, through creating an exemplary movement network and 
public realm. This is intended to be delivered alongside significant private 
development, with the public investment encouraging a higher quality of 
development from the private sector.  The challenge is to encourage more 
people to come and use the town centre, thereby improving its health and 
viability.  The ability of getting into the town centre quickly, easily and 
pleasurably as well as the experience of the town centre, once there, in terms 
of its public realm and environment are  issues that need to be addressed.

An initial feasibility study examining the operation of the road network and 
identifying priority locations for improvement has been prepared (Amey, 
Dartford Town Centre Improvements – Feasibility Study April 2016).  A Town 
Centre Framework focusing on the built environment but also considering key 
walking and cycling routes into and around the town centre is being prepared 
by IBI consultants.

This project is being progressed in the context of high current levels of 
housing development around the town centre and significant future 
opportunities for large-scale growth. Dartford’s Local Plan (Core Strategy) 
plans for approximately 3,000 homes, 1,500 jobs and 15,000sq m of new 
retail space in and around Dartford Town Centre.  If current lobbying for an 
extension of Crossrail to Dartford and beyond is successful, this is likely to 
result in additional significant development in and around the town centre.  
Therefore, proposals will need to take into account the increased future travel 
demand, with the emphasis on a significant shift to sustainable modes.

Currently, routes into the town centre are dominated by the ring road, with its 
heavily engineered junctions and complex traffic layouts in some parts. The 
ring road is part one-way and part two-way. At times, it suffers from traffic 
congestion, with traffic gridlock being experienced at times of incidents at the 
Dartford Crossing. However, at other times, traffic can be free flowing 
particularly on some parts of the ring road. 

There is a lack of clear and attractive walking and cycling routes into the town 
centre and the ring road, in particular, creates a barrier to movement, severing 
residential areas from the centre. There are connectivity issues for 
pedestrians and cyclists as the ring road separates the station from the High 
Street and creates a barrier for residents coming from north of the railway line. 
The ring road also runs through the town centre to the south at Market Street, 
separating the High Street from the popular Central Park and the proposed 
mixed use development at Lowfield Street. 

There is poor routing of buses and bus stop locations are confusing and 
poorly located for town centre users (Bus Study has been carried out), with 
sub-optimal access between the bus stops and the High Street.  The high 



                           
CABINET

26 JANUARY 2017

quality Fastrack bus service has dedicated routes on the edge of the town 
centre but nonetheless gets caught up in traffic congestion at junctions and 
the turning of buses at this terminus is often convoluted and can add to traffic 
congestion in the town centre.  There is no dedicated interchange between 
buses or between buses and the train station. The Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation are encouraging an  upgrade to Fastrack by 2020/21 to provide 
bendy buses on the route between Ebbsfleet Station and Dartford Town 
Centre.  If Dartford town centre is to continue to be a nodal point/destination 
on this key Fastrack route and benefit from this improved service, it will be 
necessary to accommodate these buses and allow for their turning 
movements at the end of the route.

The town centre street scene (including access routes) is tired, out-dated and 
much of it has reached the end of its useful life, with the pedestrianised High 
Street being over 30 years old. Surface materials are mixed and generally 
poor quality, although there have been isolated areas of upgrading.  It does 
not meet today’s expectations for a vibrant town centre. 

Funding is now available to bring forward a package of works to achieve 
wholesale improvements to the operation of the movement network in tandem 
with townscape improvements.  £7.7M is secured through the Kent 
Thameside Strategic Transport Infrastructure Programme.  A bid for Local 
Growth Funding of £4.3M is awaiting government decision.  There may be 
additional funding opportunities in the future.

 Objectives

To design a comprehensive and integrated movement network and public 
realm to support the regeneration and redevelopment of Dartford Town 
Centre.  The proposals should be underpinned by a robust transport 
assessment and an in-depth understanding of the transport and access 
issues facing the town centre.  Initial work has been undertaken by Amey, IBI 
and Sustrans.  It is expected that this commission will build on the earlier 
work.

The challenge is to accommodate the high levels of growth without increasing 
pressure on the local road network. The proposed transport and public realm 
improvements should aim to encourage a shift to sustainable means of travel 
when visiting the town, by making walking, cycling and bus much more 
attractive options through the provision of better connected routes from the 
residential areas within and surrounding the town.  The choice or necessity for 
some to come into the town by car should be acknowledged and catered for 
but the objective should be to ensure vehicles visiting the town centre can get 
in and out of car parks in the town quickly without adding to congestion on the 
ring road.

Funding and physical constraints necessitate a phased approach to the 
improvements.  A strategic transport solution and design scheme for the town 
centre as a whole are required.  Detailed design schemes for the initial 
phases of the project are also required. It is assumed that the projects will be 



                           
CABINET

26 JANUARY 2017

rolled out as funding becomes available.  Whilst further funding may become 
available in the future, it is expected that current funding will result in visible 
and positive transformation in the town centre.  High quality but cost efficient 
solutions are sought.

Key Deliverables

1. Design of an overall movement network and streetscape 

This should incorporate an overall concept plan for movement, 
reflecting town centre ‘best practice’ and identifying:

 a recommended road layout (see para below)
 a hierarchy of road types, identifying relative priority between private 

vehicles, buses and pedestrians/cyclists bus movement including 
provision for Fastrack bendy buses

 where some level of traffic calming/pedestrian priority is proposed, 
measures as to how this will be achieved

 key pedestrian and cycle routes into and through the town (drawing on 
work already carried out  by Sustrans) 

 for cycle routes, identification of segregated routes and crossing 
facilities where necessary 

 proposed crossing points for pedestrians/cyclists, where these are 
required, and their nature 

 servicing of shops and businesses
 on-street parking, loading bays and taxi rank rationalisation to 

contribute to the above objectives.
 a co-ordinated palette of surface materials and street furniture and 

how this will be used to indicate movement priorities which is 
acceptable in terms of future maintenance to KCC as highways 
authority.

It is expected that the current ring road traffic system will remain largely 
unchanged in terms of direction of movement, although appropriate changes 
to road and junction layout, signalling and crossing points should be 
considered.

The design should recognise the importance of safe, convenient and 
attractive pedestrian movement within the town centre as a prerequisite for a 
successful centre. It should also recognise that the ring road serves essential 
traffic using the town centre, as well as local traffic passing through.  These 
trips should continue to be accommodated, although the relative priority of 
road traffic as compared to other forms of movement needs to be carefully 
considered.  Long distance strategic traffic uses the ring road as a rat-run on 
the frequent occasions when there is an incident on the M25/Dartford 
Crossing.   This is considered inappropriate and the design of the scheme 
should consider measures which could discourage such rat-running, 
particularly by HGV’s.  It should be noted that the Council is in discussion with 
Highways England on implementation of measures outside the town centre, 



                           
CABINET

26 JANUARY 2017

such as advance warnings, aimed at discouraging these traffic movements.  
These on their own are considered to be insufficient to address the problem.

A broad costing for the overall scheme must be provided, broken down into 
the main components of the scheme.

The scheme must comply with Kent Highways criteria for Highways Design.  

2. Detailed design of specific schemes on the network

Drawing on previous work as well as the concept scheme prepared as part of 
this commission , prioritised schemes that can be delivered within the initial  
budget (£7.7M plus potential £4.3M, subject to success of LGF 3 bid) will be 
identified and detailed designs prepared for these.  Maximum impact from this 
expenditure should be sought.

Note that all works are to be to Kent County Council adoptable standards (i.e. 
all works will be returned to KCC for ongoing maintenance beyond the defects 
period).

The prioritised schemes are currently identified as:
 Market Street
 High St
 Junction of Hythe St/Westgate Road
 Hythe St (between High St and Westgate Rd)
 Lowfield Street/junction with Instone Rd
 Home Gardens replacement of subway with at-grade crossing

The Market St scheme is considered to be a priority for early implementation 
due to synergies with other development taking place.  Other priorities are not 
currently fixed and the appointed consultants may wish to advise on these.  
Public consultation may also result in changes.  

 
The following information has already been compiled for each scheme:

 Full topographic surveys
 Positions and details of all statutory and other services overdrawn 

onto the topographic surveys
 Ownership details of all areas of affected land inside the works 

boundary (some further information may be necessary)
 Pedestrian and traffic flows/ counts to establish a baseline

The following further information is required:

 Minimum 1:500 scale plans of proposals
 An agreed palette of materials, street furniture and lighting(i)

 Outline landscaping proposals
 Elemental cost breakdown of each scheme
 Potential traffic management issues during the phased works



                           
CABINET

26 JANUARY 2017

 Project programme and spend profile (taking account of funding and 
development coming forward)

 3D CGI’s of the proposals for bid and publicity purposes

All drawn information to be in Autodesk ‘Autocad’ or ‘Revit’ format to a 
layering standard conforming to BIM Level 2.

3. Improved bus access into the town centre  

Drawing on previous analysis (IBI, Bus Access Study) identify proposals for 
improved access into the town centre by bus including:

 Identification of the most suitable locations for bus stops to 
provide convenient access to the heart of the town centre (High 
St)  

 Identification of feasible options for routeing of Fastrack to 
enable quicker turnarounds, better integration with the town 
centre core and facilitation for bendy buses (possibly an interim 
and longer term solution)

 Examination of options for the provision of a bus interchange 
station in the town centre.  This may need to involve longer term 
options/ opportunities, contingent on sites coming forward for 
redevelopment

 Examination of the feasibility of Fastrack interchange at the 
station and routeing/design options to achieve this

4. Car Parking Provision

Drawing on previous work (IBI,  Car Parking Needs and Opportunities Report) 
assess the provision and distribution of car parking spaces within the town 
centre and its adequacy in the context of planned levels of development and 
loss of some existing provision through redevelopment. 

Develop proposals for provision and management of future parking provision.  
Parking spaces should be located on the edge of the town centre/ring road 
with direct in and out accesses , where possible, so as to minimise the need 
to circulate the ring road on entry / exit from the parking.

Consider the need for and if appropriate, design and cost a system of Variable 
Screen Messaging information to guide visitors to available spaces in the 
town centre, so as to maximise the efficiency of use of the spaces.

Consider the on-street parking provision both within the town centre and on 
surrounding streets and put forward proposals for rationalisation of on-street 
parking within the town centre and make recommendations with regard to 
parking controls on surrounding residential streets



                           
CABINET

26 JANUARY 2017

Business Case
Assistance with preparation of a Full Business Case to be submitted to DCLG 
in support of the final Local Growth Fund bid may be required, if the bid is 
successful at the initial stage.

Timetable
Start of commission: April 2017
Design work complete: Oct 17
Weekly update with Project Manager on Progress of the scheme
Monthly meeting with Project Team

A more detailed timetable is to be prepared as part of the submission.  A 
speedier timetable for the design of the scheme will be favourably considered.

Consultation
Initial public consultation on concept plan – carried out jointly with Dartford 
Council
Technical consultation : involvement of key statutory stakeholders and parties 
directly affected by proposals, in particular, town centre businesses, in 
designing the schemes

Public presentation of final schemes – carried out jointly with Dartford Council

i There needs to be full agreement for ongoing maintenance of the completed works- following recent 
examples, there is only a limited pallet of materials and light fittings currently recommended by KCC. 
These are (in the main) unlikely to meet the design aspirations of this project. A common solution to 
this design ‘gap’ is required.



APPENDIX B





CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

CONSULTATION ON EBBSFLEET IMPLEMENTATION 
FRAMEWORK
. 

1. Summary

1.1 This is a Key Decision as it is significant in terms of its effects on communities 
living or working in an area of the Borough comprising two or more wards.

1.2 This report is responding to the request by the Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation (EDC) to endorse the Ebbsfleet Implementation Framework as 
compliant with the Council’s policy framework (Local Plan) so that it can be 
used as a material consideration in EDC planning decisions. The report 
addresses the key issues that the Council previously raised on the draft 
Ebbsfleet Implementation Framework and the response from the EDC.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1  That the EDC be advised:

1. That Dartford Council gives its support to the Ebbsfleet Implementation 
Framework dated November 2016 for providing clarity with regard to the 
integrated master planning of the whole of the EDC area.

2. That the Council endorses the Ebbsfleet Implementation Framework as 
guidance for pre-application discussions with developers and a material 
consideration in determining planning applications but with primacy given to 
Dartford’s Local Plan and Supplementary Planning Documents where there is 
a conflict between the documents and as a basis for the comprehensive 
identification of policy requirements.

3. That the Council considers there are some specific areas of non-compliance 
between the Ebbsfleet Implementation Framework and the Council’s planning 
policy framework, as set out in Table 1 and paragraph 3.16 of this report but 
will seek to assist the EDC in resolving these issues when proposals come 
forward.

4. That endorsement of the Ebbsfleet Implementation Framework does not imply 
acceptability of some of the proposals or information shown outside of the EDC 
area.

3. Background and discussion 

3.1 The Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC) advise that the Ebbsfleet 
Implementation Framework (EIF) seeks to provide a structure for integrating 
the variety of masterplans which cover the EDC area into a coherent and 
cohesive vision.  The majority of the sites within the Borough Council’s 
boundary already have planning permission: with each site having a 
separate Masterplan relating to the planning permission boundary. There is 
however no single masterplan for the area.  The EDC advise that the EIF will 
be used to inform, shape and support their delivery work and that it 



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

underpins the EDC Corporate Plan and subsequent investment planning and 
programme management. It is intended that the EIF will define the long-term 
ambition for Ebbsfleet, identifying what type of place Ebbsfleet will become 
in the future.  Council officers have been involved in the process of 
preparation of the EIF and have sought to ensure that it reflects the adopted 
Local Plan, takes account of wider infrastructure delivery requirements and 
does not create unacceptable impact on parts of the Borough outside of the 
EDC boundary. This has been an iterative process.  However, the EIF is a 
document prepared by the EDC and, as such, responsibility for its final 
content rests with the EDC.

3.2 The Ebbsfleet Development Corporation published the Ebbsfleet 
Implementation Framework as a Public Presentation Draft in October 2016.  
The draft Framework was reported to Cabinet on 27 October 2016 and 
Members resolved (Minute 69) that the EDC be advised of the comments 
and key issues set out in the report (these are summarised in the table 
below).

3.3 Officers have been advised that the Council’s comments were reported to 
the EDC Board in the closed part of the agenda of its November meeting 
and it resolved at this time to adopt the Ebbsfleet Implementation 
Framework dated November 2016. The EDC have provided a response to 
the Borough Council’s comments and these are set out in the table below.

3.4 The Council is now asked by the EDC to formally endorse the Framework as 
compliant with the Local Plan.  Whilst some changes were made following 
submission of the Council’s comments, some, but not all of these, have 
adequately addressed the concerns raised.  Officers are of the view that 
some conflicts with the Core Strategy and the Development Policies Plan 
remain. Whilst the EIF is in many respects compliant with the Local Plan, 
taken as a whole, it is not considered to be fully compliant.  

3.5 Additionally, some notations within the document are unclear.  Larger scale 
plans have been previously requested and are awaited, in order to allow for 
better interrogation of these. If any further concerns arise following the 
receipt of these documents these will be reported verbally to Cabinet.

Planning status of the Ebbsfleet Implementation Framework

3.6 As Members will be aware, the EDC does not have plan-making powers and 
cannot produce its own development plan (or supplementary planning 
document). Moreover, the requirement in primary legislation for the 
development plan to be the starting point in determining applications applies 
at Ebbsfleet. However, the EDC wish to use the Implementation Framework 
document in discussions with developers and in considering planning 
applications. The EDC has asked the three local authorities - Dartford 
Borough Council, Gravesham Borough Council and Kent County Council - to 
endorse the final document as compliant with each authority’s Local Plan so 
that it can be used by EDC as a material consideration in determining 
applications i.e. legitimately considered as a (material) factor. As noted at 



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

paragraph 3.4 above, officers do not consider that the EIF is fully compliant 
with the Development Plan.  

3.7 It is recommended that the Implementation Framework be recognised as 
one of the potential material considerations used to determine applications. 
Nevertheless, it must be highlighted that a clear legal distinction is made 
between the question of whether something is a material consideration, and 
the weight which it is to be given. This means the central issue will in 
practice be the relative weight that the EDC attaches to the Framework 
versus the Development Plan and other material considerations.  The 
starting point for consideration of planning applications is the statutory 
development plan. This is confirmed in the National Planning Policy 
Framework, whereby the government support a ‘plan-led’ system. This is 
because these plans are produced in a transparent and robust manner: 
informed by a specified minimum level of public consultation, and 
independently examined with regard to evidence (including overall appraisal 
of sustainability impacts) and alternative options.  Although informed by 
consultation exercises and technical information, informal planning 
documents such as the Framework do not benefit from the extent of scrutiny, 
public involvement and information gathering of the development plan. The 
EDC have confirmed that the Implementation Framework is not intended to 
be a Supplementary Planning Document, but is instead a statement of 
ambition.  Members may also wish to note that it has not been the subject of 
formal public consultation and reporting that would be required for a 
Supplementary Planning Document to be adopted.

3.8 The Framework is a material consideration, and is a weighty factor alongside 
the range of site-specific material considerations that normally arise on 
planning applications. However it does not have the status of a formal 
Supplementary Planning Document, let alone a development plan document 
(Local Plan). It has, therefore, less than the very significant weight that 
applies to the Development Plan, which must prevail in the event that any 
conflict is identified with proposals. For the avoidance of doubt, in addition to 
the Core Strategy, Dartford’s development plan is considered to include the 
Development Policies Plan once adopted - and also, in effect, as currently 
presented (given its very advanced stage and advice in the National 
Planning Policy Framework).

Content of the Implementation Framework

3.9 The document sets out the existing context for development in the EDC 
area: the planning permissions, the policy context, the delivery so far and an 
overview of the engagement events carried out by the EDC in 2015. It also 
sets out the objectives and key performance indicators that the EDC have 
set for itself in relation to its six delivery themes: Quality homes and 
neighbourhoods; enterprising economy; connected people and places; 
healthy environments; a civic community; and resilient and sustainable 
systems.



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

3.10 The document then goes on to set out the spatial framework for the area and 
defines the Strategic Development Areas within the EDC boundary as 
Ebbsfleet Central; Castle Hill, Western Cross, Alkerden and Ebbsfleet Green 
(formerly Eastern Quarry and Northfleet West Sub-station); Northfleet 
Riverside and Swanscombe Peninsula. It provides strategic guidelines for 
each of these areas. 

3.11 The Framework provides some generic guidance for development coming 
forward and seeks to provide a vision for the 6 key themes.  The final section 
of the EIF creates diagrammatic high level masterplans for each of the 
Strategic Development Areas but which join together to form the Framework 
for the whole area. 

3.12 The key ambitions that underpin the EIF are set out as being 12,842 new 
homes with a resultant population of 27,993 plus 82 hectares of employment 
and commercial land, 564,480sqm commercial floorspace and 70,310sqm 
retail floorspace and up to 32,000 jobs (excluding the entertainment resort 
proposal). Education provision is also quantified as being a total of 13 
primary school forms of entry primary (all of which are already consented) 
and an 8 form entry secondary school consented at Eastern Quarry plus 
potential for a further 6 form entry secondary school at Ebbsfleet station. 

Issues for consideration

3.13 With the exception of Northfleet Riverside, all of the Strategic Development 
Areas fall within the Borough Council boundary. Much of the work set out 
within the strategic development area guidelines are based on the planning 
permissions, and are therefore broadly compliant with adopted planning 
policy. However, there are some proposals and commentary that vary from 
this.

3.14 Members welcomed the Framework at Cabinet in October [Minute 69] and 
were keen to show support where it aligned with DBC aspirations but noted 
that there were some key issues which did not fully align with the Council’s 
adopted Development Plan. The following is a table which summarises the 
Council’s comments on the October consultation document and sets out the 
EDC’s response and amendments, together with further Dartford Council 
officer comments on these issues. 

Table 1: Comments and Responses on the Ebbsfleet Implementation 
Framework

Comments at DBC October 
Cabinet 

EDC Response and 
suggested amendments 

Further DBC officer 
comments 

Framework shows changes to 
the proposed road network 
within the sites, which have 
not been fully assessed. E.g a 
new access road onto 
Alkerden Lane from Eastern 

The current Section 73 
application currently shows a 
new connection onto Alkerden 
Lane in the centre of Eastern 
Quarry, to replace the 
previous access onto 

The Framework proposes a 
road network which would 
supersede proposals in an 
extant planning consent. 
The proposals in the 
planning permission have 



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

Quarry, is likely to result in 
increased traffic along 
Alkerden Lane and result in 
rat-running through the new 
development. 

Alkerden Lane in the north 
western corner of the site. 

EDC acknowledges that any 
change in access onto 
Alkerden Lane from Eastern 
Quarry should be evaluated to 
understand the impact, and 
identify opportunities for 
mediation, which will be 
addressed through the 
statutory planning function. 

In order to avoid prejudicing 
this process through 
establishing a principle within 
the Framework document, an 
additional clause has been 
inserted substantiating the 
need to assess the impact of 
any such new access. 

Proposed changes:

Page 59 :  Strategic 
movement hierarchy plan :  

Link connecting Eastern 
Quarry to Alkerden Lane now 
illustrated as ‘potential new 
link - subject to transport 
modelling’ and key updated 
accordingly. 

New clauses under diagram 
caption ( top right ) stating : 

Any changes to the transport 
strategies and associated 
road networks as defined 
under current planning 
permissions within the 
Ebbsfleet area is subject to 
verification through transport 
modelling 

Plans on 108, 109,110, 111 
updated accordingly.

been fully assessed and 
are considered to make 
suitable provision for 
transport impacts arising 
from the development.

The Framework should not 
prejudice or pre-judge 
formal assessment of an 
alternative route, as 
referred to in the 
prospective Section 73, 
which has not been 
assessed and is likely to be 
sub-optimal to the already 
consented route and may 
give rise to off-site impacts 
which have not been 
assessed.

In advance of assessment 
which can demonstrate that 
the proposed route can 
adequately address 
transport impacts arising 
from the development, it is 
considered that the 
proposal is not compliant 
with the Local Plan.

Officers recommend that 
this element of the EIF is 
not endorsed.  

Concerns raised about the 
ability for the amended 
Implementation Framework 
masterplans to provide the 
appropriate green 

Ongoing review of open space 
provision within Eastern 
Quarry (with EDC’s planning 
team) to confirm open space 
provision is in alignment with 

The comments and the 
proposed changes does not 
address the fundamental 
issue raised by DBC, that 
although open space is 



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

infrastructure required to 
enable the provision of formal 
recreation such as playing 
pitches and parks as well as 
adequate space for informal 
recreation and sports. The 
approved Masterplans under 
the planning permissions for 
Eastern Quarry, Ebbsfleet and 
Ebbsfleet Green all indicated 
locations for the required 
number of playing fields. The 
Council has raised concerns 
already about the EDC 
agreement to reduce the 
playing fields on the Ebbsfleet 
Green site without a holistic 
approach being considered.  
Concern that the 
Implementation Framework 
shows a reduced amount of 
useable green space and has 
not demonstrated that the 
playing pitches, required by 
the planning permissions 
based on need assessments, 
can be provided or that 
adequate parks can be 
provided in Eastern Quarry 
beyond simply a walkway 
adjacent to a lake, river, 
marsh or cliff. 

DBC policy. 

Proposed changes:

New clause added to page 96 
( 1st column , 3rd para )

Further parkland and public 
realm will be created 
throughout the area as an 
integral part of development, 
to provide at least 30% of the 
Ebbsfleet Central area as 
open space. 

New clause added to page 
111 (1st column 1st para)  

The following green 
infrastructure has been 
consented within the current 
development proposals to 
provide for at least 30% of the 
site area as open space.    

shown in the EIF it may not 
provide the same level of 
useable open space as 
required under the existing 
planning permissions.

The change suggested 
simply repeats the policy 
requirement (in Core 
Strategy CS5) for 30% 
open space by area but 
does not demonstrate how 
it will be achieved.  This is 
considered inadequate in 
this Framework which 
would be expected to take 
Core Strategy policy to a 
greater level of detail.  

The change does not 
address the policy 
requirement that open 
space be provided that is 
multi-functional greenspace 
providing for leisure and 
recreation purposes.   The 
Core Strategy (Diagram 6) 
indicates a requirement for 
a large area of open space 
to be provided as an urban 
park as well as a 
biodiversity corridor.  
Without these more 
significant areas of open 
space Officers do not 
consider the Framework 
can be considered policy 
compliant.  Instead, the 
Framework shows small, 
fragmented areas and 
pathways.

Officers consider that the 
open space provision within 
the proposed developments 
should meet the 
requirements of the 
planning permissions as 
approved with regard to 
scale, coherence and 
usability of formal and 
informal recreation space. 
Any changes to these 
requirements should be 



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

justified on basis of need 
and access to facilities.

Officers recommend that 
this element of the EIF is 
not endorsed.  

It is not clear where the 
proposed playing pitches for 
Eastern Quarry are to be 
provided (4 pitches are 
required by the s106 to the 
planning permission over and 
above the secondary school 
shared provision) or whether 
they can be accommodated in 
the green space identified 
given constraints and other 
requirements.

The current draft section 73 
application identifies 4 new 
sports pitches will be 
provided, with at least 2 within 
Eastern Quarry, and a further 
2 within a 2.5m distance. 

In order to avoid prejudicing 
the statutory planning process 
around the section 73 
application, suggest a new 
clause is added requiring at 
least 4 new pitches to be 
provided either within the 
Quarry or in open spaces 
within communities directly 
adjacent to Eastern Quarry. 

Proposed changes:

Page 111:

Additional reference added : 

‘A  minimum of four sports 
pitches and three 
tennis/netball courts to be 
provided as per the current 
planning permission ( in 
addition to the facilities within 
the education campus )’

The s73 application 
referred to by the EDC in 
their comments has not yet 
been submitted or 
assessed to determine its 
acceptability.

The current EQ planning 
permission requires 4 
playing pitches (outside of 
the school sites) to serve 
the needs of the new 
community. It allows for 2 of 
these pitches to be 
provided outside of the site 
within close proximity. 

The additional reference 
confirms this requirement 
and is welcome.  
Nonetheless, it is of 
concern that the 
Framework, which would be 
expected to add a greater 
level of detail to the Core 
Strategy, does not show 
specifically where and how 
the playing pitches can be 
accommodated.  

Consideration will need to 
be had at the planning 
application stage that this is 
not at the expense of 
useable informal open 
space.

Officers recommend that 
the endorsement of the 
Framework is subject to the 
proposed additional 
reference that the four 
playing pitches be provided 
in accordance with the 
existing planning 
permission which requires 
at least 2 of these pitches 
to be provided on site and 



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

the others to be provided 
within a defined area.

The northern east-west 
ecological corridor through 
Eastern Quarry appears to 
have been lost due to 
proposals for development 
and roads. It is a requirement 
of the adopted Core Strategy 
to provide a biodiversity 
corridor through this area. 
This is intended to form part 
of the wider biodiversity 
corridors being provided 
throughout the area which 
create linked habitat. In 
Eastern Quarry this area was 
partly intended to retain and 
enhance important and rare 
chalk grassland habitat. A 
smaller park area is now 
shown but the open space is 
likely to have several 
conflicting uses, in a small 
area that also contains water 
or cliff.  The ecological 
corridor is likely to be further 
eroded by proposed access 
points down the cliffs, the 
road to Alkerden Lane and 
play areas.  

This corridor has been 
incorporated within the 
Implementation Framework, 
providing a minimum of 15m 
width at limited points within 
the corridor. An additional 
clause has been added on the 
landscape section for Eastern 
Quarry to reaffirm this 
requirement 

Proposed changes:

Page 111:  Insert new 
reference :

‘Ecological corridors to be 
established running east to 
west along the northern 
boundaries of the site, to a 
minimum width of 15m and 
connected to the city-wide 
garden grid.’

 The proposed changes are 
welcome.  Nonetheless, 
there is a concern about 
impact on the biodiversity 
corridor from conflicting 
development such as road 
accesses.

With these changes, the 
Framework appears to be 
compliant with the Core 
Strategy. However, there is 
insufficient clarity to have 
certainty that a planning 
application would be 
compliant with the 
Development Plan policy 
because of potential 
fragmentation. 

Consideration will need to 
be had at the planning 
application stage that a 
coherent biodiversity 
corridor is provided.

The primacy of the 
Development Plan and its 
objectives is therefore 
important to emphasise.

The north-south ecological 
corridor/green space to the 
east of Southfleet Road 
appears to have been lost on 
the Framework plans. 

The current location is 
impacted by the Paramount 
access road. 

The Framework plan does 
not show this access road 
rather that the ecological 
corridor is impacted on by 
development. 

It is accepted that a wide 
open space would be 
difficult to deliver but a 
stepping stone ecological 
corridor should be provided 
through the development.

The Framework appears to 
be compliant with the Core 
Strategy. However, there is 
insufficient clarity to have 
certainty that a planning 
application would be 



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

compliant with the 
Development Plan policy 
objectives because of 
potential fragmentation of 
biodiversity corridors. 

Consideration will need to 
be had at the planning 
application stage for 
provision of a stepping 
stone north-south 
ecological corridor to the 
east of Southfleet Road. 

The southern east-west 
ecological corridor to Eastern 
Quarry seems to be eroded 
and broken by high density 
development

This corridor has been 
planned for and shown within 
the Implementation 
Framework, providing a 
minimum of 15m width, and at 
limited points within the 
corridor. An additional clause 
has been added on the 
landscape section for Eastern 
Quarry to reaffirm this 
requirement.

Proposed changes:

Page 111:  

‘Ecological corridors to be 
established running east to 
west along the northern and 
southern boundaries of the 
site, connected to the city-
wide garden grid.’

The proposed changes are 
welcome.  Nonetheless, 
there is a concern about 
impact on the biodiversity 
corridor from conflicting 
development such as road 
accesses.

The Framework appears to 
be compliant with the Core 
Strategy. However, there is 
insufficient clarity to have 
certainty that a planning 
application would be 
compliant with the 
Development Plan policy 
objectives because of 
potential fragmentation of 
biodiversity corridors.

Consideration will need to 
be had at the planning 
application stage to 
provision of a coherent 
biodiversity corridor which 
is not fragmented by hard 
structures such as roads.

Swanscombe Peninsula 

No details have been 
provided for Swanscombe 
Peninsula in the 
Implementation Framework 
with instead the position being 
reserved for the entertainment 
resort NSIP application. 
Concerns raised that an 
application is still to be made 
with regard to this proposal 
and as a result of the blanket 
designation of the area, the 

The current Framework 
document does already make 
extensive reference to the 
ecological issues and 
opportunities of the peninsula: 

Page 24 and 27 provides a 
summary of the Core Strategy 
requirements, and 
opportunities and constraints 
or the area. 

Ecological enhancements are 
referenced throughout Section 

 

This additional text is 
welcomed to acknowledge 
the issues with the A226. 

The EIF is not considered 
to be fully compliant with 
the Development Plan with 
regard to Swanscombe 
Peninsula as little detail is 
provided and not all the 
policy requirements for this 
area are shown on the 



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

issues with regard to this 
strategic site and the 
requirements of the Core 
Strategy are not identified. 
Such issues include the 
important ecology in the area 
and the opportunity for 
biodiversity enhancement; the 
narrowness and lack of 
resilience of the London Road 
corridor and the potential for a 
bypass through the site; the 
lack of separation for 
Fastrack; and the need for 
connections to Ebbsfleet. 
Concern that a lack of 
acknowledgement of these 
issues could undermine the 
Council’s and the EDC’s 
position in seeking 
improvements for any 
development (including the 
entertainment resort) coming 
forward on the Peninsula

Does not identify site issues 
or requirements of Core 
Strategy, and could therefore 
undermine DBC and EDC’s 
ability to seek improvements 
from the development. 

4, and our headline vision 
identifies the peninsula as an 
‘open estuarine ecological 
park.’ 

New line added to area 
guidelines for Swanscombe 
Peninsula to reference need 
to upgrade the local road 
network. 

Proposed changes:

Page 128 :  Add additional 
line within the area guidelines  
( 4th bullet ): 

‘The capacity and resilience of 
the A226 and associated local 
road network is considered, 
together with the provision of 
dedicated Fastrack routes.’

Framework eg. Green grid 
requirements.

Officers recommend that 
this element of the EIF is 
not endorsed.

Given the general lack of 
detail in the EIF for this site, 
consideration of any 
planning proposals should 
be assessed against the 
adopted Local Plan, which 
as the statutory 
development plan takes 
primacy over the EIF.

The Tank Site is not indicated 
as housing ( as per the Core 
Strategy) 

 Page 126 does reference the 
‘tank’ site on London Road 
and its allocation. 

Proposed changes:

Page 127:  New Caption 
added to diagram affirming 
allocation of the Tank for 200 
homes.

Noted and welcomed

There are some 
errors/omissions on the 
notations for green space and 
public rights of way, footpaths, 
cycle ways on the area 
outside the EDC area and it is 
not made clear in the 
Framework that these areas 
are not covered by the 

Proposed changes:

Page 67 :  Diagram titled 
amended to state 

This diagram provides a 
starting point for a walking 
and cycling strategy for 

The plans are still not 
considered fully 
representative or accurate 
on the areas outside of the 
EDC boundary. 

Information about networks 
outside the EDC area is not 



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

Framework. It is suggested 
that it is made clear these are 
illustrative and the Framework 
only relates to the EDC area

Ebbsfleet, showing the 
principal networks within the 
EDC urban regeneration area, 
and how these relate to 
existing rights of way, bridle 
paths and cycle paths in 
Gravesham and Dartford.  

endorsed by officers.  

Consideration must be 
given to how networks 
within the EDC area relate 
to those across its 
boundary at the planning 
application stage.

The road network shown on 
the masterplans and other 
diagrams is not consistent 
across the plans

Proposed changes:

Reviewed and updated to 
improve consistency of 
mapping of road network 
across document.

Noted

The walking and cycling 
diagram fails to show all the 
connections and links outside 
the EDC area and also fails to 
show existing public rights of 
ways within the EDC area and 
requirements for routes in the 
planning permissions granted.

Proposed changes:

Page 67 walking and cycling 
strategy diagram updated 
using PDF provided and the 
KCC GIS to show all public 
footpaths / bridle paths etc 
within the area shown.

The diagram is intended at 
this scale to demonstrate the 
networks rather than provide 
an accurate map of rights of 
way.

EDC propose to co-develop 
with GBC / DBC and KCC a 
walking and cycling strategy 
for Ebbsfleet, which would be 
the basis for a more detailed 
mapping of rights of way.  

Noted and the co-ordination 
of a wider walking and 
cycling strategy is 
welcomed.

The plans are much 
improved but still do not 
show all the routes required 
by the planning permissions 
granted in the EDC 
area(e.g. connection of 
DS20 north-south) and are 
still not considered fully 
representative on the areas 
outside of the EDC 
boundary. 

Information about networks 
outside the EDC area is not 
endorsed by officers.  
Consideration must be 
given to how networks 
within the EDC area relate 
to those across its 
boundary at the planning 
application stage.

The plans in the document 
are quite small and the keys 
are not always fully 
comprehensive such that it is 
difficult to assess the 

The EDC is printing off larger 
plans but at the time of writing 
this report they had not been 
provided to officers.

Reserve comment pending 
consideration of the large 
scale plans



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

proposals fully. In addition, 
some of the plans do not fully 
match across the document 
with regard to road, 
pedestrian and cycle network.

Further detailed issues for consideration

3.15 The EIF sets out parking standards for new residential development (p.70) 
which the document advises is to encourage modal shift and reduce 
congestion on roads. The standards set out in the EIF are:

 1 and 2 bed flats: zero parking where within 400m of public 
transport nodes

 1 and 2 bed houses: 0.75/1 space per unit within 400m of public 
transport node.

 3 bed houses: 1 space; 
 4 bed houses: 2 spaces.

The DBC adopted Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) requires higher levels of parking provision for 1-3 bedroom dwellings.  
It allows for reduced parking provision on a site by site basis, however, this 
must be based on evidence to justify the specific circumstance and be 
supported by transport assessment and management of the reduced parking 
provision. (paragraph 4.4 of the SPD). Paragraph 4.9 (1) of the SPD advises 
that on large schemes developers should set out an overall approach to 
parking at an early stage.  Paragraphs 4.10 and 4.11 of the SPD set out 
what the Council considers should be covered by Parking Management 
Strategy, such as parking enforcement, Traffic Regulations Orders (TROs), 
private parking management and requires the developer to fund the cost of 
these.  Although suggesting lower standards, the EIF does not set out any 
caveats or requirements which might mitigate lower levels of parking 
provision, such as parking management, payment of the costs for 
introducing parking enforcement, TROs etc.

3.16 Officers have concerns that lower parking standards are being proposed 
with no regard to a wider parking strategy or management.  No reference is 
made to the requirements of the Council’s adopted SPD with regard to these 
matters. The objective of encouraging modal shift away from car use is 
supported.  However, officers consider this needs to be part of a holistic 
approach with good public transport services in place, good cycling facilities, 
and easy walking distances to main community facilities, an effective parking 
strategy and management and additionally access to car club vehicles or 
similar. 

3.17 It is considered that the proposed standards are not compliant with Dartford 
Council’s policy framework as set out in the Parking Standards SPD.  This 
formal planning policy document has significant weight in the consideration 
of development proposals. This SPD allows for reduced parking standards 
where these can be justified and where appropriate mitigations are in place.  



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

In addition to the comments set out in Table 1, officers consider that the 
EDC should be informed that the Parking Standards SPD should be the 
starting point for consideration of parking provision as part of planning 
applications and policy contained therein should not be overridden without 
adequate justification. 

Conclusion

3.18 The Ebbsfleet Implementation Framework is welcomed as it provides clarity 
with regard to the integrated masterplanning of the whole of the EDC area.  

3.19 The EDC has requested that the Council endorses the EIF as consistent with 
the Development Plan, so that the EIF can be used as a material planning 
consideration.  It is considered that for the most part, the EIF is compliant 
with the Local Plan and would generally assist in implementing the Council’s 
objectives.  However, Officers are concerned that there are some elements 
of the EIF that are not consistent with the Development Plan and could 
undermine specific objectives.

3.20 Conflicts with the Local Plan and the Council’s objectives were identified in 
the Cabinet report of 27 October 2016 and forwarded to the EDC for 
consideration.  Unfortunately, the EDC responded to these concerns too late 
to allow for further discussion and resolution of these concerns.  In these 
circumstances, Officers recommend that the EIF is endorsed as guidance for 
pre-application discussions with developers and a material consideration in 
determining planning applications, with the caveat that Dartford’s Local Plan 
and Supplementary Planning Documents are acknowledged as having 
primacy over the EIF where there is a conflict between the documents and 
also as the starting point for a comprehensive identification of policy 
requirements.  Specific elements of the EIF which have been identified in 
Table 1 as being non-compliant include the following issues: 

 Amendments to the currently consented highway network and 
means of access. (Alternative routes may be possible but subject 
to demonstration through appropriate transport assessment that 
they are satisfactory)

 Lack of evidence that useable formal and informal recreation 
space can be provided within the land identified for open space. 
(Any changes to the requirements of the planning permissions as 
approved with regard to scale and usability of formal and informal 
recreation space should be justified on basis of deliverability, 
need and access to facilities)

 Biodiversity corridors which appear to be fragmented by hard 
structures such as roads, development and conflict with other 
uses.

3.21 The EDC should be advised that applicants be made aware of these issues 
at the pre-application stage.  Furthermore, applicants should be advised to 
undertake their own assessment of compliance with the Development Plan 
when preparing proposals and to ensure that requirements and criteria 



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

which are not covered by the EIF are nonetheless addressed.  Council 
officers will be able to advise on Local Plan requirements and seek to assist 
in resolving any issues of non-compliance, where they are involved in 
discussions on planning proposals.

3.22 Officers would recommend that if Members are minded to endorse the EIF it 
is made clear that this does not imply the acceptability of some of the 
proposals or information outside of the EDC area.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all 
our communities.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Ebbsfleet 
Implementation 
Framework (full 
reference)

S Bunn Planning N/A

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative 
Implications

None 

Risk Assessment None



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

CONSULTATION ON THE GOVERNMENT’S PROPOSALS TO 
CREATE A SOCIAL HOUSING REGULATOR AS AN INDEPENDENT 
BODY

1. Summary

1.1 This report brings to Members’ attention the Government’s consultation paper 
on using a legislative reform order to establish the social housing regulator as 
an independent body.

1.2 This report summarises the proposals in the consultation paper and sets out 
the Council’s suggested response to the consultation.  

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1    That Cabinet approves the proposed response to the consultation, as set out in 
Appendix A to the report.  

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The consultation paper has been issued on behalf of the Secretary of State 
for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) and sets out the proposal 
for amending the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 so that responsibility 
for social housing regulation is transferred from the Homes and 
Communities Agency (HCA) to a new standalone public body.  It proposes 
that the changes to legislation are made through a Legislative Reform 
Order under the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006.

3.2. Under the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006, the Government 
must consult on the use of a Legislative Reform Order to make changes to 
primary legislation. Subject to the results of this consultation, the 
Government plans to make the Order which makes these amendments as 
soon as is practicable.

3.3. The HCA review found there was a compelling case for change of its 
structure, given the way the HCA has evolved since it assumed 
responsibility for social housing regulation. Since the establishment of 
HCA’s investments arm in 2014, the HCA has expanded into commercial 
investments. This has made the HCA, in some cases, both a secured 
creditor and regulator of registered providers. 

3.4. This potential conflict of interest did not exist when the decision was made 
to incorporate social housing regulation within the HCA, as at that time, the 
HCA’s funding predominantly focused on grant-making.  

3.5. The Government’s proposes to create a standalone social housing 
regulator as an independent body.  Although the independent body will 
remain part of the HCA, separation will reaffirm the independence of the 
independent body, increasing its autonomy and allowing it to better control 
its own budget and recruitment.



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

3.6. The proposals will not change how registered providers are regulated and 
the regulatory framework and regulatory powers will not alter as a result of 
the changes. 

3.7. The proposals will have little or no impact on the Council as it will affect 
registered housing providers only.  However, it is felt that a response 
should be submitted to Government, from the Council, as the Council has 
an interest in its capacity as a strategic housing enabler. 

3.8. The consultation questions and proposed responses are set out in 
Appendix A.  A copy of the consultation document is available on request.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1     This report relates to the Corporate Plan strategic aim ‘to facilitate quality, 
choice and diversity in the housing market, to create strong and self-reliant 
communities and deliver high quality services to service users’.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other admin implications & risk assessments

Financial Implications None as a result of this report

Legal Implications None as a result of this report

Staffing Implications None as a result of this report

Administrative Implications As above

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Consultation questions and proposed response

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Jackie Pye
(01322) 343683

Hsg Services
Strategic 
(Internal)

N/A



APPENDIX A

CONSULTATION ON THE PROPOSAL ON USING A LEGISLATIVE REFORM 
ORDER TO ESTABLISH THE SOCIAL HOUSING REGULATOR AS AN 
INDEPENDENT BODY.

Consultation questions and proposed responses

Question 1

Do you support the proposal to establish the social housing regulator as an 
independent body, maintaining the current regulatory framework and transferring all 
regulatory powers and functions from the HCA to the new NDPB?

DBC Response:

Yes, the Council supports this proposal due to the fact there may be a conflict of 
interest, given the HCAs current role as a secured creditor and regulator of social 
housing.

Question 2

Is there any empirical evidence that you are aware of that supports the need for 
these reforms? Please provide details.

DBC Response

No, the Council is not aware of any empirical evidence.

Question 3

Do you think that the proposed measure will make the function of social housing 
regulation more consistent with better regulation principles, as explained in 
paragraphs 15-19?

DBC Response:

Yes, the Council agrees that having a separate regulatory body without any conflict 
of interest, will provide a more transparent approach to social housing regulation.

Question 4

Do you agree that the proposed changes meet the preconditions for use of a 
Legislative Reform Order as set out in paragraphs 27- 34?

DBC Response:

Yes, the preconditions appear to have been met satisfactorily.





CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

FUNDING FOR SUPPORTED HOUSING – CONSULTATION

1. Summary

1.1. This report draws to Members’ attention the Government’s consultation paper on 
the funding of supported housing and summarises the proposals in the 
consultation paper and sets out the Council’s suggested response to the 
consultation.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That Cabinet approves the proposed response to the consultation, as set out 
in Appendix A to the report.

2.2 That Cabinet agree to the sharing of the approved response with other Kent 
Authorities to provide a joint response to Government.  

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Government’s consultation paper seeks views on the design of a new 
housing costs funding model for supported housing. 

3.2. The consultation paper seeks reforms to current funding models in the light of 
the rolling out of Universal Credit across Britain and the specific needs of the 
supported housing sector.  Supported housing, discussed in the paper, includes 
all types of accommodation not just supported housing for elderly people.  
However, this is most relevant to Dartford given the number of sheltered 
schemes in the borough.  In addition, the proposals will affect the Private 
Finance Initiative (PFI) supported housing scheme for people with learning 
disabilities at Adam Court which was delivered in partnership with KCC and to 
which the Council has an ongoing interest and involvement.  The 
implementation of the Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates for supported 
housing will be deferred by Government until 2019/2020 to align with the 
proposals set out in the consultation paper.

3.3. In essence, the new model will mean that core rent and service charges will be 
funded through Universal Credit (or Housing Benefit for pensioners) and will 
provide additional funding (devolved to local authorities) to provide a ‘top up’ 
where necessary to providers that reflect the higher costs of providing supported 
accommodation.

3.4. The Government has not set out the finer details of the new model but has set 
up a number of task and finish groups working with the sector on key design 
components of the model and designing a new approach for short term 
accommodation.

3.5. The proposals will be essentially adding another funding stream to the already 
complex models of supported housing funding. For some schemes the funding 
could involve LHA rent and service charges via universal credit, Supporting 
People contract funding, care funding or elements of personal budgets/direct 
payments, non-eligible service charges and the new top-up funding.



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

3.6. There is a concern that the allocation of funding might not accurately reflect 
need as every single supported housing rent and service charge will have to be 
accounted for, the top-up element pulled out and then aggregated by local 
authority to provide an indicative budget. A number of other broader concerns 
have been raised around the proposals; mainly to do with the shortfall in funding 
if LHA rates are applied and the effect this might have on vulnerable people.

3.7. Appendix A to the report sets out the Council’s suggested response to the 
consultation.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1. This report relates to the Corporate Plan strategic aim ‘to facilitate quality, 
choice and diversity in the housing market, to create strong and self-reliant 
communities and deliver high quality services to service users’.

5. Financial, legal, staffing & other administrative implications & risk assessments;

Financial Implications None as a direct result of the report.

Legal Implications
Public Sector Equality 
Duty
Crime and Disorder 
Duty

None as a direct result of this report.
The Government’s proposals will affect all tenants of 
supported housing.
None as a direct result of this report

Staffing Implications None as a direct result of the report.

Admin Implications None as a direct result of the report.

Risk Assessment There is a risk that insufficient funding will be made 
available to local authorities in terms of the ‘top up’ 
allowance as detailed in paragraph 3.3.  If this 
happens tenants could face a shortfall between LHA 
and rents and service charges.
There is little that can be done to directly mitigate this 
apart from responding to this consultation to highlight 
this fact.

6. Appendices

Appendix A – Supported Housing Consultation response.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author

          

Section and
Directorate 

Exempt
Information 
Category

Peter Dosad Housing Services,
Strategic

N/A



APPENDIX A

FUNDING FOR SUPPORTED HOUSING – CONSULTATION

Questions and suggested responses

Q1. The local top-up will be devolved to local authorities. Who should hold the funding; and, in two 
tier areas, should the upper tier authority hold the funding? 

The second tier local authority should hold the funding in two tier authorities so that it can set its 
own priorities and manage budgets more effectively.  There is a real concern that upper tier 
authorities will not understand the local picture or include sufficient funding for priority schemes in 
the local area. 

Q2. How should the funding model be designed to maximise the opportunities for local agencies to 
collaborate, encourage planning and commissioning across service boundaries, and ensure that 
different local commissioning bodies can have fair access to funding? 

See above – Allow second tier Local Authorities to commission their own services within their own 
boundaries.  This will promote further development of existing partnership arrangements with local 
charities and other agencies and will also foster good working relationships between all parties who 
have a local interest.  It’s important that these local agencies feel able to ‘buy in’ to the collective 
social responsibility of supporting our most vulnerable people.  With an ageing population, it’s 
imperative that second tier local authorities have a bigger say in respect of the commissioning of 
services in their area rather than the upper tier local authority making decisions without proper and 
due consultation.

Q3. How can we ensure that local allocation of funding by local authorities matches local need for 
supported housing across all client groups? 

Greater collaboration is needed.  Currently Upper tier authorities are not fully entering into dialogue 
with second tier LAs when important funding decisions are made. This is not acceptable – second tier 
LAs should be involved in the decision making process in accordance with their local needs. 

Q4. Do you think other funding protections for vulnerable groups, beyond the ring-fence, are 
needed to provide fair access to funding for all client groups, including those without existing 
statutory duties (including for example the case for any new statutory duties or any other sort of 
statutory provision)? 

Yes.  A large proportion of older people are supported only by family members and the low level 
background support provided by sheltered housing staff or age related and other charities.  These 
people may be eligible for statutory services but are unable to access them.  It’s vital that there is 
funding made available to continue the low level support provided by families and charities as well as 
other non-statutory service providers such as social housing and that this funding is locally 
administered.



Q5. What expectations should there be for local roles and responsibilities? What planning, 
commissioning and partnership and monitoring arrangements might be necessary, both nationally 
and locally? 

An expectation that all service providers are included in any commissioning plans, whether that 
commissioning is being planned by upper or second tier authorities.  

A forum should be created to allow for oversight, collective collaboration and service direction 
locally.  There is currently no such forum available. A national forum open to all providers should also 
be created to allow for a national consensus as currently each area decides its own priorities with the 
availability of support. 

Q6. For local authority respondents, what administrative impact and specific tasks might this new 
role involve for your local authority? 

Unclear at this stage, it is dependent on which authority will administer funding.  

Q7. We welcome your views on what features the new model should include to provide greater 
oversight and assurance to tax payers that supported housing services are providing value for 
money, are of good quality and are delivering outcomes for individual tenants? 

Rather than focussing on ‘move-on’ outcomes for short stay accommodation, in relation to sheltered 
housing for older more vulnerable people, measures should be put in place to quantify the savings 
generated for the NHS and social services by the preventative low level support services such as is 
being provided by sheltered housing providers.  Every adult being supported by these low level 
support services is one less likely to end up in hospital or needing a statutory service.  

There may be a case for making low level support services a statutory duty/function.

Q8. We are interested in your views on how to strike a balance between local flexibility and 
provider/developer certainty and simplicity. What features should the funding model have to 
provide greater certainty to providers and in particular, developers of new supply? 

Longer contracts: currently, some upper tier LAs issue annual contracts with one month break 
clauses.  This does not instil the confidence that service providers need to develop their services over 
the longer term and as their client’s needs change.  These support services must be continuously 
developed and improved, and as the nature of the service is preventative and acts as a filter for both 
the NHS and social services, it is one which is worth investing in.  Additionally, more freedom to 
include welfare activities and/or services in addition to the support service would be aspirational, as 
the current supporting people regime is very restrictive in terms of what can and cannot be provided.  
If we are looking to keep people independent in their own homes for as long as possible then we 
must also be interested in their welfare, as this impacts greatly upon their daily living skills and their 
need for care and health services.

Q9. Should there be a national statement of expectations or national commissioning framework 
within which local areas tailor their funding? 

Yes as it is vital that the UK as a whole is providing the same levels of support regardless of area.  



Q10. The Government wants a smooth transition to the new funding arrangement on 1 April 2019. 
What transitional arrangements might be helpful in supporting the transition to the new regime? 

Ensure that upper tier local authorities allocate sufficient funding to enable the existing support 
services to continue during the interim period, between 01/04/2017-31/03/2019.    If the current 
support services continue to be funded this will allow a smoother transition to the new funding 
arrangements as that service will still be in place when the new funding model applies.  Allowing 
upper tier funding authorities to withdraw all funding for support from 01/04/2017 will result in most 
if not all of the existing services being withdrawn and in that case, there won’t be any transition as 
new services will have to be commissioned to start from 01/04/2019. This would not be cost effective 
and will be disruptive.

Q11. Do you have any other views about how the local top-up model can be designed to ensure it 
works for tenants, commissioners, providers and developers? 

Ensure the low level support services currently being provided, and which are keeping people out of 
A&E and away from statutory services, are valued at their worth. Should all the low level support 
services disappear from lack of funding, as is likely from 01/04/2017, then this will have a significant 
impact on NHS and social services.

Q12. We welcome your views on how emergency and short term accommodation should be defined 
and how funding should be provided outside Universal Credit. How should funding be provided for 
tenants in these situations? 

There should be a separate pot of ring-fenced money, held and administered by local authority 
homeless teams in each second tier LA which would allow for immediate access to funding in 
emergency situations. Homeless teams should be able to assess each applicant against an agreed 
criteria before placing them in either emergency or short term accommodation.





CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

PROPOSAL FOR PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER

Town Ward. 

1. Summary

1.1 This report sets out a proposal to implement Part 4, Section 59 of the Anti-
Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 to make a Public Spaces 
Protection Order (PSPO), to supress the growing incidents of crime and anti-
social behaviour occurring principally during the night – time economy hours in 
Dartford Town Centre. 

1.2 This report also proposes that the existing Town Centre Designated Public 
Place Order is replaced by the PSPO. There no other relevant orders within the 
proposed area.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That on being satisfied that the anti-social behaviour activities detailed in 
paras.3.15 and 3.16 of the report are having, or be likely to have, a detrimental 
effect on the quality of life of those in the locality, are persistent or continuing 
nature and unreasonable, the Strategic Director (External Services) be 
authorised to commence the statutory consultation to enable the Council to 
make a Public Spaces Protection Order prohibiting anti-social behaviour 
associated with the consumption of alcohol, misuse of substances and 
associated vehicle nuisance on terms set out in Appendix A to the report to 
apply to specific areas of Dartford Town Centre as shown on the Map at 
Appendix B.

2.2 That, should recommendation 2.1 be approved, a second report be presented 
to Cabinet which takes into account the outcome of the consultation process 
with a view to seeking authority for the Head of Legal Services to make the 
Public Spaces Protection Order for a period of three years.

2.3 That it be noted that the extant Designated Public Place Protection Order will 
expire on the making of the Public Spaces Protection Order.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Section 59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, 
came into effect in October 2014, and allows local authorities to 
introduce Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPOs) to tackle anti-
social behaviour.

A PSPO is intended to deal with a particular nuisance or problem in a 
particular area that is detrimental to the local community’s qualify of 
life, by imposing conditions on the use of that area which apply to 
everyone. A PSPO is designed to ensure the law-abiding majority can 
use and enjoy public spaces, safe from anti-social behaviour.



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

3.2. The Council can make a PSPO on any public space within its area. 
The definition of public space is wide and includes any place to which 
the public or any section of the public has access, on payment or 
otherwise, as of right or by virtue of express or implied permission, for 
example a shopping centre.

3.3. A public place may be designated by a PSPO, if the local authority is 
satisfied that specified behaviour is having, or is likely to have, a 
detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality; is 
persistent or continuing in nature; is unreasonable and justifies the 
restrictions imposed.

3.4. Rather than the generic term ‘anti-social behaviour’, which is generally 
considered as behaviour which causes alarm and distress, or is 
repetitive so to cause harassment, the Act allows authorities to specify 
the particular behaviour to be prohibited or restricted by the PSPO.

3.5. In addition to prohibiting/restricting certain behaviour, the Act also 
allows authorities to specify certain ‘required behaviours,’ which must 
be complied with. An example of ‘prohibited’ and ‘required’ behaviours 
interlinking would be a PSPO to tackle dog fouling; which could prohibit 
owners from leaving dog waste, as well as a positive requirement that 
owners must carry a bag for collecting waste and present this when 
asked to do so by an officer.

3.6. The legislation allows for PSPOs to replace designated public place 
orders, dog control orders and gating orders.  The Council has in place 
a designated public place order (DPPO) which covers part of the town 
centre, Central Park and the area around the War Memorial. It is 
proposed that these areas be incorporated within the area of the 
proposed PSPO such that the DPPO expires upon commencement of 
the PSPO. There are neither dog controls nor gating orders in place 
within the proposed PSPO designated area.

3.7. The Community Safety Unit (CSU) has become aware of anti-social 
behaviour and the anti-social use of vehicles within Dartford Town 
Centre. CCTV footage shows large groups of young people, who are 
normally associated with a vehicle, gathering, and engaging in anti-
social behaviour which has been particularly prevalent in Westgate Car 
Park, Kent Road. Typically, the behaviour manifests itself in the taking 
of intoxicating substances, which may or may not be prohibited. In 
many instances, the ingestion or supply of the substances takes place 
within or from vehicles which are parked within the car park. Both 
evidence and intelligence suggests that a number of the perpetrators 
are not resident within the Borough but rather travel to Dartford from 
neighbouring London Boroughs once night clubs in their locality have 
closed.

3.8. This behaviour has led to a concerning rise in the level of street 
violence in the vicinity, both in terms of propensity and significance.  As 
a result of this escalation, Kent Police have been required to deploy 
additional officers in an effort to quell the disorder. Both CCTV and 



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

documentary evidence confirm and support the existence of anti-social 
behaviour, a summary of which can be found in Appendix A to the 
report. One particular incident was captured on social media which 
subsequently received more than 80,000 views within days of its 
occurrence. It is not unreasonable to conclude that the cumulative 
effect of this behaviour and the subsequent media coverage has 
resulted in the threshold for introducing a PSPO being met. 

3.9. The current increase in policing levels aimed at countering the rise in 
violence, whilst welcome and necessary is unlikely to be sustained 
over the medium or long term. In addition, it is worth noting that whilst 
there is a temporal symmetry with the Dartford Town Centre’s night-
time economy profile, this behaviour cannot, in the main, be attributed 
to breaches of licensing conditions by Town Centre clubs and pubs. 
The behaviour takes place within the public spaces of the Town making 
licensing law not appropriate for enforcement. The PSPO is therefore 
regarded as an important step in making Dartford Town Centre more 
resilient to this type of behaviour.

3.10. As stated above, part of the Town Centre, including Central Park and 
the area around the War Memorial, are covered by a DPPO. This 
DPPO will lapse in October 2017 if not replaced by, or incorporated 
into, a PSPO. To lose those provisions would be highly detrimental to 
the town centre environment, and it is to be noted therefore that the 
proposed PSPO area incorporates the current DPPO. The draft PSPO 
additionally seeks to address behaviours which are unacceptable in 
any public open space but particularly so in the vicinity of the War 
Memorial e.g. urinating or defecating in public and swearing; such 
disrespectful behaviour prompting anger and also distress in others. 
Although the anti-social behaviour at the two locations (Central 
Park/War Memorial and Westgate car park) differs, the range/nature of 
the anti-social behaviour is damaging to the local community. 
Furthermore, it is believed that should the PSPO only focus on the car 
park, then there is a high risk of displacement occurring, which, when it 
occurs will not only fail to deal with the behaviour but also undermine 
the credibility of the PSPO. Legislation allows for the amendment of 
PSPOs and so, creating a single Order which covers the town centre 
area and which incorporates existing provisions will bring both clarity to 
the community and the ability to respond to other types of anti-social 
behaviour in the future by means of an PSPO amendment. The 
legitimacy of this approach, which has been used elsewhere, will be 
tested by the consultation process.

3.11. The Westgate Car Park, Kent Road is subject to a Council Off - Street 
Parking Places Order 2016. There is no duplication between the 
conditions of the 2016 Order, which remains in place, and that of the 
proposed PSPO.

3.12. The PSPO is designed to stop individuals or groups committing anti-
social behaviour in a public space. It can apply at all times; or a 
specified time; or all times except a period specified. It can apply in all 
circumstances; or in specified circumstances.



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

3.13. The Council must consult with the Police, the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and other relevant bodies prior to making the PSPO. 
Police consultation should be carried out through the Chief Officer for 
the force responsible for the area, although details could be agreed by 
working-level leads. This is an opportunity for the Police and Council to 
share information about the area and the problems being caused as 
well as discuss the practicalities of enforcement.  Kent County Council 
as highway authority will also be consulted.

3.14. The Council must also consult with whatever community 
representatives it deems appropriate. This could be a group such as a 
residents association, or a group of individuals such as users of a park. 
Before the PSPO is made, the Council must also publish the draft 
PSPO in accordance with the legislation. 

3.15. Consultation will be carried out in accordance with the Council’s 
Consultation and Engagement Strategy Toolkit. The feedback received 
from the Consultation will be collated by the Community Safety Unit 
and will inform the final recommendations to Cabinet regarding the 
conditions and implementation of the PSPO.  

3.16. The draft consultation questionnaire is to be found at Appendix D. If the 
recommendations in this report are approved, the questionnaire will be 
professionally formatted and made available as both an online and 
printed document.

3.17. A PSPO can be appealed in the High Court by anyone who lives in, 
regularly works in, or visits the area the PSPO affects. This appeal 
must take place within six weeks of the PSPO being made. The 
grounds for such a challenge are constrained by the legislation. 

3.18. Enforcement of the PSPO will normally be carried out by Police 
Officers, Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) and [Council] 
Officers under delegated authority. They will use discretion in the 
exercise of this power. A Police Officer, PCSO, or other authorised 
officer may issue a penalty notice for breaching the PSPO, or 
prosecute in the Magistrates’ Court. If convicted, a fine of up to £100 
may be imposed. 

3.19. The CSU recommends the making of a Public Spaces Protection Order 
which will prohibit a range of behaviours evidenced over the past 
months within the Town Centre. It will also absorb the current DPPO 
which operates across the Town Centre. Such a change is specifically 
catered for within the legislation. The aim will be to maintain existing 
controls on anti-social behaviour caused by street drinking and 
additionally reduce the anti-social behaviour emanating from vehicles 
and their occupants that appear to loiter in the Town Centre for no 
discernible reason. The behaviours that will be prohibited/restricted are 
detailed in draft PSPO at Appendix A to the report. The area of land 
affected by the PSPO is shown on the Order Map at Appendix B to the 
report. 



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The proposal supports the Corporate Plan by contributing to the 
creation of an environment that makes Dartford the place of quality and 
choice, a place where people choose to live, work and enjoy their 
leisure time.

Safer Communities: To create a safer Borough in which to live, work 
and socialise.

SC1: To use the Council’s statutory functions to ensure public safety 
in the Borough.

SC2: To reduce anti-social behaviour

SC3: To increase public perception of the borough as a safe place

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications The cost of this initiative will be approximately 
£3,000. It includes the provision of signs in the 
designated area and the cost of notices for the 
consultation process. The cost will be funded 
from the Community Safety Budget.
Whilst the intention of the PSPO is not to raise 
revenue but to solve the current disorder 
problem, some costs may be offset by money 
raised through enforcement as any income from 
fines levied will be credited to the Council.

Legal Implications

 

Equality Duty

Crime & Disorder

In establishing which restrictions or requirements 
should be included, the Council should ensure 
that the measures are necessary to prevent the 
detrimental effect on those in the locality or 
reduce the likelihood of the detrimental effect 
continuing, occurring or recurring.

The consultation process does not adversely 
impact on any particular protected characteristic 
group. The impact of the PSPO will be 
considered once the consultation has been 
completed, so that the feedback can be taken 
into account. A Customer Access Review will be 
undertaken following consultation and prior to 
making the PSPO.

The duty placed on the Council to consider crime 
and disorder is one of the main factors in 
considering both the consultation and making of 
a PSPO.

Staffing Implications Enforcement can be carried out by Police 
Officers, Authorised Police Community Support 



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

Officers and [Council] Officers under delegated 
authority. Additionally, outsourcing the 
enforcement to an appropriate third party 
organisation is an option, although this will 
require specific delegations before 
implementation.  

As a breach of a PSPO can be dealt with by way 
of Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs), these will have 
to be designed and printed. Furthermore, given 
that the proposals include the issuing of FPNs, 
there will be administrative implications within the 
organisation to support the case work that will be 
generated from effective enforcement. There are 
a number of options that could be considered in 
order to meet this increase in demand should 
Cabinet authorise the commencement of 
consultation on this PSPO. Final proposals will 
be included in the further report to Cabinet at the 
conclusion of the consultation.

Administrative Implications As staffing Implications 

Risk Assessment There is no uncertainty or overt risk to the council 
in conducting the consultation exercise, other 
than reputation of the council should the 
consultation exercise raise community 
expectation only for the PSPO application to fail 
to materialise.
The risk afforded by implementing the PSPO will 
only be able to be accurately assessed once the 
results of the consultation have been collated 
and assessed.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Draft Public Spaces Protection Order 
Appendix B - Public Spaces Protection Order Map 
Appendix C - Incidents in Westgate Cark Park, Kent Road from CCTV 
log
Appendix D – Consultation Questionnaire



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Anti-Social Behaviour Crime 
and Policing Act 2014

11.11.16 Tony Henley
(01322) 343502

Enforcement 
Regulatory 
Services (EAR's) 
Strategic

N/A





CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

Appendix A

PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 2016 – DARTFORD TOWN 
CENTRE

Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 

1. Notice is hereby given that Dartford Borough Council ("the Council") hereby 
makes the following Public Spaces Protection Order under section 59 of the Anti-
social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (“the Act"). The Council has 
complied with the statutory requirements of Section 72 of the Act and undertaken 
the necessary consultation.

2. The Order may be cited as The Dartford Borough Council Public Spaces 
Protection Order - Dartford Town Centre.

3. The Order takes effect on [date to be inserted following assessment of 
consultation responses] and will remain in force for three years thereafter.

4. This Order applies to the land described in Schedule 1 (“the Restricted Area”) and 
as shown edged red on the attached plan (“the Order Plan”).

5. The effect of the Order is to prohibit and/or restrict the activities listed in this Order 
and to impose specific positive requirements.

6. The Council is satisfied that the activities listed in this Order have been carried out 
within the Restricted Area and that they have a detrimental effect on the quality of 
life of those in the locality. The effect of the activities is of a persistent or 
continuing nature and is such as to make the activities unreasonable and justifies 
the prohibitions, restrictions and requirements imposed by this Order.

7. Intoxicating substances

‘intoxicating substances’ means substances with the capacity to stimulate or 
depress the central nervous system (i.e. illegal drugs or psychoactive substances 
(the latter being commonly referred to as ‘legal highs’)

Exemptions will apply in cases where the substances are used for a valid and 
demonstrable medicinal use (human and animal), including prescription 
medication, are cigarettes (tobacco) or vaporisers or are food stuffs regulated by 
food and/or health and safety legislation.

i. Persons within the Restricted Area will not ingest, inhale, inject, smoke, process 
or otherwise use intoxicating substances. 

ii. Persons within the Restricted Area will not have in their possession any open 
containers of intoxicating substances. 

iii.Persons within the Restricted Area will not have any item that can be used to 
assist in the taking of intoxicating substances. This includes any device for 



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

smoking substances other than e-cigarettes and needles (save for those 
packaged and sealed by the manufacturer and stored in a hard case). 

iv.Persons within the Restricted Area will not sell or supply intoxicating 
substances. 

8. Use of motor vehicles

‘highway’ has the meaning given by section 328 of the Highways Act 1980

'motor vehicle' means a mechanically propelled vehicle, intended or adapted for 
use on roads as defined in Section 185(1) of the Road Traffic Act 1988 and 
Section 136(1) of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 

‘keeper’ in relation to a motor vehicle means the person by whom the vehicle is 
kept at the time when the offence in question occurs, which in the case of a 
registered vehicle is to be presumed, unless the contrary is proved, to be the 
registered keeper

‘registered keeper’ in relation to a registered vehicle, means the person in whose 
name the vehicle is registered

‘registered vehicle’ means a motor vehicle which is for the time being is 
registered under the Vehicle Excise and Registration Act 1994

Exemptions will apply to service vehicles for the purpose of maintenance and 
repair of the Restricted Area, mobility vehicles being used by disabled persons, 
disabled blue badge holders and to persons with lawful permission to use any 
part(s) of the Restricted Area.

i. Persons will not enter the Restricted Area in motor vehicles between the 
hours of 8p.m and 6a.m Monday to Sunday for the purpose of engaging in 
motor vehicle displaying and racing.

ii. Persons will not gather in the Restricted Area with others between the hours 
of 8p.m and 6a.m Monday to Sunday for the purpose of preparing motor 
vehicles for racing or preparing motor vehicles for displaying or racing.

iii.Persons will not attend or gather in the Restricted Area between the hours of 
8p.m and 6a.m Monday to Sunday for the purpose of watching motor vehicles 
being displayed or raced.

iv.Persons will not congregate and loiter in groups and engage in behaviour 
which is likely to cause harassment, alarm or distress between the hours of 
8p.m and 6a.m. Monday to Sunday. 

v. Any person being a keeper will not perform any of the following activities in 
the Restricted Area between the hours of 8p.m and 6a.m Monday to Sunday:

(a) revving of engine(s) (as to cause a nuisance);

(b) repeated sudden and rapid acceleration (as to cause a nuisance);



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

(c) racing;

(d) performing stunts (as to cause a nuisance);

(e) sounding horns (as to cause a  nuisance);

(f) playing music in a motor vehicle (as to cause a  nuisance);

(g) using threatening, intimidating behaviour towards another person.

9. Alcohol

At all times, persons will not consume alcohol or have an open alcohol 
container in the Restricted Area, unless subject to the exemptions listed in 
Schedule 2.

10. Other forms of anti-social behaviour

At all times, persons will not in the Restricted Area:

i. litter;

ii. urinate or defecate (unless in a toilet facility);

iii.swear, shout, or act in a threatening manner;

iv.act in a manner that is causing or is likely to cause, harassment, alarm or 
distress.

11. This Order imposes the following positive requirements:

‘authorised officer (s)’ means a police officer, police community support officer 
or an authorised Council officer

Persons within the Restricted Area will, on the request of an authorised 
officer(s):

i. surrender any open containers of intoxicating substances in their 
possession; 

ii. surrender to the authorised officer(s) any item used to assist in the taking of 
intoxicating substances and comply immediately with the authorised 
officer(s) reasonable request to secure safe disposal of any needles in their 
possession not sealed and stored, as referred to in paragraph 7(iii.) above;

iii.cease and remove any obstruction from the highway, whether moving or 
stationary, including driving in convoy;

(iv) cease consuming alcohol (or anything which the authorised officer(s) 
reasonably believes to be alcohol) and surrender to the authorised 
officer(s), any open containers of alcohol in their possession.

12. Offences

i. Failure, without reasonable excuse, to comply with a prohibition or 



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

restriction imposed by paragraphs 7, 8, 9 and 10 or to comply with a 
requirement of an authorised officer(s) under paragraphs 11.i, 11.ii and 
11.iii of this Order, is a summary offence under Section 67 of the Act.  A 
person guilty of an offence under Section 67 is liable on summary 
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale, or, if in 
receipt of a Fixed Penalty Notice, to a penalty of a maximum of £100.00.

ii. Failure to comply with a requirement of an authorised officer(s) under 
paragraph 11.iv of this Order, is a summary offence under section 63 of the 
Act.  A person guilty of an offence under Section 63 is liable on summary 
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard scale or, if in 
receipt of a Fixed Penalty Notice, to a penalty of a maximum of £100.00.

The Common Seal of The Dartford Borough Council 

was hereunto affixed in the presence of:

Head of Legal Services 

Made this xxx day of xx 2017

SCHEDULE 1 – Restricted Area

The land to which this Order applies includes the following:

Dartford Town Centre, including Westgate Multi-storey Car Park and [insert names 
of streets/roads]

ORDER MAP

[insert]

SCHEDULE 2

1. The prohibition on alcohol in paragraph 9 of this Order does not apply to:

(a) Premises (other than council-operated licensed premises) authorised by a 
premises licence to be used for the supply of alcohol;

(b) Premises authorised by a club premises certificate to be used by the club for 
the supply of alcohol;

(c) A place within the curtilage of premises within paragraph (a) or (b);
(d) Premises which by virtue of Pt 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 may at the relevant 

time be used for the supply of alcohol or which, by virtue of that Part, could 
have been so used within 30 minutes before that time;

(e) A place where facilities or activities relating to the sale or consumption of 
alcohol are at the relevant time permitted by virtue of a permission granted 
under s115 of the Highways Act 1980 (highway-related uses).



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

2. The prohibition on alcohol in paragraph 9 of this Order does not apply to 
council-operated licensed premises or land:

(a) When the premises or land are being used for the supply of alcohol; or
(b) Within 30 minutes of the end of a period during which the premises have been 

used for the supply of alcohol.
 

CHALLENGING THE VALIDITY OF THE ORDER

“interested person” means an individual who lives in the Restricted Area or who 
regularly works in or visits the Restricted Area

An interested person may apply to the High Court to question the validity of –

(a) this Order, or

(b) a future variation of this Order.

An interested person may apply to the High Court within six weeks from the date on 
which the Order is made, on the grounds that:

(a) the Council did not have the power to make the Order or variation, or to include 
particular prohibitions, restrictions or requirements imposed by the Order (or by 
the Order as varied);

(b) a requirement under Chapter 2 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 
Act 2014 was not complied with in relation to the Order or variation.





CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

Appendix B

Public Space Protection Order - Map





CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

Appendix C

Incidents in Westgate Cark Park, Kent Road from CCTV log 

17.7.16 03:01 Group of males using drugs in car park
23.7.16 03:10 Fight in car park
6.8.16 03:12 Group of males gathering for a large fight, info from Air & Breathe 

security.
6.8.16 04:02 Air & Breathe security have seen two men with a knife and a cosh in 

the car park.
14.8.16 02:27 Air & Breathe security state 20+ fighting outside the club.
14.8.16 03:00 Fight in car park.
20.8.16 00:34 Range Rover seen dealing drugs in car park.
21.8.16 03:16 Corsa van known for supplying drugs in town parked in car park.
3.9.16 02:56 Male ejected from Air and Breathe goes to car in car park and returns 

with a bottle -  believed to be used as a weapon.
4.9.16 Corsa van known for supplying drugs in town parked in car park.
4.9.16 03:01 Fight in car park.
10.9.16 00:17 Dark coloured car occupants taking Nitrous Oxide.
10.9.16 02:45 3 males arrested for assault in car park.
17.9.16 02:00 Fight in car park
17.9.16 04:00 Large fight in car park with baseball bats being used.
24.9.16 02:57 Disturbance in Kent Road & car park.
1.10.16 03:00 Dark Car with numerous persons supplying and using white powder 

and cannabis in car park.
2.10.17 00:57 Vauxhall Corsa seen apparently supplying by car park Orchard Street.





Dartford Borough Council     APPENDIX D

Proposal for Public Spaces 
Protection Order in 

Dartford Town Centre

Questionnaire

Visit:  dartford.gov.uk  



Public Spaces Protection Order in Dartford Consultation

 
Dartford Borough Council is consulting on a proposed Public Spaces Protection 
Order or an area of Dartford  known as Dartford Town Centre. The area takes in the 
main retail part of the town, along with the Central Park Area (see outlined area of 
map below). This will allow the Council to introduce a range of measures to address 
anti-social behaviour issues and help improve public spaces in this area.

The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014  provides for simpler, more 
effective powers to tackle anti-social behaviour that provide better protection for 
victims and communities. One of the powers introduced is the Public Space 
Protection Order (PSPO). 

 
A PSPO allows local authorities to tackle anti-social behaviour happening in public 
places such as car parks, parks, streets, recreation grounds and play areas. It can 
be used to tackle behaviour that most reasonable people would think is not 
appropriate in a public place – for example, behaviour associated with drinking 
alcohol, littering, public urination and intimidating behaviour. Everyone should be 
able to enjoy and make use of the public spaces in the Borough responsibly and 
without causing a nuisance to other people.  A breach of a PSPO is an offence 
which is punishable by a fine in the form of a fixed penalty notice or prosecution 
through the Magistrates’ Court.  A PSPO can be enforced by Police Officers, Police 
Community Support Officers, and authorised Local Authority Officers, such as Park 
Rangers.

The Council has become aware of anti-social behaviour and the anti-social use of 
vehicles within Dartford Town Centre, specifically in some of the Town Centre car 
parks. In addition, the Council wishes to continue to confront anti-social behaviour 
related to drinking alcohol in public places.

The Council believes that a PSPO for the Town Centre that curbs both these types 
of behaviors will help provide an environment 
where law abiding people feel safe to enjoy their town. In the meantime, 
the Council wants to hear the views of residents, visitors and businesses within the 
area that will be affected by the PSPO.

We’d like your views, so please complete this questionnaire by XXXX 
2017 and return it to: Public Spaces Protection Order consultation, Civic 
Centre Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1DR or email: xxxxx.

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/anti-social-behaviour-crime-and-police-bill




How to complete this questionnaire

- Please use a black pen.

- Please read each question carefully and cross a box to indicate your 
answer, for example X

- If you make a mistake, just shade in the box and put a cross in the one 
you want.

- Some questions may ask you to write in a box. Please try to keep your 
answer within the space provided.

- If there are any questions you do not wish to answer, please feel free to 
leave them blank.

- Once you have completed the questionnaire, please return it   by 
xxxxxxxxx 2017.

If you are under 16, you will need the signature of a parent/guardian. 
Please see Q16 at the end of the questionnaire.

Accessing Dartford Council information and Services

If you or anybody you know requires this or any 
other council information in another language, 
please contact us and we will do our best to 
provide this for you. Braille, Audio tape and large 
print versions of this document are available upon 
request. 

Tel: 01322 343434
Fax: 01322 343432
Email: customer.services@dartford.gov.uk

Calls are welcome via NGT Relay

mailto:customer.services@dartford.gov.uk


1. Are you responding as a...? Please cross all that apply.

Local resident who lives in the outlined area shown on the map 

Local resident who lives outside the outlined area shown on the map 

Person who works in the outlined area shown on the map

Local business owner/manager

Visitor to the outlined area shown on the map (e.g. tourist, on business, shopper) 

Local Borough, Town or Parish Councillor

Representative of a local community or voluntary group 
(please state the name of the group and postcode below)

Other (please state below)

2. How often do you visit the outlined area of Dartford shown on the 
map? Please cross only one option.

I live in the outlined area shown on the map 

Almost every day

At least once a week 

About once a month 

Within the last six months

Within the last year

Longer ago

I have never visited this area of Dartford



9215287868

3a. How safe or unsafe do you feel when outside DURING THE DAY in the outlined 
area of Dartford shown on the map? Please cross only one option.

Very safe 

Fairly safe

Neither safe nor unsafe 

Fairly unsafe

Very unsafe 

Don't know

Not here during the day

If you answered 'fairly unsafe' or 'very unsafe' please tell us the reasons why

3b. How safe or unsafe do you feel when outside AFTER DARK in the outlined area 
of Dartford shown on the map? Please cross only one option.

Very safe 

Fairly safe

Neither safe nor unsafe

Fairly unsafe

Very unsafe

Don't know

Not here after dark

If you answered 'fairly unsafe' or 'very unsafe' please tell us the reasons why



3090287863

4. How much of a problem, if at all, do you think each of the following are to people living 
in, working in or visiting the outlined area of Dartford shown on the map?
Please cross one answer on each row.

People being drunk or rowdy  in 
public spaces (e.g. parks and 
streets)

Very big 
problem

Fairly big 
problem

Not a big 
problem

Not a 
problem at 

all

Don't 
know/not 
applicable

People using legal highs and 
behaving erratically in public

People urinating/defecating in public

   People sitting in parked cars and 
playing loud music at night

   People loitering around parked 
   cars in car parks at night

Cars racing in car parks or 
otherwise causing a nuisance 
at night

Other - please write in the box below



5166287869

 

PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 2016 – DARTFORD TOWN CENTRE
Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 

1. Notice is hereby given that Dartford Borough Council ("the Council") hereby makes the following Public 
Spaces Protection Order under section 59 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 
(“the Act"). The Council has complied with the statutory requirements of Section 72 of the Act and 
undertaken the necessary consultation.

2. The Order may be cited as The Dartford Borough Council Public Spaces Protection Order - Dartford 
Town Centre.

3. The Order takes effect on [date to be inserted following assessment of consultation responses] and will 
remain in force for three years thereafter.

4. This Order applies to the land described in Schedule 1 (“the Restricted Area”) and as shown edged red 
on the attached plan (“the Order Plan”).

5. The effect of the Order is to prohibit and/or restrict the activities listed in this Order and to impose 
specific positive requirements.

6. The Council is satisfied that the activities listed in this Order have been carried out within the Restricted 
Area and that they have a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality. The effect of the 
activities is of a persistent or continuing nature and is such as to make the activities unreasonable and 
justifies the prohibitions, restrictions and requirements imposed by this Order.

7. Intoxicating substances

‘intoxicating substances’ means substances with the capacity to stimulate or depress the central 
nervous system (i.e. illegal drugs or psychoactive substances (the latter being commonly referred to as 
‘legal highs’)

Exemptions will apply in cases where the substances are used for a valid and demonstrable 
medicinal use (human and animal), including prescription medication, are cigarettes (tobacco) 
or vaporisers or are food stuffs regulated by food and/or health and safety legislation.

i. Persons within the Restricted Area will not ingest, inhale, inject, smoke, process or otherwise 
use intoxicating substances. 

ii. Persons within the Restricted Area will not have in their possession any open containers of 
intoxicating substances. 

iii.Persons within the Restricted Area will not have any item that can be used to assist in the 
taking of intoxicating substances. This includes any device for smoking substances other than 
e-cigarettes and needles (save for those packaged and sealed by the manufacturer and stored 
in a hard case). 

 5. The next 3 pages outline the proposed Public Spaces Protection Order for Dartford Town Centre 



2619287869

 iv. Persons within the Restricted Area will not sell or supply intoxicating substances. 

8. Use of motor vehicles

‘highway’ has the meaning given by section 328 of the Highways Act 1980

'motor vehicle' means a mechanically propelled vehicle, intended or adapted for use on roads as 
defined in Section 185(1) of the Road Traffic Act 1988 and Section 136(1) of the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984 

‘keeper’ in relation to a motor vehicle means the person by whom the vehicle is kept at the time when 
the offence in question occurs, which in the case of a registered vehicle is to be presumed, unless the 
contrary is proved, to be the registered keeper

‘registered keeper’ in relation to a registered vehicle, means the person in whose name the vehicle is 
registered

‘registered vehicle’ means a motor vehicle which is for the time being is registered under the Vehicle 
Excise and Registration Act 1994

Exemptions will apply to service vehicles for the purpose of maintenance and repair of the Restricted 
Area, mobility vehicles being used by disabled persons, disabled blue badge holders and to persons 
with lawful permission to use any part(s) of the Restricted Area.

i. Persons will not enter the Restricted Area in motor vehicles between the hours of 8p.m and 6a.m 
Monday to Sunday for the purpose of engaging in motor vehicle displaying and racing.

ii. Persons will not gather in the Restricted Area with others between the hours of 8p.m and 6a.m 
Monday to Sunday for the purpose of preparing motor vehicles for racing or preparing motor 
vehicles for displaying or racing.

iii. Persons will not attend or gather in the Restricted Area between the hours of 8p.m and 6a.m 
Monday to Sunday for the purpose of watching motor vehicles being displayed or raced.

iv. Persons will not congregate and loiter in groups and engage in behaviour which is likely to cause 
harassment, alarm or distress between the hours of 8p.m and 6a.m. Monday to Sunday. 

v. Any person being a keeper will not perform any of the following activities in the Restricted Area 
between the hours of 8p.m and 6a.m Monday to Sunday:

(a) revving of engine(s) (as to cause a nuisance);

(b) repeated sudden and rapid acceleration (as to cause a nuisance);

(c) racing;

(d) performing stunts (as to cause a nuisance);



8443287860

 
(e) sounding horns (as to cause a  nuisance);

(f) playing music in a motor vehicle (as to cause a  nuisance);

(g) using threatening, intimidating behaviour towards another person.

9. Alcohol

At all times, persons will not consume alcohol or have an open alcohol container in the Restricted 
Area, unless subject to the exemptions listed in Schedule 2.

10. Other forms of anti-social behaviour

At all times, persons will not in the Restricted Area:

i. litter;

ii. urinate or defecate (unless in a toilet facility);

iii. swear, shout, or act in a threatening manner;

iv. act in a manner that is causing or is likely to cause, harassment, alarm or distress.

11. This Order imposes the following positive requirements:

‘authorised officer (s)’ means a police officer, police community support officer or an authorised 
Council officer

Persons within the Restricted Area will, on the request of an authorised officer(s):

i. surrender any open containers of intoxicating substances in their possession; 

ii. surrender to the authorised officer(s) any item used to assist in the taking of intoxicating 
substances and comply immediately with the authorised officer(s) reasonable request to secure 
safe disposal of any needles in their possession not sealed and stored, as referred to in 
paragraph 7(iii.) above;

iii. cease and remove any obstruction from the highway, whether moving or stationary, including 
driving in convoy;

(iv) cease consuming alcohol (or anything which the authorised officer(s) reasonably believes to be 
alcohol) and surrender to the authorised officer(s), any open containers of alcohol in their 
possession.

12. Offences

Failure, without reasonable excuse, to comply with a prohibition or restriction imposed by paragraphs 7, 8, 
9 and 10 or to comply with a requirement of an authorised officer(s) under paragraphs 11.i, 11.ii and 11.iii 
of this Order, is a summary offence under Section 67 of the Act.  A person guilty of an offence under 
Section 67 is liable on summary



8443287860

i. conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale, or, if in receipt of a Fixed Penalty 
Notice, to a penalty of a maximum of £100.00.

ii. Failure to comply with a requirement of an authorised officer(s) under paragraph 11.iv of this 
Order, is a summary offence under section 63 of the Act.  A person guilty of an offence under 
Section 63 is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard scale 
or, if in receipt of a Fixed Penalty Notice, to a penalty of a maximum of £100.00.

The Common Seal of The Dartford Borough Council 

was hereunto affixed in the presence of:

Head of Legal Services 

Made this xxx day of xx 2017

SCHEDULE 1 – Restricted Area

The land to which this Order applies includes the following:

Dartford Town Centre, including Westgate Multi-storey Car Park and [insert names of streets/roads]

ORDER MAP

[insert]

SCHEDULE 2

1. The prohibition on alcohol in paragraph 9 of this Order does not apply to:

(a) Premises (other than council-operated licensed premises) authorised by a premises licence to be 
used for the supply of alcohol;

(b) Premises authorised by a club premises certificate to be used by the club for the supply of alcohol;
(c) A place within the curtilage of premises within paragraph (a) or (b);
(d) Premises which by virtue of Pt 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 may at the relevant time be used for the 

supply of alcohol or which, by virtue of that Part, could have been so used within 30 minutes before 
that time;

(e) A place where facilities or activities relating to the sale or consumption of alcohol are at the relevant 
time permitted by virtue of a permission granted under s115 of the Highways Act 1980 (highway-
related uses).

2. The prohibition on alcohol in paragraph 9 of this Order does not apply to council-operated licensed 
premises or land:

(a) When the premises or land are being used for the supply of alcohol; or
(b) Within 30 minutes of the end of a period during which the premises have been used for the supply 

of alcohol.
 

 



8443287860

 CHALLENGING THE VALIDITY OF THE ORDER

“interested person” means an individual who lives in the Restricted Area or who regularly works in or visits 
the Restricted Area

An interested person may apply to the High Court to question the validity of –

(a) this Order, or

(b) a future variation of this Order.

An interested person may apply to the High Court within six weeks from the date on which the Order is 
made, on the grounds that:

(a) the Council did not have the power to make the Order or variation, or to include particular prohibitions, 
restrictions or requirements imposed by the Order (or by the Order as varied);

(b) a requirement under Chapter 2 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 was not 
complied with in relation to the Order or variation.



8443287860

6a.Do you support the use of the Public Spaces Protection Order as outlined within the area of 
Dartford Town as shown on the map?

Please cross only one option.

Yes No Don't know

7b. Please say why

Q8. Do you have any other comments regarding the Public Spaces Protection Order?



1480287864

Q9. What is your postcode?

Q10. Are you? Please cross one option only.

Male Female

Q11b. Is this the gender you were born into? Please cross one option only.

Yes No

Q12. Age group: Please cross one option only.

I am under 16 Signature of 

parent/guardian:

16-24 25-34 35-44

45-64 65-74 75+

About You

The following questions are to help us understand how a Public Spaces Protection Order 
would impact different groups of people. You can leave blank any of the questions that 
you do not want to answer. We do not need your name, and we will keep all of your 
information secure and strictly confidential.

Note: If you are answering on behalf of a local community or voluntary group, then you 
don’t need to complete this section.



0696287862

13a. Are your day to day activities limited because of a health problem or 
disability which has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months? 
This includes problems related to old age. Please cross one option only.

Yes No

13b. Please tell us about any disabilities that you may have. Please cross all that apply.

Physical impairment that causes mobility issues (for example, wheelchair user)

Learning disability or difficulty 

Visual impairment

Mental health 

Hearing impairment

Long standing illness or health condition

Other, please tell us below

14.What is your religion? Please cross one option only.

Christian Buddhist Hindu

Jewish 

None

Muslim Sikh

Prefer not to say

Other (please state below)

15. Are you? Please cross one option only.

Heterosexual / Straight Gay or Lesbian Bisexual

Prefer not to say Other (please state below)



1680287866

16. What is your ethnic background? Please cross one option only.

White
English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British 
Irish
Any other White background (Please 
tell us in the box below)

Black or Black British
Caribbean 
African
Any other Black background (Please 
tell us in the box below)

Asian or Asian British
Indian 
Pakistani 
Bangladeshi
Chinese
Any other Asian background (Please tell 
us in the box below)

Mixed
White and Black Caribbean 
White and Black African 
White and Asian
Any other mixed background (Please
tell us in the box below)

Other ethnic group
Arab
Other ethnic group (Please tell us in the 
box below)

Travelling Community
Gypsy/Roma
Traveller of Irish descent 
Other member of the travelling
community (Please tell us in the box below)

Thank you for completing the survey. Please return it to the 
following address by XXXXXXX:

Public Spaces Protection Order consultation 
Dartford Borough Council
Home Gardens 
Dartford
DA1 1DR
Email: xxx



CABINET
27 JANUARY 2017

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL CODE OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE 2017

1. Summary

1.1 To agree an updated Code of Corporate Governance and the arrangements for 
the preparation and approval of the Annual Governance Statement.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Code of Corporate Governance 2017, attached as Appendix A to the 
report, be approved.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Governance is about how the Council ensures that it is doing the 
right things, in the right way, for the right people, in a timely, 
inclusive, open, honest and accountable manner. It comprises the 
systems and processes, and cultures and values, by which such 
bodies are directed and controlled and through which they account 
to, engage with, and where appropriate, lead their communities. 

3.2. The Council strives to meet the highest standards of corporate 
governance to help ensure it meets its objectives. Members and 
officers are responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for 
the governance of the Council’s affairs and the stewardship of the 
resources at its disposal. 

3.3. All local authorities were strongly recommended to adopt a Code of 
Corporate Governance (“the Code”) by 31 March 2002. The General 
Assembly of the Council at its meeting on 18 March 2002 (Min. no. 
146) approved the Code. This Code was based on a 
CIPFA/SOLACE framework set in 2001. 

3.4. This framework was subsequently supplemented by the Office of the 
Deputy Prime Minister and CIPFA publication entitled “The Good 
Governance Standard for Public Services”. The adopted Code was 
reviewed in April 2008 and agreed by Cabinet (Min. No. 215).

3.5. In April 2016, CIPFA published “Delivering Good Governance” which 
reviewed the previous guidance. Seven core principles identified by 
the International Framework: Good Governance in the Public Sector 
(CIPFA/IFAC 2014) are now incorporated.

3.6. The seven core principles are:

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to 
ethical values, and respecting rule of law



CABINET
27 JANUARY 2017

B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement

C. Defining outcome in terms of sustainable economic, social 
and environmental benefits 

D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended outcomes

E. Developing the Council’s capacity, including the capability of 
its leadership and the individuals within it  

F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal 
control and strong public financial management 

G. Implementing good practices in transparency reporting, and 
audit to deliver effective accountability. 

3.7. Each of the seven core principles has a number of sub principles, 
which in turn, translate into a range of specific behaviours and 
actions that apply across the various aspects of the Council’s 
operations to demonstrate good governance.

3.8. Having adopted a Code of Corporate Governance, the Council 
needs to ensure: 
a. that the principles and practices in it are adhered to, and 
b. that it is periodically reviewed, to provide assurance that 

governance arrangements are adequate, operating effectively 
and to identify action for improvement which will develop and 
shape governance within the Council. 

3.9. A review will not take place at this stage as the review can be 
completed within the already established annual governance review 
process, which results in the Annual Governance Statement. This 
statement is prepared on behalf of the Leader of the Council and 
Managing Director and will be submitted to the Audit Board, together 
with the review results, for consideration in June 2017 

3.10. The updated Code of Corporate Governance is attached as 
Appendix A to the report.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

A sound system of corporate governance is critical to the Council 
achieving its aims and objectives.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications It is a requirement of the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015 to prepare an Annual 
Governance Statement. This updated code will 
enable those reviewing governance to consider 
arrangements in the light of best practice.



CABINET
27 JANUARY 2017

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties 

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Code of Corporate Governance

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Delivering Good Governance 
in Local Government 2016 
Edition Framework and 
Guidance Notes

Tim Sams
(01322) 343148

Internal 
Services

N/A





Appendix A 

Dartford Borough Council 
Code of Corporate Governance 
2017



Appendix A 

1. Introduction 
This document sets out how Dartford Borough Council (the Council) intends to apply the 
principles of corporate governance in the way the Council operates and conducts business. 
It has been developed in accordance with the principles outlined in the framework and 
guidance notes for CIPFA/SOLACE “Delivering Good Governance in Local Government” 
(2016). 

The Council is required to review existing governance arrangements, develop and maintain 
an up to date local Code of Corporate Governance (“the Code”) (including arrangements for 
ensuring ongoing effectiveness), and to prepare an Annual Governance Statement (in order 
to report publicly on its compliance with the Code and the monitoring of effectiveness of its 
governance arrangements). 

2. What is Governance? 
Governance is about how the Council ensures that it is doing the right things, in the right 
way, for the right people, in a timely, inclusive, open, honest and accountable manner. It 
comprises the systems and processes, and cultures and values, by which such bodies are 
directed and controlled and through which they account to, engage with, where appropriate, 
and lead their communities. 

Good governance enables the Council to define and pursue its vision more effectively. It 
leads to improvements in management, performance, stewardship of public money and 
public engagement and outcomes for individuals and the community. It ensures that 
appropriate mechanisms for control are in place and that risks and opportunities are 
managed effectively. 

3. Core Principles of Good Governance 
The following core principles have been taken from the International Framework; Good 
Governance in the Public Sector (CIPFA/IFAC 2014); which notes that principles A and B 
“permeate” implementation of principles C-G below. 

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 
respecting rule of law. 

B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 

C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits. 

D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended 
outcomes. 

E. Development the Partnership’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 
individuals within it. 

F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 
financial management. 

G. Implementing good practices in transparency reporting, and audit to deliver effective 
accountability. 



Appendix A 

The diagram below shows how the principles relate to each other. 

4. Applying the Principles of Good Governance 
Each of the seven core principles above has a number of sub principles, which in turn, 
translate into a range of specific behaviours and actions that apply across the various 
aspects of the Council’s functions that demonstrate good governance. 

Principle A: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical 
values, and respecting the rule of law

Sub-principle: Behaving with integrity 

Ensuring members and officers behave with integrity and lead a culture 
where acting in the public interest is visibly and consistently demonstrated 
thereby protecting the reputation of the organisation 

Ensuring members take the lead in establishing specific standard 
operating principles or values for the organisation and its staff and that 
they are communicated and understood. These should build on the Seven 
Principles of Public Life (the Nolan Principles) 

Leading by example and using these standard operating principles or 
values as a framework for decision making and other actions 

Demonstrating, communicating and embedding the standard operating 
principles or values through appropriate policies and processes which are 
reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that they are operating effectively 

Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice 



Appendix A 

Sub-principle: Demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values 

Seeking to establish, monitor and maintain the organisation’s ethical 
standards and performance 

Underpinning personal behaviour with ethical values and ensuring they 
permeate all aspects of the organisation’s culture and operation 

Developing and maintaining robust policies and procedures which place 
emphasis on agreed ethical values 

Ensuring that external providers of services on behalf of the organisation 
are required to act with integrity and in compliance with high ethical 
standards expected by the organisation 

Sub-principle: Respecting the rule of law 

Ensuring members and staff demonstrate a strong commitment to the rule 
of the law as well as adhering to relevant laws and regulations 

Creating the conditions to ensure that the statutory officers, other key post 
holders and members are able to fulfil their responsibilities in accordance 
with legislative and regulatory requirements 

Striving to optimise the use of the full powers available for the benefit of 
citizens, communities and other stakeholders 

Dealing with breaches of legal and regulatory provisions effectively 

Ensuring corruption and misuse of power are dealt with effectively 

Principle B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 

Sub-principle: Openness 

Ensuring an open culture through demonstrating, documenting and 
communicating the organisation’s commitment to openness 

Making decisions that are open about actions, plans, resource use, 
forecasts, outputs and outcomes. The presumption is for openness. If that 
is not the case, a justification for the reasoning for keeping a decision 
confidential should be provided 

Providing clear reasoning and evidence for decisions in both public 
records and explanations to stakeholders and being explicit about the 
criteria, rationale and considerations used. In due course, ensuring that the 
impact and consequences of those decisions are clear 

Using formal and informal consultation and engagement to determine the 
most appropriate and effective interventions/ courses of action 

Engaging comprehensively with institutional stakeholders 

Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice 

Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice 

Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice 

Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice 



Appendix A 

Effectively engaging with institutional stakeholders to ensure that the 
purpose, objectives and intended outcomes for each stakeholder 
relationship are clear so that outcomes are achieved successfully and 
sustainably 

Developing formal and informal partnerships to allow for resources to be 
used more efficiently and outcomes achieved more effectively 

Ensuring that partnerships are based on: 
 trust 
 a shared commitment to change 
 a culture that promotes and accepts challenge among partners 
 and that the added value of partnership working is explicit 

Sub-principle: Engaging stakeholders effectively, including individual citizens and 
service users 

Establishing a clear policy on the type of issues that the organisation will 
meaningfully consult with or involve individual citizens, service users and 
other stakeholders to ensure that service (or other) provision is 
contributing towards the achievement of intended outcomes. 

Ensuring that communication methods are effective and that members and 
officers are clear about their roles with regard to community engagement 

Encouraging, collecting and evaluating the views and experiences of 
communities, citizens, service users and organisations of different 
backgrounds including reference to future needs 

Implementing effective feedback mechanisms in order to demonstrate how 
their views have been taken into account 

Balancing feedback from more active stakeholder groups with other 
stakeholder groups to ensure inclusivity 

Taking account of the interests of future generations of tax payers and 
service users 

Principle C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, 
social, and environmental benefits 

Sub-principle: Defining outcomes 

Having a clear vision which is an agreed formal statement of the 
organisation’s purpose and intended outcomes containing appropriate 
performance indicators, which provides the basis for the organisation’s 
overall strategy, planning and other decisions 

Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice 

Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice 



Appendix A 

Specifying the intended impact on, or changes for, stakeholders including citizens and 
service users. It could be immediately or over the course of a year or longer 

Delivering defined outcomes on a sustainable basis within the resources that will be 
available 

Identifying and managing risks to the achievement of outcomes 

Managing service users expectations effectively with regard to determining priorities and 
making the best use of the resources available 

Sub-principle: Sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits 
Considering and balancing the combined economic, social and 
environmental impact of policies, plans and decisions when taking 
decisions about service provision 

Taking a longer-term view with regard to decision making, taking account 
of risk and acting transparently where there are potential conflicts between 
the organisation’s intended outcomes and short-term factors such as the 
political cycle or financial constraints 

Determining the wider public interest associated with balancing conflicting 
interests between achieving the various economic, social and 
environmental benefits, through consultation where possible, in order to 
ensure appropriate trade-offs 

Ensuring fair access to services 

Principle D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of 
the intended outcomes 

Sub-principle: Determining interventions 

Ensuring decision makers receive objective and rigorous analysis of a 
variety of options indicating how intended outcomes would be achieved 
and including the risks associated with those options. Therefore ensuring 
best value is achieved however services are provided 

Considering feedback from citizens and service users when making 
decisions about service improvements or where services are no longer 
required in order to prioritise competing demands within limited resources 
available including people, skills, land and assets and bearing in mind 
future impacts 

Sub-principle: Planning interventions 

Establishing and implementing robust planning and control cycles that 
cover strategic and operational plans, priorities and targets 

Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice 

Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice 



Appendix A 

Engaging with internal and external stakeholders in determining how services and other 
courses of action should be planned and delivered 

Considering and monitoring risks facing each partner when working collaboratively including 
shared risks 

Ensuring arrangements are flexible and agile so that the mechanisms for delivering outputs 
can be adapted to changing circumstances 

Establishing appropriate key performance indicators (KPIs) as part of the planning process 
in order to identify how the performance of services and projects is to be measured 

Ensuring capacity exists to generate the information required to review service quality 
regularly 

Preparing budgets in accordance with organisational objectives, strategies and the medium 
term financial plan 

Informing medium and long term resource planning by drawing up realistic estimates of 
revenue and capital expenditure aimed at developing a sustainable funding strategy 



Appendix A 

Sub-principle: Optimising achievement of intended outcomes 

Ensuring the medium term financial strategy integrates and balances 
service priorities, affordability and other resource constraints 

Ensuring the budgeting process is all-inclusive, taking into account the full 
cost of operations over the medium and longer term 

Ensuring the medium term financial strategy sets the context for ongoing 
decisions on significant delivery issues or responses to changes in the 
external environment that may arise during the budgetary period in order 
for outcomes to be achieved while optimising resource usage 

Ensuring the achievement of ‘social value’ through service planning and 
commissioning. The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 states that 
this is “the additional benefit to the community...over and above the direct 
purchasing of goods, services and outcomes” 

Principle E. Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals within it 

Sub-principle: Developing the entity’s capacity 

Reviewing operations, performance and use of assets on a regular basis 
to ensure their continuing effectiveness 
Improving resource use through appropriate application of techniques such 
as benchmarking and other options in order to determine how resources 
are allocated so that defined outcomes are achieved effectively and 
efficiently 

Recognising the benefits of partnerships and collaborative working where 
added value can be achieved 
Developing and maintaining an effective workforce plan to enhance the 
strategic allocation of resources 

Developing the capability of the entity’s leadership and other 
individuals 

Developing protocols to ensure that elected and appointed leaders 
negotiate with each other regarding their respective roles early on in the 
relationship and that a shared understanding of roles and objectives is 
maintained 

Publishing a statement that specifies the types of decisions that are 
delegated and those reserved for the collective decision making of the 
governing body 

Ensuring the leader and the chief executive have clearly defined and 
distinctive leadership roles within a structure whereby the chief executive 
leads in implementing strategy and managing the delivery of services and 

Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice 

Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice 

Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice 



Appendix A 

other outputs set by members and each provides a check and a balance for each other’s 
authority

Developing the capabilities of members and senior management to achieve effective 
leadership and to enable the organisation to respond successfully to changing legal and 
policy demands as well as economic, political and environmental changes and risks by: 

 ensuring members and staff have access to appropriate induction 
tailored to their role and that ongoing training and development 
matching individual and organisational requirements is available 
and encouraged ensuring members and officers have the 
appropriate skills, knowledge, resources and support to fulfil their 
roles and responsibilities and ensuring that they are able to update 
their knowledge on a continuing basis.

 ensuring personal, organisational and system-wide development 
through shared learning, including lessons learnt from governance 
weaknesses both internal and external 

Ensuring that there are structures in place to encourage public participation 

Taking steps to consider the leadership’s own effectiveness and ensuring 
leaders are open to constructive feedback from peer review and inspections 

Holding staff to account through regular performance reviews which take 
account of training or development needs 

Ensuring arrangements are in place to maintain the health and wellbeing of 
the workforce and support individuals in maintaining their own physical and 
mental wellbeing

Principle F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control 
and strong public financial management 

Sub-principle: Managing risk 

Recognising that risk management is an integral part of all activities and 
must be considered in all aspects of decision making 

Implementing robust and integrated risk management arrangements and 
ensuring that they are working effectively 

Ensuring that responsibilities for managing individual risks are clearly 
allocated 

Managing performance 

Monitoring service delivery effectively including planning, specification, 
execution and independent post implementation review

Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice 



Appendix A 

Making decisions based on relevant, clear objective analysis and advice pointing out the 
implications and risks inherent in the organisation’s financial, social and environmental 
position and outlook 

Ensuring an effective scrutiny or oversight function is in place which provides constructive 
challenge and debate on policies and objectives before, during and after decisions are made 
thereby enhancing the organisation’s performance and that of any organisation for which it is 
responsible 

Developing protocols to ensure that elected and appointed leaders negotiate with each other 
regarding their respective roles early on in the relationship and that a shared understanding 
of roles and objectives is maintained 

Providing members and senior management with regular reports on service delivery plans 
and on progress towards outcome achievement 

Ensuring there is consistency between specification stages (such as budgets) and post 
implementation reporting (e.g. financial statements) 

Robust internal control 

Aligning the risk management strategy and policies on internal 
control with achieving objectives 

Evaluating and monitoring risk management and internal control 
on a regular basis 

Ensuring effective counter fraud and anti-corruption arrangements 
are in place 

Ensuring additional assurance on the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the framework of governance, risk management and 
control is provided by the internal auditor 

Ensuring an audit committee or equivalent group/ function, which 
is independent of the executive and accountable to the governing body: 
provides a further source of effective assurance regarding arrangements 
for managing risk and maintaining an effective control environment that 
its recommendations are listened to and acted upon 

Managing data

Ensuring effective arrangements are in place for the 
safe collection, storage, use and sharing of data, including processes to 
safeguard personal data.

Ensuring effective arrangements are in place and 
operating effectively when sharing data with other bodies.

Reviewing and auditing regularly the quality and 
accuracy of data used in decision making and performance monitoring.

Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice 

Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice 



Appendix A 

Strong public financial management 

Ensuring financial management supports both long term achievement of 
outcomes and short-term financial and operational performance 

Ensuring well-developed financial management is integrated at all levels 
of planning and control, including management of financial risks and 
controls

Principle G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit 
to deliver effective accountability 

Sub-principle: Implementing good practice in transparency 

Writing and communicating reports for the public and other 
stakeholders in a fair, balanced and understandable style appropriate to 
the intended audience and ensuring that they are easy to access and 
interrogate 

Striking a balance between providing the right amount of 
information to satisfy transparency demands and enhance public scrutiny 
while not being too onerous to provide and for users to understand 

Implementing good practices in reporting 

Reporting at least annually on performance, value for money and 
stewardship of resources to stakeholders in a timely and understandable 
way 

Ensuring members and senior management own the results 
reported 

Ensuring robust arrangements for assessing the extent to which 
the principles contained in this Framework have been applied and 
publishing the results on this assessment, including an action plan for 
improvement and evidence to demonstrate good governance (the annual 
governance statement) 

Ensuring that this Framework is applied to jointly managed or 
shared service organisations as appropriate 

Ensuring the performance information that accompanies the 
financial statements is prepared on a consistent and timely basis and the 
statements allow for comparison with other, similar organisations 

Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice 

Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice 

Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice 



Appendix A 

Assurance and effective accountability 

Ensuring that recommendations for corrective action made by 
external audit are acted upon 

Ensuring an effective internal audit service with direct access to 
members is in place, providing assurance with regard to governance 
arrangements and that recommendations are acted upon 

Welcoming peer challenge, reviews and inspections from 
regulatory bodies and implementing recommendations 

Gaining assurance on risks associated with delivering services 
through third parties and that this is evidenced in the annual governance 
statement 

Ensuring that when working in partnership, arrangements for 
accountability are clear and the need for wider public accountability has 
been recognised and met

5. Annual Review and Reporting 

5.1 Each year the Council will carry out a review of governance arrangements to ensure 
compliance with this Code in accordance with CIPFA/SOLACE “Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government” (2016) Framework. The purpose of the review will be to 
provide assurance that governance arrangements are adequate, operating effectively and to 
identify action for improvement.

5.2 The outcome of the review is factored into the Governance Statement prepared on 
behalf of the Leader of the Council and Managing Director and submitted to the Audit Board 
for consideration and review. 

5.3 The preparation and publication of the Governance Statement will meet the statutory 
requirement of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 which requires authorities to 
“conduct a review at least once in a year of the effectiveness of its system of internal control” 
and to “prepare an annual governance statement”. As such, the Governance Statement will 
be prepared in accordance with the timetable in participation of financial statements in 
accordance with the Audit and Accounts Regulations 2015. 

Behaviours 
and actions 
that 
demonstrate 
good 
governance 
in practice 



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

DRAFT LOCAL LETTINGS PLAN FOR HILL VIEW

1. Summary

1.1. This report seeks approval for a local lettings plan to be implemented for the 
Council’s new build housing  development at Hill View, Temple Hill.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the draft Local Lettings Plan attached at Appendix A to the report be 
approved.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Planning permission for the development at Hill View, Temple Hill was granted 
in March 2015.  The development is due for completion in April 2017; providing 
25 new homes for rent for local people.  A report was presented to Cabinet on 8 
December 2016 (Min No. 83 refers) which included a general update on the 
progress of the Council’s new build project and stated that Officers would be 
developing a local lettings plan for all new build sites to ensure that the schemes 
are sustainable over time. 

3.2. A Local Lettings Plan for Hill View has now been developed which aims to 
ensure that the Council’s core objectives are met in terms of sustainable 
development and the minimisation of anti-social behaviour on estates.

3.3. The draft Local Lettings Plan at Appendix A to the report sets out the reasons 
for implementing a plan, the allocation process, the target household 
compositions, who will receive priority and additional tenancy conditions.

3.4. In summary, the draft Local Lettings Plan aims to give priority to tenants who 
have an identified housing need, and who either wish to transfer from their 
existing property because they are overcrowded or because they wish to 
downsize.  .

3.5. Tenants will be required to fulfil certain criteria before they are allocated one of 
these properties including having a clear rent account and no history of anti-
social behaviour.

3.6. As well as the above, tenants will have to agree to abide by certain additional 
conditions as part of their tenancy, such as paying rent by direct debit, agreeing 
to regular housing officer visits and to register on the electoral roll. 

3.7. The implementation of a local lettings plan will, it is expected, minimise the risk 
of management issues on the development and surrounding area.  

3.8. Future Stages

The Council will develop individual lettings plans for future Council 
developments based on the core principles set out in this draft Plan at Appendix 
A to the report.



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1. This report relates to the Corporate Plan strategic aim ‘to facilitate quality, 
choice and diversity in the housing market, to create strong and self-reliant 
communities and deliver high quality services to service users’.

5. Financial, legal, staffing & other administrative implications & risk assessments;

Financial Implications None as a direct result of the report.

Legal Implications

Public Sector Equality 
Duty

Crime and Disorder 
Duty

None as a direct result of this report.

No adverse impact on any particular group.

As per risk assessment.

Staffing Implications None as a direct result of the report.

Admin Implications None as a direct result of the report.

Risk Assessment There is a risk that not implementing a local 
lettings plan on the council’s new development 
sites will have a negative impact in the long 
term, if there is not a sustainable mix of tenants 
to support balanced communities.

6. Appendices

Appendix A – Draft Local Lettings Plan for Hill View.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author

          

Section and
Directorate 

Exempt
Information 
Category

Peter Dosad Housing Services,
Strategic

Yes



APPENDIX A

Local Lettings Plan for the HILL VIEW 
DEVELOPMENT at Temple Hill, Dartford.



1

Introduction
The purpose of developing a sensitive (local) lettings plan for the Council’s 
new build affordable housing for rent on the Hill View development at Temple 
Hill is to try and establish balanced and sustainable communities that are 
integrated successfully in the existing area. 

A choice based lettings scheme based on 4 priority bands (A-D) currently 
operates in Dartford.  This means that households in greatest housing need 
are most likely to be successful in securing affordable housing for rent when it 
becomes available.  This lettings plan enables the allocation of properties on 
Hill View to households with less overall housing need, thus helping to create 
more balanced communities. 

The Council’s new development at Hill View has been thoughtfully designed 
utilising excellent materials and making the most use of space; emphasising 
the quality and sustainability of the development and its high specification.  As 
such the properties are highly desirable and ideal for established tenants who 
can demonstrate their good tenancy record; with priority being given to those 
who are downsizing and those with growing families.  This in turn will free up 
much needed family properties for those on the housing register.

The power to develop local lettings plans is set out in S167 (2E) of the 
Housing Act 1996 (as amended), which allows local authorities to establish 
local lettings plans to enable them to allocate particular accommodation to 
people of a particular category in order to achieve a housing policy objective.  
The ability to develop local lettings plans was reinforced in the Government’s 
‘Fair and Flexible Statutory guidance on social housing allocations for local 
authorities in England, published in December 2009.

The Development
There are 25 units on the development comprising of: 

 12 x 3 bedroom townhouses
 12 x 2 bedroom flats
 1 x 1 bedroom flat.

Household composition
Households will be allocated properties that meet their housing need.  Under 
no circumstances will properties be allocated to households that will under-
occupy or over-occupy the property.

The ages of children may also be considered to ensure an appropriate mix of 
younger and older children to encourage positive socialising and behaviour on 
the development. Family make up may also be taken into account and 
properties may be offered to both couples, and single parent families, and 
households from mixed income sources.

Restrictions will be in place regarding the ages of the children for the upper 
floor flats as access is via stairs only and storage of prams is prohibited in the 
communal hallways and landings.  Upper floor flats are also not considered 
suitable for persons with mobility issues.



2

It should be noted that no disabled adaptations can be made due to the 
restraints put in place during the property defects liability period (12 months 
from completion of construction).

Allocation Process
The Council will allocate properties in accordance with its policies and 
procedures, this local lettings plan and Choice Based Lettings and monitor 
this local lettings plan to ensure it remains viable. The details and conditions 
set out in this lettings plan will be included on the property advert when 
advertised on Locata. 

The Council will mainly advertise the properties via Kent Homechoice 
although direct offers could be made to applicants in some circumstances.  
Priority will be given to Dartford Borough Council tenants who are: 

 Downsizing from a property that is too large for their needs
 Overcrowded in their current accommodation or they need to 

move for significant medical or management reasons (whether 
or not this means moving to a larger or smaller property)  

Allocations will not be made to any applicant included in the household who:

 Does not have a clear rent account at point of offer and a well-
managed rent account for at least the preceding 12 months

 Has outstanding debt to Dartford Borough Council in respect of former 
tenant arrears, Council Tax or sundry debts

 Does not have a high standard of tenancy conduct with no proven 
issues surrounding anti-social behaviour for the occupants or their 
visitors for which they are responsible

 Has tenancy breaches, nuisance or reported control issues in relations 
to pets

 Has not maintained their existing accommodation to a high standard 
with no defects or damage.  (A check will be carried out to assess the 
current condition of the property)

 Does not agree to a fully verified household composition check which 
must match the details on the corresponding housing register 
application

 Does not agree to participate in an affordability check to ensure the 
new tenancy is sustainable and appropriate to household income.  

However, we will look at all the cases individually and where there are 
extenuating circumstances, which would lead to unfairness or inequality, the 
criteria may be relaxed.

In accordance with the Council’s current Tenancy Policy, tenants who are 
transferring from a current Council property will retain their current tenancy 
type.  We will also give a secure tenancy to tenants of Housing Associations 
who have an existing assured tenancy.



3

Tenancy Conditions
Tenants must agree to the following before the allocation of a tenancy; in 
addition to the conditions set out in the tenancy agreement: 

 To pay rent regularly and on time by direct debit only
 To allow access to a housing officer to visit on a monthly basis for the 

first six months and then yearly thereafter and to allow access for 
regular inspections of the property.

 To maintain the property’s fixtures and fittings in good order; in 
accordance with the prescribed list of fixtures

 To ensure that the outside of the property is kept in good order, e.g. 
window cleaning on a regular basis (communal window cleaning will 
remain the Council’s responsibility)

 To maintain all private gardens in good order 
 To keep communal areas free from clutter at all times and ensure that 

refuse is disposed of in a proper manner and in accordance with 
collection times

 To park in marked parking bays only
 Not to carry out any property alterations
 Not to keep pets without the Council’s permission which must be 

obtained prior to any allocation
 To register on the Electoral Register within 3 months of tenancy 

commencement
 To sign a declaration to agree the above tenancy conditions prior to 

tenancy commencement.

Relets
The same conditions, as set out in this local lettings plan, will apply to all 
relets.



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017 

CALENDAR OF MEETINGS OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF 
THE COUNCIL, CABINET, COMMITTEES AND BOARDS

1. Summary

To seek Members’ views on the proposed calendar of meetings for 2017/18 
and the provisional calendar for 2018/19.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That the proposed calendar of meetings for 2017/18 and the provisional 
calendar of meetings for 2018/19 be submitted to the Annual Meeting of the 
Council.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 A proposed calendar of meetings for the 2017/2018 municipal year is 
attached at Appendix A and a provisional calendar of meetings for the 
2018/2019 municipal year is proposed at Appendix B.

3.2 The provisional dates that had been proposed at the Annual Meeting 
of the Council held on 11 May 2016 for the following meetings have 
been revised:

 June 2017 – Audit Board
 September 2017 – Audit Board
 October 2017 – General Assembly of the Council
 October 2017 – Cabinet Advisory Panel B
 October 2017 – Cabinet
 January 2018 – Audit Board
 April 2018 – Audit Board

In addition, all Development Control Board Site Visits now take place 
on the Saturday immediately before the associated Development 
Control Board meeting date.

3.3 Appendix C shows the meetings proposed for 2017/2018 together 
with provisional meeting dates for Parish/Town Councils and other 
bodies.

3.4 The calendars for 2017/18 and 2018/19 will be presented to the 
Annual Meeting of the Council on 10 May 2017 for adoption.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment None

6. Appendices

Appendix A - Proposed calendar of meetings for 2017/18
Appendix B - Provisional calendar of meetings for 2018/19
Appendix C - 2017/18 calendar showing proposed meeting dates 

together with provisional meeting dates for Parish/Town 
Councils.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322 343330)

Member Services
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



APPENDIX A
CABINET

26 JANUARY 2017

Dates and Times of the GAC, Cabinet, Committees and Boards for 2017/18

 COMMITTEE TIME USUAL MEETING DAY May
2017

Jun
2017

Jul
2017

Aug
2017

Sep
2017

Oct
2017

Nov
2017

Dec
2017

Jan
2018

Feb
2018

Mar
2018

Apr
2018

May
2018

Cabinet 7pm THURSDAY 25 29 27 7 2 7 25 8 12

Cabinet Advisory Panels 7pm MONDAY 22 B 26 A 24 B 4 A 30 B 4 A 22 B
 
5 A 9 B

Scrutiny Committee 7pm TUESDAY 11 14 6 17

Policy Overview Committee 7pm TUESDAY 13 19 12 20

Audit Board 7pm WEDNESDAY 28 6 24 25

Development Control Board 7pm THURSDAY 18 15 13 10 14 12 9 14 11 8 15  19

Development Control Site Visits 9.30am SATURDAY 13 10 8 5 9 7 4 9 6 3 10 14

General Assembly of the Council 7pm MONDAY 17 9 11 19

General Assembly of the Council
(Budget)

7pm MONDAY 26

Annual Meeting 7 pm WEDNESDAY 10 9



APPENDIX A
CABINET

26 JANUARY 2017

COMMITTEE TIME USUAL MEETING DAY May
2017

Jun
2017

Jul
2017

Aug
2017

Sep
2017

Oct
2017

Nov
2017

Dec
2017

Jan
2018

Feb
2018

Mar
2018

Apr
2018

May
2018

Borough and Parish Council 
Forum

7pm TUESDAY 4 10 16 10

Joint Transportation Board 7pm TUESDAY 6 5 5 6

Crime and Disorder (Overview and 
Scrutiny) Committee

7pm WEDNESDAY 26 14

Deed, Trust and Obligations 
Committee

7pm TUESDAY 17

Resident Involvement Joint 
Liaison Group

7pm THURSDAY 28 22

Bean Parish Council Evening Monday 8 12 10 11 9 13 11 8 12 12 9

Darenth Parish Council Evening Wednesday 17 21 19 20 18 15 20 17 21 21 18
Longfield and New Barn
Parish Council Evening Tuesday 23 27 25 26 24 28 19 23 27 27 24

Southfleet Parish Council Evening Monday 2 
(Tues)

5 3 4 2 6 4 2
(Tues)

5 5 3
(Tues)

Stone Parish Council Evening Wednesday 17 12 13 8 10 14
Sutton-At-Hone and Hawley Parish 
Council Evening Thursday 18 15 20 21 19 16 21 18 15 15 19
Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town 
Council Evening

Wilmington Parish Council Evening Wednesday 3 7 5 6 4 1 6 10 7 7 4

Labour Party Conference             25 to 27 September 2017    Conservative Party Conference    2 to 4 October 2017                                
Good Friday/Easter Monday 30 March 2018 / 2 April 2018

The dates quoted for Parish/Town Council meetings are provisional and may be changed at their associated Annual Meetings.



APPENDIX B
CABINET

26 JANUARY 2017

Indicative Dates and Times of the GAC, Cabinet, Committees and Boards for 2018/19

 COMMITTEE TIME USUAL MEETING DAY May
2018

Jun
2018

Jul
2018

Aug
2018

Sep
2018

Oct
2018

Nov
2018

Dec
2018

Jan
2019

Feb
2019

Mar
2019

Apr
2019

May
2019

Cabinet 7pm THURSDAY 24 28 26 6 1 6 24 7 11

Cabinet Advisory Panels 7pm MONDAY 21 A 25 B 23 A 3 B 29 A 3 B 21 A
 
4 B 8 A

Scrutiny Committee 7pm TUESDAY 10 18 20 19

Policy Overview Committee 7pm TUESDAY 12 11 11 19

Audit Board 7pm WEDNESDAY (Mon)
30 24 23 27

Development Control Board 7pm THURSDAY 17 14 12 9 13 11 8 13 17 14 14  18

Development Control Site Visits 9.30am SATURDAY 12 9 7 4 8 6 3 8 12 9 9 13

General Assembly of the Council 7pm MONDAY 16 8 10 18

General Assembly of the Council
(Budget)

7pm MONDAY 25

Annual Meeting 7 pm WEDNESDAY 9 29



APPENDIX B
CABINET

26 JANUARY 2017

COMMITTEE TIME USUAL MEETING DAY May
2018

Jun
2018

Jul
2018

Aug
2018

Sep
2018

Oct
2018

Nov
2018

Dec
2018

Jan
2019

Feb
2019

Mar
2019

Apr
2019

May
2019

Borough and Parish Council 
Forum

7pm TUESDAY 3 9 15 9

Joint Transportation Board 7pm TUESDAY 5 4 4 5

Crime and Disorder (Overview and 
Scrutiny) Committee

7pm WEDNESDAY 25 13

Deed, Trust and Obligations 
Committee

7pm TUESDAY 16

Resident Involvement Joint 
Liaison Group

7pm THURSDAY 27 28

Bean Parish Council Evening Monday 14 11 9 10 8 12 10 14 11 11 8

Darenth Parish Council Evening Wednesday 16 20 18 19 17 21 19 16 20 20 17
Longfield and New Barn
Parish Council Evening Tuesday 22 26 24 25 23 27 18 22 26 26 23

Southfleet Parish Council Evening Monday 8 
(Tues)

4 2 3 1 5 3 7 4 4 1

Stone Parish Council Evening Wednesday 16 11 12 14 9 13
Sutton-At-Hone and Hawley Parish 
Council Evening Thursday 17 21 19 20 18 15 20 17 21 21 18
Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town 
Council Evening

Wilmington Parish Council Evening Wednesday 2 6 4 5 3 7 5 9 6 6 3

Labour Party Conference             September 2018    Conservative Party Conference    October 2018                                
Good Friday/Easter Monday 19 April 2019 / 22 April 2019

The dates quoted for Parish/Town Council meetings are provisional and may be changed at their associated Annual Meetings.



APPENDIX C

May 2017
MONDAY TUESDAY WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY

1

BANK HOLIDAY

2

Southfleet

3

Wilmington

4 5

8

Bean

9 10

19:00 Annual Meeting

11 12

15 16 17

Darenth
Stone

18

Sutton-at-Hone

19:00 DCB

19

22

19:00 CAP B

23

Longfield

24 25

19:00 Cabinet

26

29

BANK HOLIDAY

30 31 9:30 DCB Site Visit Saturday 13 May



June 2017
MONDAY TUESDAY WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY

9:30 DCB Site Visit Saturday 10 June 1 2

5

Southfleet

6

19:00 JTB

7

Wilmington

8 9

12

Bean

13

19:00 Policy Overview

14 15

Sutton-at-Hone

19:00 DCB

16

19 20 21

Darenth

22 23

26

19:00 CAP A

27

Longfield

28

19:00 Audit Board

29

19:00 Cabinet

30



July 2017
MONDAY TUESDAY WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY

3

Southfleet

4

19:00 Borough and Parish 
Council Forum

5

Wilmington

6 7

10

Bean

11

19:00 Scrutiny

12

Stone

13

19:00 DCB

14

17

19:00 GAC

18 19

Darenth

20

Sutton-at-Hone

21

24

19:00 CAP B

25

Longfield

26

19:00 Crime and Disorder 
(O & S) Committee

27

19:00 Cabinet

28

31 9:30 DCB Site Visit Saturday 8 July



August 2017
MONDAY TUESDAY WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY

9:30 DCB Site Visit 
Saturday 5 August

1 2 3 4

7 8 9 10

19:00 DCB

11

14 15 16 17 18

21 22 23 24 25

28

BANK HOLIDAY

29 30 31



September 2017
MONDAY TUESDAY WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY

9:30 DCB Site Visit Saturday 9 September 1

4

Southfleet

19:00 CAP A

5

19:00 JTB

6

Wilmington

19:00 Audit Board

7

19:00 Cabinet

8

11

Bean

12 13

Stone

14

19:00 DCB

15

18 19

19:00 Policy Overview

20

Darenth

21

Sutton-at-Hone

22

25

Labour Party Conference

26

Labour Party Conference

Longfield

27

Labour Party Conference

28

19:00 Residents’ Joint 
Liaison Group

29



October 2017
MONDAY TUESDAY WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY

2

Conservative Party 
Conference

Southfleet

3

Conservative Party 
Conference

4

Conservative Party 
Conference

Wilmington

5 6

9

Bean

19:00 GAC

10

19:00  Borough and Parish 
Council Forum

11 12

19:00 DCB

13

16 17

19:00 Deed, Trust and 
Obligations Committee

18

Darenth

19

Sutton-at-Hone

20

23 24

Longfield

25 26 27

30

19:00 CAP B

31 9:30 DCB Site Visit Saturday 7 October



November 2017
MONDAY TUESDAY WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY

1

Wilmington

2

19:00 Cabinet

3

6

Southfleet

7 8

Stone

9

19:00 DCB

10

13

Bean

14

19:00 Scrutiny

15

Darenth

16

Sutton-at-Hone

17

20 21 22 23 24

27 28

Longfield

29 30 9:30  DCB Site Visit 
Saturday 4 November



December 2017
MONDAY TUESDAY WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY

9:30  DCB Site Visit Saturday 9 December 1

4

Southfleet

19:00 CAP A

5

19:00 JTB

6

Wilmington

7

19:00 Cabinet

8

11

Bean

19:00 GAC

12

19:00 Policy Overview

13 14

19:00 DCB

15

18 19

Longfield

20

Darenth

21

Sutton-at-Hone

22

25

BANK HOLIDAY

26

BANK HOLIDAY

27 28 29



January 2018
MONDAY TUESDAY WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY

1

BANK HOLIDAY

2

Southfleet

3 4 5

8

Bean

9 10

Stone
Wilmington

11

19:00 DCB

12

15 16

19:00  Borough and Parish 
Council Forum

17

Darenth

18

Sutton-at-Hone

19

22

19:00 CAP B

23

Longfield

24

19:00  Audit Board

25

19:00 Cabinet

26

29 30 31 9:30 DCB Site Visit Saturday 6 January



February 2018
MONDAY TUESDAY WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY

9:30 DCB Site Visit  Saturday 3 February 1 2

5

Southfleet

6

19:00 Scrutiny

7

Wilmington

8

19:00 DCB

9

12

Bean

13 14

19:00 Crime and Disorder 
(O & S) Committee

15

Sutton-at-Hone

16

19 20 21

Darenth

22 23

26

19:00 GAC (budget)

27

Longfield

28



March 2018
MONDAY TUESDAY WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY

9:30 DCB Site Visit Saturday 10 March 1 2

5

Southfleet

19:00 CAP A

6

19:00 JTB

7

Wilmington

8

19:00 Cabinet

9

12

Bean

13 14

Stone

15

Sutton-at-Hone

19:00 DCB

16

19

19:00 GAC

20

19:00 Policy Overview

21

Darenth

22

19:00 Residents’ Joint 
Liaison Group

23

26 27

Longfield

28 29 30

BANK HOLIDAY



April 2018
MONDAY TUESDAY WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY

2

BANK HOLIDAY

3

Southfleet

4

Wilmington

5 6

9

Bean

19:00 CAP B

10

19:00  Borough and Parish 
Council Forum

11 12

19:00 Cabinet

13

16 17

19:00 Scrutiny

18

Darenth

19

Sutton-at-Hone

19:00 DCB

20

23 24

Longfield

25

19:00 Audit Board

26 27

30 9:30 DCB Site Visit Saturday 14 April



May 2018
MONDAY TUESDAY WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY

1 2 3 4

7

BANK HOLIDAY

8 9

19:00 Annual Meeting

10 11

14 15 16 17 18

21 22 23 24 25

28

BANK HOLIDAY

29 30





CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF 
2017/18

1. Summary

1.1 To consider granting discretionary rate relief to ratepayers who 
have made applications in respect of 2017/18.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. That the level of discretionary rate relief for 2017/18 for the 
organisations listed in Appendix A to the report be determined in 
accordance with the detailed recommendations set out in that 
Appendix.

2.2. That the amendments (as prescribed by legislation) to the Small 
Business Rate Relief scheme at Appendix B to the report, be 
effective from 1 April 2017.

2.3. That the changes to the criteria for granting discretionary rural rate 
relief as outlined in paragraphs 3.7 to 3.9 of this report and as 
detailed in Appendix C, be approved. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Depending upon their circumstances ratepayers may be eligible for 
mandatory rate relief, mandatory rural rate relief or small business 
rate relief. 

Charities and sports organisations that have charitable status 
currently receive 80% mandatory relief. In order to qualify for the 
mandatory relief, the organisation must be established for charitable 
purposes only and the premises must be wholly or mainly used for 
charitable purposes. 

In addition, sports clubs registered with HMRC as community 
amateur sports clubs are also entitled to 80% mandatory relief.

3.2. Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended) 
allows the Council to grant discretionary rate relief of up to 100% to 
any ratepayer.  

3.3. Discretionary rate relief can be awarded in isolation or given to ‘top-
up’ a mandatory award or to supplement assistance given via the 
small business rate relief scheme.



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

3.4. However, unless one of the following apply, the Council may only 
grant discretionary rate relief if it is satisfied that it would be 
reasonable to do so, having regard to the interests of  council tax 
payers:

 The ratepayer is a charity or trustee for a charity, and the property 
is wholly or mainly used for charitable purposes; or

 The ratepayer is a community amateur sports club and the 
property is wholly or mainly used for the purpose of the club and 
other such clubs; or

 The ratepayer is entitled to mandatory rural rate relief; or

 All or part of the property is occupied by non-profit making 
organisations whose main objects are charitable or are otherwise 
philanthropic or religious or concerned with education, social 
welfare, science, literature or the fine arts; or

 The property is occupied by a club, society or other non-profit 
making organisation and it is wholly or mainly used for purposes 
of recreation. 

3.5. The types of property eligible for discretionary rate relief are specified 
in Appendix B.  The qualifying conditions for Small Business Rate 
Relief (as prescribed by legislation) are also set out in Appendix B.  
Changes to the scheme will be effective from 1 April 2017.

3.6. On 7 March 2013, Cabinet reviewed and determined the criteria for 
eligibility for all types of discretionary rate relief as set out in Appendix 
C (Minute No.160).  These criteria cover all cases where the decision 
to grant relief is not dependent upon the award being in the interests 
of council tax payers.

3.7. The Government has announced the intention to double mandatory 
rural rate relief to 100% from 1 April 2017.  However, this requires an 
amendment to primary legislation which cannot be implemented in 
time for 1 April 2017.  Local Authorities are advised to use 
discretionary powers to award the additional 50% relief which will be 
reimbursed by way of a section 31 grant.  

3.8. Paragraphs 7.1, 7.2, 7.4 and 7.5 in Appendix C have been amended 
to recommend the award of 50% discretionary rural rate relief to 
those businesses qualifying for 50% mandatory rural rate relief.

3.9. Paragraph 7.3 of Appendix C has been amended to recommend the 
award of 100% rural rate relief to those businesses offering some or 
all of the services of a Post Office or General Store which is essential 



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

to the community but which do not qualify for mandatory rural rate 
relief because of the rateable value. 

3.10. Changes prescribed by legislation have also been made to the Small 
Business Rate Relief scheme as detailed in Appendix B to the report.

3.11. Applications from ratepayers who do not satisfy the stated criteria will 
be considered on their merits and individual recommendations will be 
made taking into consideration the benefit to the community as a 
whole.

3.12. On 10 March 2005, Cabinet had previously determined the levels of 
discretionary rate relief applicable to businesses eligible for Small 
Business Rate Relief:

 Where maximum Small Business Rate Relief is available, no 
discretionary rate relief should be awarded;

 Where the ratepayers will only benefit from the application of 
the lower multiplier, discretionary rate relief should continue to 
be awarded at the rate outlined in Appendix C;

 Where no relief is available because businesses occupy more 
than one property within England, discretionary rate relief 
should continue to be awarded at the rate outlined in Appendix 
C; and

 Where relief amounting to less than the current discretionary 
percentage is due, the level of mandatory relief should be 
“topped-up” by discretionary rate relief so that the ratepayer 
receives the same level of assistance as the level of 
discretionary relief outlined in Appendix C.

(Minute no.352)

3.13. Ratepayers seeking discretionary rate relief are required to submit an 
application for Small Business Rate Relief (where potentially eligible) 
as a pre-requisite to the consideration of the award of discretionary 
rate relief. 

3.14. Applications for discretionary rate relief may be made up to six 
months after the end of the financial year for which relief is sought.  
No discretionary rate relief can be awarded if an application is made 
outside of the statutory timeframe.  Once awarded, discretionary rate 
relief may only be withdrawn or reduced if a minimum of 12 months’ 
notice has been given to the recipient.



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

3.15. To ensure that discretionary support given to businesses remains 
appropriate, awards are only made for one financial year and 
recipients are required to reapply each year.

3.16. Since 1 April 2013, all discretionary relief granted has come under the 
provisions of the Business Rate Retention scheme.

3.17. The cost of relief is effectively shared between Central Government 
(50%), and local authorities (50%). Of this, the Council is required to 
fund 40%.

3.18. When setting the business rates baseline for 2013/14, the 
Government broadly used the existing levels of discretionary relief. 
Because of the operation of the levy and safety net on the business 
rate retention scheme, it is not possible to say exactly what the actual 
effect of granting the relief will be and it may vary between years. For 
example, if the Council was already at the safety net, then granting 
additional relief would have no direct impact for that year, but would 
have an impact as soon as the Council moved out of the safety net.

3.19. Therefore Appendix A only refers to the gross discretionary relief 
proposed.  

Applications for 2017/2018 

3.20. Appendix A contains the details of each applicant to be considered for 
relief for 2017/2018 and recommends the level of relief to be applied.  

3.21. All applicants fall within the criteria contained within Appendix C.

3.22. The level of relief is based upon the provisional multipliers announced 
on 20 December 2016 which are subject to confirmation.  In the 
unlikely event that the multipliers change, a further report setting out 
the revised relief awards will be submitted.

3.23. If applications are approved, the total gross relief granted would be 
£49,835.

3.24. Members should be aware that the requirement for relief can change 
during the financial year as a result of rateable value changes, 
vacations etc.  Therefore, some of these awards may not ultimately 
require full funding.    

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications As noted in paragraphs 3.13 to 3.15, 
Appendix A sets out the proposed gross 
discretionary rate relief to be granted.

Legal Implications As set out in the body of the report 
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Appendices

Appendix A Discretionary Rate Relief Applications & Recommendations 

Appendix B Types of Property Eligible for Discretionary Rate Relief

Appendix C Criteria for granting Discretionary Rate Relief

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Discretionary 
Relief 
Applications

Various Sue Cressall
01732 227041

Revenues
Strategic

N/a 





 
CABINET 

26 JANUARY 2017

 
Appendix A

APPLICATIONS FOR 2017/2018

ACCOUNT REF ORGANISATION NAME PROPERTY ADDRESS % FOR 2017/18 RELIEF FOR 2017/18 RECOMMENDATIONS/COMMENTS

21017204 CENTRAL PARK ATHLETICS LTD ADJ THE PAVILION CENTRAL PARK 40 £ 195.72
Recommended - Appendix C para
5.3 applies - no SBRR entitlement due
to 2nd property

2188355X VILLAGE STORE 221 HIGH ROAD 100 £ 3,974.13 Recommended - Appendix C para
7.3 applies

21050608 1ST DARTFORD (ST ALBAN) SCOUT GROUP ST ALBANS SCOUT GROUP 20 £ 349.67 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21259606 1ST GALLEY HILL SCOUT GROUP 110 CHURCH ROAD 20 £ 234.71 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21170400 1ST NEW BARN SCOUT GROUP SCOUT HALL 20 £ 221.17 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21152908 1ST SUTTON AT HONE SCOUT GROUP R/O 53 MAIN ROAD 20 £ 421.08 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21013300 3RD DARTFORD SCOUT GROUP 3RD DARTFORD BOY SCOUT GROUP 20 £ 298.47 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21102106 5TH DARTFORD BOY SCOUT GROUP ADJ 62 WEST HILL 20 £ 367.68 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21069506 8TH DARTFORD SCOUT GROUP 8TH DARTFORD SCOUT GROUP 20 £ 268.24 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21226706 9TH DARTFORD BOY SCOUTS 9TH DARTFORD BOY SCOUTS 20 £ 253.87 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21074201 ANSON SEA CADET CORPS SEA SCOUTS BROOKLANDS LAKE 20 £ 716.71 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21846931 CHERISHED MEMORIES SUPPORT GROUP PT 1ST FLR 6 CHICHESTER ROAD 20 £ 154.81 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21379409 DARTFORD GRAVESHAM SWANLEY MIND 20 WEST HILL 20 £ 1,987.23 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21065602 DARTFORD CAMBRIA SEA SCOUT GROUP DARTFORD CAMBRIA SEA SCOUT GROUP 20 £ 57.48 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21103406 DARTFORD CAMBRIA SEA SCOUT GROUP DARTFORD CAMBRIA SEA SCOUT GROUP 20 £ 208.37 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21013409 DARTFORD DISTRICT SCOUT HQ 7 BROOMHILL ROAD 20 £ 536.48 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21848549 DARTFORD JUDO CLUB STONE LODGE 20 £ 7,759.80 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

2189667X DARTFORD LIONS CLUB DARTFORD LIONS CLUB HEATH LANE 20 £ 258.43 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.4 applies

21848398 GATEWAY VINEYARD DARTFORD 24 MARKET STREET 20 £ 1,987.85 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies



 
CABINET 

26 JANUARY 2017

 
Appendix A

ACCOUNT REF ORGANISATION NAME PROPERTY ADDRESS % FOR 2017/18 RECOMMENDATIONS/COMMENTS

21876782 GATEWAY VINEYARD DARTFORD 16-18 LOWFIELD STREET 20 £ 2,377.02 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21136208 THE BEAN YOUTH CLUB BEAN YOUTH & COMMUNITY CENTRE 20 £ 314.41 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21845041 DGSM YOURCHOICE 3 ORCHARD STREET 20 £ 919.68 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21859200 ELLENOR LIONS HOSPICES 40 HIGH STREET 20 £ 209.31 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21636908 ELLENOR LIONS HOSPICES ELLENOR CENTRE 20 £ 1,029.85 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21278507 FLEETDOWN COMMUNITY CENTRE FLEETDOWN COMMUNITY CENTRE 20 £ 1,119.11 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21339704 GREENHITHE COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION GREENHITHE COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION 20 £ 603.54 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21867109 THE GROUNDWORK SOUTH TRUST LTD SPARK IT 20 £ 1,011.57 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21507406 HARBOUR MINISTRIES THE MANSE 20 £ 213.13 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21857362 HOME-START NORTH WEST KENT LTD LHS 2 TEMPLE HILL SQUARE 20 £ 268.24 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21154103 JOYDENS WOOD COMMUNITY CENTRE JOYDENS WOOD COMMUNITY CENTRE 20 £ 841.90 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21364905 MCCH SOCIETY LTD 2 TWISTLETON COURT 20 £ 3,376.95 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21157404 MEMORIAL HALL WILMINGTON 96 HIGH ROAD 20 £ 303.79 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21899353 ROYAL BRITISH LEGION INDUSTRIES LTD 2ND FLR 50 SPITAL STREET 20 £ 2,490.80 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

2117660X RSPCA 37 GORDON ROAD 20 £ 243.14 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21884161 RSPCA 2 & 3 MARKET PLACE 20 £ 2,634.50 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21681308 SE RESERVE FORCES AND CADETS ASSOCIATION ATC CENTRE 20 £ 320.93 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21679500 SE RESERVE FORCES AND CADETS ASSOCIATION ACF CENTRE 20 £ 182.02 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies



 
CABINET 

26 JANUARY 2017

 
Appendix A

ACCOUNT REF ORGANISATION NAME PROPERTY ADDRESS % FOR 2017/18 RECOMMENDATIONS/COMMENTS

21074103 ST JOHNS AMBULANCE BRIGADE ST JOHNS AMBULANCE ASSOCIATION 20 £ 309.10 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21133604 SOUTHFLEET VILLAGE HALL TRUSTEES VILLAGE HALL 20 £ 526.90 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21881370 ST ANSELMS COMMUNITY CENTRE ST ANSELMS COMMUNITY CENTRE 20 £ 1,844.15 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21138601 STONE (DARTFORD) SCOUT GROUP SCOUT HUT 20 £ 110.17 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21150406 SUTTON AT HONE VILLAGE HALL 63 MAIN ROAD 20 £ 431.70 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21148707 THE HAWLEY PAVILION TRUST THE PAVILION 20 £ 174.84 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21165302 WEST KENT GIRL GUIDES PAXWOOD 20 £ 670.60 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21858410 WHOLE COMMUNITY WORKS 67-69 HIGH STREET 20 £ 1,221.45 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21889338 TG YMCA LTD THE ROUND HOUSE 20 £ 5,834.09 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

£ 49,834.79

PROJECTED DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF FOR 2017/2018 NUMBER AMOUNT
(EXISTING RECIPIENTS)

Total recommended 46 £ 49,834.79

Total not recommended 0 £ -





APPENDIX B

PROPERTY ELIGIBLE
FOR RATE RELIEF

TYPE OF
RELIEF

AMOUNT
OF RELIEF

Property wholly or 
mainly used for 
charitable purposes 
which is occupied by a 
Registered, Excepted or 
Exempt Charity

Mandatory charitable

Discretionary charitable

80%

Up to a further 20%

Property, all or part of 
which is occupied for 
the non-profit making:-

a) Institution or 
other 
organisation 
whose main 
objectives are 
philanthropic or 
religious or 
concerned with 
education, 
social welfare, 
science, 
literature or the 
fine arts or;

b) Club, society or 
other 
organisation 
and is used for 
the purposes of 
recreation.

Discretionary non-profit 
making

Up to 100%

Property, all or part of 
which is occupied, other 
than as a trustee, by a 
charging or precepting 
authority.

None None



APPENDIX B

PROPERTY ELIGIBLE
FOR RATE RELIEF

TYPE OF
RELIEF

AMOUNT
OF RELIEF

Property (having a 
rateable value between 
£8,501 and £16,500) 
which is in a designated 
rural settlement and 
which is a Post Office or 
General Store or is of 
benefit to the local 
community.

Discretionary rural Up to
100%

Eligible properties with 
a rateable value of 
£12,000 or less

Eligible properties with 
rateable values 
between £12,001 and 
£14,999

    

    
Eligible properties  with 
rateable values 
between £15000 and 
£51,000

Mandatory small business 100% plus bill calculated 
using small business rate 
multiplier 

0% - 100% 

decreasing on a sliding 
scale plus bill calculated 
using small business rate 
multiplier

0% but bill calculated 
using small business rate 
multiplier

Any other business 
premises

Discretionary Up to 100% provided the 
award is considered 

reasonable having regard 
to the interests of council 

tax payers



APPENDIX B

RURAL RATE RELIEF

Designated Rural Areas/Rural Settlements

Bean
/Bean

Darenth
/Darenth
/Green Street Green
/Lane End

Longfield
/Longfield
/Longfield Hill

Southfleet
/Betsham
/Southfleet including Red Street Manor Farm
/Westwood

Sutton-at-Hone & Hawley
/Hawley
/Keith Avenue (Old Rectory Estate)
/Royal Road
/Kings Georges Playing Field,
/Hawley Road
/Sutton-at-Hone

Wilmington
/Heathside
/Oakfield Lane, Parsons Lane
/Wilmington





APPENDIX C

Criteria for Granting Discretionary Rate Relief

1. Education Establishments

1.1 Schools which are registered as 
Charitable Institutions and occupied by 
that charity.

1.2 Schools which are registered as 
Charitable Institutions and occupied by 
that charity, and are for children with 
special needs.

Eligible for
80% 

Mandatory
Relief

Yes

Yes

Level of
Discretionary
Relief to be

Granted

None

20%

2. Scout & Guide Organisations

Groups which are registered as Charitable 
Institutions and occupied by that charity. Yes 20%

3. Charity Shops

Organisations which are registered as 
Charitable Institutions and occupied by that 
charity.

Yes None

4. Philanthropic Groups

4.1 Groups which are registered as 
Charitable Institutions which provide 
services to the Local Community e.g. 
RSPCA, Salvation Army, Red Cross.

4.2 Groups which are registered as 
Charitable Institutions which do not 
provide widely available services to the 
Local Community.

4.3 Groups which are not registered as 
Charitable Organisations but provide 
services to the Local Community.

Yes

Yes

No

20%

None

40%



APPENDIX C

5. Sports Clubs

5.1 Clubs where Membership is closed e.g. 
to employees of a certain Company.

5.2 Clubs where Membership is restricted by 
the level of fees or subscription.

5.3 Clubs which are not conducted for profit 
and have open access/Membership.

5.4 Clubs that are charities and have
open access/Membership regardless
of levels of skills viz:-

 The promotion of community 
participation in healthy recreation 
by the provision of facilities for the 
playing of particular sports; and

 The advancement of the physical 
education of young 
people not undergoing formal 
education.

N.B.   The sport concerned must be one 
that is capable of improving health or 
fitness.

Eligible for
80% 

Mandatory
Relief

No

No

No

Yes

Level of
Discretionary
Relief to be

Granted

None

None

40%

None

6. Social/Welfare Clubs

6.1 Village Halls/Community Centres which 
are registered as Charitable Institutions 
which are not conducted for profit.

6.2 Village Halls which are not registered as 
Charitable Institutions which are not 
conducted for profit.

6.3 Welfare organisations which are 
registered as Charitable Institutions.

6.4 Social Clubs which are registered as 
Charitable Institutions.

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

 

20%

100%

None

None



APPENDIX C

6.5 Social or Welfare Clubs which are not 
registered as Charitable Organisations 
which are not conducted for profit and 
which are for public benefit.

No 40%

7. Village Shops

7.1 The only Post Office having a rateable 
value of £8,500 or less in a qualifying 
rural settlement comprising less than 
3,000 people.

7.2 The only General Store (if such a trade is 
not carried on in any other hereditament 
or part of a hereditament), having a 
rateable value of £8,500 or less in a 
settlement comprising less than 3,000 
people in a rural settlement.

7.3 A business having a rateable value of 
£16,500 or less in a settlement 
comprising less than 3,000 people in a 
rural area; which is the only business in a 
settlement, provides some or all of the 
services of a Post Office or General 
Store and is essential to the community.

7.4 The only Public House or Petrol Filling 
Station having a rateable value of 
£12,500 or less in a rural settlement 
comprising less than 3,000 people.

7.5 A store, (having a rateable value of 
£8,500 or less in a qualifying rural 
settlement comprising less than 3,000 
people) which is wholly or mainly 
involved in the retail sale of food for 
human consumption.  This would exclude 
confectionery and

(a) any supply of food for
consumption on the
premises on which it is
supplied: and

Eligible for
50% 

Mandatory
Relief

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Level of
Discretionary
Relief to be

Granted

50%

50%

Up to 100%

50%

50%



APPENDIX C

(b) any supply of hot food for
consumption off those
premises;

and for the purposes of the paragraph 
above hot food” means food which, or
any part of which has been heated for
the purposes of enabling it to be 
consumed at a temperature above the 
ambient air temperature;



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

WRITE-OFF OF NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES

1. Summary

1.1 To consider writing-off Non Domestic Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because of insolvency, because the 
ratepayer cannot be traced or where the debt is otherwise 
irrecoverable.

2. RECOMMENDATION

1.2 That the sums shown on Appendix A in the confidential part of the 
report, amounting to £123,044.38 be written off as uncollectible. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. In each of the cases shown in Appendix A, efforts to collect the 
charges raised, have been made but the debts are considered 
irrecoverable for the reasons set out in this report.

3.2. The normal stages of recovery referred to in subsequent paragraphs 
are the issue of bills, reminders, final notices and the application for a 
liability order.  Thereafter, a case may be subject to further action 
which can include the instruction of bailiffs, the commencement of 
insolvency proceedings or an application for a warrant of commitment 
to prison.

3.3. Where a case has been recommended for write-off because there 
appears to be little or no prospect of a dividend to unsecured 
creditors, should such a dividend subsequently be paid, the amount 
of the dividend will be written on to reduce the sums written off as bad 
debt.

3.4. Where a case has been recommended for write-off because the 
ratepayer has gone away and all attempts to trace have proven 
unsuccessful, should their whereabouts subsequently become 
known, the debt will be re-instated.
   

Case 1

3.5. The ratepayer was made liable on 10 March 2016, effective from 2 
March 2016, following information from the landlord.

3.6. The ratepayer was taken through all the normal stages of recovery 
culminating in the granting of a liability order on 25 May 2016.

3.7. Contact was made on 5 May 2016 advising that the company was 
insolvent and that payment could not be made.



CABINET
 26 JANUARY 2017

3.8. The case was passed to the enforcement agents on 29 June 2016 
but they were unable to collect and returned the liability order on 1 
August 2016.

3.9. Recovery action had to cease when the company was dissolved on 6 
September 2016.

Case 2

3.10. The ratepayer was made liable on 27 November 2015, effective from 
20 October 2015, following information from the landlord.

3.11. The ratepayer was taken through all the normal stages of recovery 
culminating in the granting of a liability order on 30 March 2016.

3.12. Contact was made on 15 March 2016 advising that the company was 
insolvent and that payment could not be made.

3.13. The case was passed to the enforcement agents on 20 April 2016 but 
they were unable to collect and returned the liability order on 13 June 
2016.

3.14. Recovery action had to cease when the company was dissolved on 6 
September 2016.

Case 3

3.15. The rates were being regularly paid by Direct Debit until 27 June 
2016 when the ratepayer’s bank advised that the instruction had been 
cancelled.  Payment continued by cash until 6 September 2016.  

3.16. When payment was not made for the October instalment the 
ratepayer was issued with a reminder and subsequently a summons.

3.17. Recovery had to cease when the company was placed into 
administration on 1 November 2016.

3.18. A claim has been submitted to the administrators but any dividend to 
unsecured creditors is likely to be minimal.  The debt is therefore 
submitted for write-off.

Case 4

3.19. The ratepayer was made liable on 19 April 2013, effective from 1 
March 2013, following information from the landlord.

3.20. The ratepayer was taken through all the normal stages of recovery 
culminating in the granting of liability orders on 26 November 2013 
and 22 May 2014.



CABINET
 26 JANUARY 2017

3.21. Arrangements for payment were made but not adhered to and both 
liability orders were passed to enforcement agents on 30 January 
2014 and 13 August 2014 respectively.

3.22. The enforcement agents were successful in collecting the debt for 
2013/2014 but returned the case for 2014/15 on 20 March 2015 
having only been able to collect £2,783.00 towards the balance.

3.23. The ratepayer had vacated the premises on 1 September 2014 and 
all attempts to trace proved unsuccessful.  

3.24. Companies House records from July 2015 indicated the intention to 
strike the company off for non-compliance.  Recovery had to cease 
when the company was dissolved on 27 September 2016.

Case 5

3.25. The ratepayer was made liable on 19 April 2013, effective from 1 
March 2013, following information from the landlord.

3.26. The ratepayer was taken through all the normal stages of recovery 
culminating in the granting of liability orders on 24 November 2013, 
22 May 2014, 24 September 2015, 30 March 2016 and 25 May 2016.

3.27. Arrangements for payment were made but not adhered to and 
enforcement agents were only able to collect the debt for 2013/2014.

3.28. A visit to the premises indicated that the company had ceased trading 
from the unit.  The landlords confirmed that the company had 
absconded but still held the lease on the unit and all subsequent 
attempts to trace proved unsuccessful.

3.29. Companies House records from July 2015 indicated the intention to 
strike the company off for non-compliance.  Recovery had to cease 
when the company was dissolved on 27 September 2016.

Case 6

3.30. The ratepayer was made liable on 20 October 2014, effective from 29 
September 2014, following information from the landlord.

3.31. The ratepayer was taken through all the normal stages of recovery 
culminating in the granting of liability orders on 30 December 2014 
and 2 September 2015.

3.32. The landlord advised that the ratepayer’s tenancy ended on 31 
January 2015 and they had vacated leaving no forwarding address.

3.33. All attempts to trace the ratepayer have proven unsuccessful.  The 
company is shown as dormant on Companies House records and is 
not believed to be trading elsewhere.



CABINET
 26 JANUARY 2017

3.34. The debt is therefore submitted for write-off on the basis that there is 
no realistic prospect of recovery.

Case 7

3.35. The ratepayer was made liable on 21 August 2016, with effect from 7 
April 2016, following provision of his tenancy agreement.

3.36. The ratepayer was taken through all the normal stages of recovery 
culminating in the granting of liability orders on 18 November 2015 
and 25 May 2016.

3.37. The ratepayer attended Court on 18 November 2015 and a weekly 
payment arrangement was proposed to clear the debt by the end of 
the financial year.

3.38. When no payments were made the case was passed to enforcement 
agents but they were unable to make contact with the ratepayer.

3.39. Enquiries revealed that there was a new tenant from 4 May 2016 and 
attempts to recover the debt continued until 26 August 2016 when a 
proposal for an Individual Voluntary Arrangement was submitted.

3.40. The Individual Voluntary Arrangement was approved on 12 
September 2016 and if successful will yield a maximum return on 
20.73p in the £.

3.41. In the interim the debt is submitted for write-off as no further action 
can be taken pending the declaration and payment of any dividend.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications Under the Business Rate Retention rules the 
cost of writing off uncollectible debt is shared 
between Central Government, Dartford Borough 
Council, Kent County Council and Kent & 
Medway Fire and Rescue Authority. 

As such, the potential cost to Dartford Borough 
Council will be £49,217.75 this being 40% of the 
total debt recommended for write-off. 

A provision is set aside for this purpose.
Legal Implications As set out in the body of the report
Staffing Implications None



CABINET
 26 JANUARY 2017

Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Appendices

Appendix A Non-Domestic Rate debts submitted for write-off.  

This appendix has been placed on the closed part of the agenda because it 
relates to exempt information within the category contained in Standing Order 
46(1) (b) Annex 1, namely paragraph 3 information relating to the financial 
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding the 
information) and in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in not 
disclosing the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

NNDR 
Write-off 
papers

Various Sue Cressall
01732 227041

Revenues Appendix A 
SO46 (1) (b) 
Annex 1 Para. 3





CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

HOUSING BENEFIT OVERPAYMENT WRITE-OFF

1. Summary

1.1 To consider the write-off of a Housing Benefit overpayment where 
recovery is prohibited, is not considered appropriate or where the 
customer has absconded.

2. RECOMMENDATION

1.2 That the sum of £17,864.60, shown in Appendix A, on the closed part 
of the agenda, be written off as irrecoverable. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. In all the cases shown in Appendix A, on the closed part of the 
agenda, the person affected was issued with a notification that an 
overpayment of Housing Benefit had occurred and that recovery 
would be sought from them.

3.2. A brief summary of each case is shown in the following paragraphs 
with details of how each overpayment arose, the actions taken and 
the reasons for recommending write-off.  

3.3. In cases where the debt is submitted for write-off because the 
customer has absconded, should they subsequently be traced, the 
debt will be written back on.

3.4. In cases where the debt is submitted for write-off due to insolvency 
proceedings, should dividends be received the corresponding 
amounts will be written back on.

3.5. In all cases, should recovery from ongoing Housing Benefit become a 
viable option, the debts will be written back on and pursued.

Case 1

3.6. The customer’s case was investigated following a data-matching 
referral which indicated that his Jobseekers’ Allowance had ended on 
4 March 2007 because he had started work.

3.7. As a result of the investigation a debt in the total sum of £6,825.00 
was raised on 1 July 2009 covering the period 5 March 2007 to 9 
March 2009.

3.8. Reminders were issued on 9 separate occasions in an attempt to 
secure a payment arrangement.



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

3.9. Deductions were made from welfare benefits in 2010 totalling £49.50 
but had to cease when the customer absconded.

3.10. When no arrangement could be made the debt was referred to two 
different debt collection agencies without success.

3.11. A direct earnings attachment order was attempted as a last resort and 
a single payment of £31.14 was received before the customer left the 
company.  

3.12. Despite further checks it has not been possible to trace the customer 
and all means of recovery have been exhausted.  The debt is 
therefore submitted for write-off.

Case 2

3.13. Following an investigation into the customer’s household 
circumstances, the first debt amounting to £17,940.00 was raised on 
9 August 2004 and covered the period 4 June 2001 to 21 June 2004.   

3.14. The customer made an arrangement for payment on 23 September 
2004 at the rate of £50.00 per month.  Cash payments were made at 
periodic intervals until January 2008 when deductions from ongoing 
Housing Benefit commenced.

3.15. When entitlement to Housing Benefit ceased on 22 September 2014 
the outstanding balance had been reduced to £10,511.12. 

3.16. A second overpayment of £508.92 was raised on 28 November 2008 
covering the period 15 September 2008 to 13 October 2008.  This 
arose because the customer’s income support had ended and 
evidence of partner’s wages had not been supplied.  

3.17. £330.44 was recovered from ongoing Housing Benefit leaving 
£178.48 still outstanding.

3.18. A third overpayment of £3,158.54 was raised on 21 August 2009 
covering the period 9 March 2009 to 24 August 2009.  This arose due 
to a change in rent.   

3.19. £2,727.90 was recovered from ongoing Housing Benefit leaving 
£430.64 outstanding.

3.20. All three remaining balances totalling £11,120.24 have been through 
the full recovery process including reminders and referral to collection 
agencies.  Attempts to ascertain employment details have been 
unsuccessful.

3.21. There are no remaining options for recovery unless the customer re-
claims Housing Benefit.



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

3.22. The debt is therefore submitted for write-off as all means have been 
exhausted.  

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications Writing off overpayments from previous years will 
have no subsidy implications, as entitlement will 
already have been calculated and awarded at a 
reduced rate.

Provision exists within the Council’s accounts to 
meet the costs of the write-off.

Legal Implications There is no obligation on the Council to attempt to 
recover all recoverable overpayments. The 
decision whether or not to recover is discretionary 
both on the part of the Council and the Tribunals 
Service.

Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Appendices

Appendix A - Housing Benefit overpayments submitted for write-off

This appendix has been placed on the closed part of the agenda because it 
relates to exempt information within the category contained in Standing Order 
46(1) (b) Annex 1, paragraphs 1 & 3, namely,  information relating to an 
individual or information relating to the financial business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding the information) and in all the 
circumstances of the case, the public interest in not disclosing the information 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Benefits
Write-off 
papers

Various Sue Cressall
01732 227041

Revenues
Strategic

Appendix A 
SO46 (1) (b) 
Annex 1 
Paragraphs 1 & 
3





CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

APPOINTMENT OF 4th INDEPENDENT MEMBER TO THE DEED, 
TRUST AND OBLIGATIONS COMMITTEE 

1. Summary

1.1 To inform the Cabinet of the outcome of the interviews for the appointment of a 
4th Independent Member to the Deed, Trust and Obligations Committee to 
replace Mrs Elissia Evans, and to seek approval to the appointment of Mr A. R. 
Martin as detailed in the report.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1  That the appointment of a 4th Independent Member (voting co-optee) to the Deed, 
Trust and Obligations Committee recommended by the interview panel held on 4 
January 2017, be approved, for an initial period of one year and subsequently 
confirmed annually at the Annual Meeting.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 On 16 February 2010, the Charity Tribunal issued a Further Decision 
and Final Order and Scheme, for the governance of the Kidd Legacy 
(being part of Central Park, Dartford).  The Deed Trust and Obligations 
Committee (DTOC) at its meeting on 21 April 2010 [Min.No. 21 refers] 
resolved to appoint independent (voting co-optees) (the Independent 
Members) to the Committee in accordance with the Tribunal’s decision. 

3.2 The subsequent appointment of Mrs Elissia Evans as Independent 
Member on the Committee in October 2014 ceased to be effective in 
August 2016, by reason of lack of attendance at meetings, for a period of 
6 consecutive months. 

3.3 During the late summer and autumn of 2016, the Council twice 
advertised to seek a replacement candidate to serve as a 4th 
Independent Member on the DTOC. In late December 2016, completed 
application forms were finally secured from three (3) candidates. 

3.4 On 4 January 2017, all three applications were considered by a panel 
comprising DTOC members as agreed by the Committee on 18 October 
2016 [Min. No. 29 refers] plus the Vice-Chairman of DTOC. The panel 
agreed unanimously to recommend the appointment of Mr A. R. Martin 
as a new 4th Independent Member to the Committee. It should be noted 
that Mr A. R. Martin is not related to the previous Chairman of the 
Committee and Deputy Leader of the Council, former Councillor A. R. 
Martin.



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

3.5 The DTOC reports to Cabinet. As such, Cabinet is recommended to 
approve the interviewing panel’s recommendation to appoint Mr A. R. 
Martin as the 4th Independent Person on the DTOC.

4. Relationship to the Object(s) of the Trust

The appointment of Independents will help meet the desire for robust 
governance of the charities and meet the requirements of the Charity 
Commission.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications for 
the Charity

None

Legal Implications for the 
Charity

The Cabinet is required to have regard to the 
Charity Tribunal’s ruling on the appointment 
of Independent Members 

Risk Implications for the 
Charity

None as a result of this report

6. Appendices

None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

DTOC Selection 
Panel papers of 4 
January 2017

January 
2017

Member Services 
(01322) 343430

Member 
Services/
Internal Services

N/A



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

STREET  NAMING & NUMBERING – NORTHFLEET WEST SUB 
STATION – PHASE 1C

Swanscombe

1. Summary

To approve two new road names for Phase 1C of the development at the 
former Northfleet West Sub Station site.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That the two new road names of Mortimer and Talbot be approved for Phase 
1C of the Northfleet West Sub Station site.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. This is a further phase of the former Northfleet Sub Station site 
development.  It consists of four apartment blocks, two commercial 
units and one office building.  The proposed names are linked to the 
Parish in which the site is situated, in line with Phase 1 of the 
development.

3.2. The proposed names were submitted for consultation with a plan (as 
shown in Appendix A) to Members, Emergency Services, Royal Mail, 
the Parish Council and the Developer on December 2nd 2016.  The 
names comply with the Council’s policy on Street Naming.

3.3. Councillors Coleman, Lloyd and Mrs Allen have no objections to the 
names.  Neither do Royal Mail or Kent Police.

3.4. There were no other responses.

3.5. The Developer requires the name as soon as possible to ensure that 
the utilities are connected. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications It is open to the developer to object in the 
Magistrates’ Court to a street naming.  If the 
developer’s suggested names are in accord with 
Council Policy, it is likely that the Magistrates will 
rule in favour of the developer.

Staffing Implications None



CABINET
26 JANUARY 2017

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment No uncertainties

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Northfleet West Substation Phase 1C Map

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
Consulted

Date / 
File Ref

Report 
Author

Section and 
Directorate

Exempt 
Information 
Category

Street Naming and 
Numbering Guidance

Dec 2013 Samantha 
Eastwood

Property Information 
(Internal Services)

N/A



@ A4° 1:2,750

H:
\M

ap
s &

 P
lan

s\M
ap

s b
efo

re 
PD

F'i
ng

\N
or

thf
lee

t_W
es

t_S
S_

Ph
as

e_
1C

.m
xd

Ma
p P

rod
uc

ed
 B

y: 
se

as
tw

oo
d O

n: 
02

/12
/20

16
 11

:44
 A

M

Northfleet West Substation Phase 1C

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2016
Unauthorised reproduction 
Infringes Crown Copyright and 
May lead to prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2016

APPENDIX A












	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 8 December 2016
	7 Dartford Town Centre Transport and Public Realm Improvements
	Town Centre Transport Improvements APPENDIX A
	Town Centre Transport Improvements APPENDIX B (redacted)

	8 Consultation on Ebbsfleet Implementation Framework
	9 Consultation on the Government's Proposal to Create a Social Housing Regulator as an Independent Body
	Social Housing Regulator Consultation APPENDIX A

	10 Funding for Supported Housing - Consultation
	Supported Housing Consultation APPENDIX A

	11 Proposal for Public Spaces Protection Order
	Public Space Protection Order APPENDIX A
	Public Space Protection Order APPENDIX B
	Public Space Protection Order APPENDIX C
	Public Space Protection Order APPENDIX D

	12 Dartford Borough Council Code of Corporate Governance 2017
	Code of Corporate Governance APPENDIX A

	13 Draft Local Lettings Plan for Hill View
	Lettings Plan APPENDIX A

	14 Calendar of Meetings of the General Assembly of the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Boards
	Dates APPENDIX A
	Dates APPENDIX B
	Dates APPENDIX C

	15 National Non-Domestic Discretionary Rate Relief 2017/18
	NNDDRR APPENDIX A
	NNDDRR APPENDIX B
	NNDDRR APPENDIX C

	16 Write-off of National Non-Domestic Rates
	17 Housing Benefit Overpayment Write-off
	18 Appointment of 4th Independent Member to the Deed, Trust and Obligations Committee
	19 Street Naming and Numbering - Northfleet West Sub Station - Phase 1C
	Street Naming APPENDIX A

	A Write-off of National Non-Domestic Rates - Exempt Appendix A<br/>(Exempt Category SO 46 (1) (b) Annex 1 Paragraph 3)
	B Housing Benefit Overpayment Write-off - Exempt Appendix A<br/>(Exempt Category SO 46 (1) (b) Annex 1 Paragraphs 1 & 3)



